Alma Mater Studiorum – Università di Bologna

DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN

# Biologia Cellulare e Molecolare

Ciclo XXVIII

Settore Concorsuale di afferenza: 06/ A2

Settore Scientifico disciplinare: MED/ 04

# From Drosophila to humans: Myc-mediated clone competition as an evolutionary trait of tumour progression

Presentata da: Simone Di Giacomo

Coordinatore Dottorato Prof. Giovanni Capranico Relatore Prof.ssa Annalisa Pession

Correlatore Dott.ssa Daniela Grifoni

Esame finale anno 2016

# Abstract

Cell competition is a phenomenon first reported in *Drosophila melanogaster*, proven to exist also in mammals. It describes the result of a mechanism of fitness comparison undertaken by cells inhabiting the same tissue, that leads to the elimination of the weakest cells and, in the physiology, to the formation of a homogeneous organ. Over the years, many molecules have been identified that are involved in cell competition and among them MYC oncoprotein: from *Drosophila* to mammals, cell populations characterised by higher expression of MYC induce apoptotic death of the neighbours, allowing the fittest to acquire an advantage in space occupancy.

MYC-mediated cell competition has been found to be at work with a dual role in *Drosophila* epithelial tumours: it seems indeed to play tumour suppressive functions at cancer onset and to support cancer growth in frankly malignant masses. Clear evidence about its occurrence in human cancers is however still missing and, above all, nothing is known about a possible role for cell competition in cancer evolution.

My work defined the presence of markers of MYC-mediated cell competition in primary and secondary human carcinomas and demonstrated through experiments in human cancer cell lines that MYC modulation is *per se* sufficient to induce competitive behaviours in both genetically distant and identical cells. Noteworthy, MYC under-regulation in the fittest cell line is sufficient to undermine its competitive *status*, suggesting a role for MYC-mediated cell competition in the selective growth of tumour clones and, as a consequence, in cancer evolution. In addition, I was able to demonstrate a functional cooperation between MYC and p53 in this phenomenon.

The data obtained in the *Drosophila* model, where MYC over-expressing and MYC knock-down clones have been induced within a growing tumour, suggest that MYC-mediated cell competition is normally at work in these malignant cells, and it shapes cancer evolution through the elimination of the less fit cells (with lower levels of MYC) and the expansion of the most performant ones (with higher levels of MYC), demonstrating an evolutionary role played in defining the composition and the size of the final mass.

Altogether, my results show that MYC-mediated cell competition plays a role in the selection of the most performant cells within the tumour and represents an important step towards the understanding of the evolutionary mechanisms underlying tumourigenesis, defining for the first time the amazing contribution of cell competition to tumour progression.

# **Contents**

1.	INTRODUCTION	1
	1.1. THE HALLMARKS OF CANCER	5
	1.2. CANCER EVOLUTION	12
	1.2.1. Clonal Evolution	13
	1.2.1.1. Sub-clonal Segregation of Mutations and Clonal Architecture	15
	1.2.2. Cancer Cell Plasticity	16
	1.3. EPIGENETICS AND CANCER	18
	1.4. MODELLING CANCER IN DROSOPHILA	20
	1.4.1. Lethal giant larvae is a TSG	21
	1.4.2. Lethal giant larvae and Cell Polarity	21
	1.4.3. Lethal giant larvae and Tumourigenesis	24
	1.4.4. Mammalian Lgl-1 and Lgl-2	27
	1.5. CELL COMPETITION	27
	1.5.1. Phases of Cell Competition	29
	1.5.2. Mechanics of Cell Competition	30
	1.5.3. MYC/dMyc Oncoprotein	32
	1.5.4. MYC-Mediated Cell Competition (MMCC)	36
	1.5.5. Factors Involved in Cell Competition	38
	1.5.6. The Hippo Pathway and Cell Competition	39
	1.5.7. MMCC in Mammals	40
	1.5.8. Cell Competition and Cancer	41
	1.6. p53 PROTEIN FAMILY	43
	1.6.1. The Physiological Functions of p53	44
	1.6.2. p53 as a Tumour Suppressor	45
	1.6.3. p53 and the "Gain of Function" Hypothesis	46
	1.6.4. p53 and Cell Competition	47
	The Aim of the Study	49
2.	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	51
	Part 1	51
	2.1. Definition of an Essential Signature of MYC-Mediated Cell Competition	01
	in Human Epithelial Cancers	53
	2.2. Clone Competition - MMCC Within the Cancer Mass	56
	2.3. An in Vitro Model to Study MMCC in Genetically Distant Cells	58
	2.4. An in Vitro Model to Study MMCC in Genetically Identical Cells	61
	2.5. An in Vivo Model to study MMCC in Cancer	65
	2.5.1. Induction of MMCC in Genetically Distant Cells: the 6+2 scheme	66
	2.5.2. Induction of MMCC in Genetically Related Cells: the 2+6 Scheme	76
	Part 2	79
	The Premise of the Study	81
	The Aim of the study	81
	2.6. MMCC in Human Carcinomas Seems to be Associated with p53 Protein Status	82
	2.7. The Winner Status of Cancer Cells Requires p53 Function	83
	2.8. Differences in p53 Status do not Drive CC in Cancer Cells	87
	2.9. Back to Drosophila: in Vivo CCA in a Cooperative Model of Carcinogenesis	89

3.	CONCLUSIONS	95
<i>4</i> .	MATERIALS AND METHODS	101
	4.1. Ex Vivo and In Vitro Materals and Methods- Parts 1 and 2	103
	4.2. In Vivo Materials and Methods	111
	4.2.1. Drosophila Methods Used In Part 1	112
	4.2.2. Drosophila Methods Used In Part 2	116
5.	SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION	119
6.	BIBLIOGRAPHY	127

Chapter 1 Introduction The evolutionary transition from the unicellular to a multicellular organisation led the organisms to acquire several benefits coming from increased complexity, functional specialisation of cells and increased size. Many requirements for multicellular organisation, such as cell adhesion, cell-cell communication and coordination and programmed cell death (PCD), have been developed in time and finely tuned through regulatory circuits. Multicellularity is characterised by cooperation among cells for the development, maintenance and reproduction of the organism. Complex multicellularity and cooperation underlying it have evolved independently multiple times [1].

Cells are carefully programmed to collaborate in the creation and maintenance of the diverse tissues, that make possible organism survival.

The maintenance of complexity depends on a multitude of strategies and involves wound repair and replacement of cells that have suffered attrition after extended periods of life. Breakdown of this equilibrium can lead cells to escape from developmental constraints, resulting in uncontrolled proliferation and altered behaviour [2].

Such changes make the cells incompatible with the assigned roles in structure and physiology, as cells no longer obey the rules that drive normal tissue construction and maintenance, and undergo various diseases, among which cancer.

Despite the extraordinary safeguard mechanisms adopted by the organism to prevent their appearance, cancer cells seem to have just one aim: making copies of themselves [3].

Cancer figures among the leading causes of morbidity and mortality worldwide (second in 2013), with approximately 14.1 million new cases and 8.1 million cancer-related deaths reported in the World Cancer Report 2014. The number of new cases is expected to rise over the next two decades.

Among men, the 5 most common sites of cancer incidence site reported in 2014 were lung, prostate, colorectum, stomach and liver; among women the 5 most common sites were breast, colorectum, cervix, lung, and stomach [4].

The heterogeneity and complexity of cancer led to the accepted notion that it represents a large group of different diseases involving dynamic changes in the genome.

It is now widely accepted that it results from the clonal accumulation and cooperation of various genetic and epigenetic lesions causing the progressive transformation of normal somatic cells into malignant derivatives which can grow, invade and migrate uncontrollably.

Two general classes of genes are typically affected in cancer cells: oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes (TSGs).

The first are aberrantly activated and represent dominant gain of function (GOF) mutations of genes (proto-oncogenes) generally involved in growth and division promotion and protection against PCD.

TSGs are inactivated in cancer cells, resulting in loss of normal cellular functions such as accurate DNA damage repair, control over the cell cycle, cell polarity and adhesion within tissues [3].

Tumour is a cell disease, and all tissues are composed of cells and cell products, so virtually cancer can arise in any tissue, but those of epithelial origin, called carcinomas, are the most frequent form, representing about 90% of all human malignant tumours. These tumours are responsible for more than 80% of the cancer-related deaths in the western world.

Moreover, tumours are capable to move within the human body: in many patients, multiple secondary tumours are discovered even distant from the primary site as a consequence of the tendency of cancer cells to spread throughout the body and establish new malignant colonies.

The first carcinogenic events generally lead to local hyperplasia with possible consequent formation of metaplasia and dysplasia. From this stage the lesion can evolve in an *in situ* carcinoma, which already exhibits strong alterations in cell physiology and behaviour, such as loss of differentiation, loss of apical-basal cell polarity and loss of tissue organisation, but the lesion is still confined within a specialised type of extracellular matrix (ECM), the basement membrane (or basal lamina), an acellular sheet that separates epithelial cells from the underlying layer of supporting connective tissue, the stroma.

At this stage, tumour-induced angiogenesis can also be observed, with neo-vascularisation of the neoplastic mass.

Finally, the tumour becomes invasive when basement membrane degradation occurs and cells disseminate to the neighbouring tissues. These cells can eventually intravasate into lymph or blood vessels, allowing their passive transport to distant organs.

At secondary sites, carcinoma cells can extravasate seeding micrometastases that in some cases will form secondary lesions, the final step of this sequence of events often termed invasion-metastasis cascade [3].



Figure 1.1: Epithelial tumour progression and evolution [5].

#### 1.1. THE HALLMARKS OF CANCER

Cancer research has generated a rich body of evidence, revealing carcinogenesis as a multistep process, in which each step enables the cell to collect genetic alterations that, at the end, drive the transformation of normal human cells into malignant derivatives.

The number of cancer-associated genes identified has surpassed the original prediction of the gene mutation theory, according to which only a limited number of key cancer genes was thought to be responsible for cancer onset. In order to categorise all cancer-related mechanisms, to understand the common biological basis for the huge number of gene mutations involved and to reconcile the differences between theoretical prediction and clinical fact, various biological capabilities and enabling characteristics of cancer, shown to facilitate tumour growth and metastasis, have been summarised in eight hallmarks [6].

As tumour development proceeds *via* a process formally analogous to Darwinian evolution [7], the succession of genetic changes, eventually conferring some advantages, leads to the progressive conversion of normal human cells into cancer cells.

There are more than 100 distinct types of cancers and several subtypes of tumours can be found within specific organs. But, despite this remarkable diversity, it is possible to identify essential physiologic alterations acquired by cells in order to progress towards malignancy [8].

Hanahan and Weinberg proposed eight common traits of cancer, also known as the hallmarks of cancer: sustaining proliferative signals, evading growth suppressors, resisting

cell death, enabling replicative immortality, inducing angiogenesis and activating invasion and metastasis [8].

The hallmarks of cancer, shared by most human tumours, constitute an organising principle that provides a logical framework for understanding the remarkable diversity of neoplastic diseases.



Figure 1.2: The six Hallmarks of cancer [8] proposed by Hanahan and Weinberg in 2000.

# Self-Sufficiency in Growth Signals

The main feature of cancer is abnormal proliferation. No type of normal cells can proliferate without mitogenic growth signals (GS) transmitted by transmembrane receptors, allowing cells to move from a quiescent state into an active proliferation state characterised by stimulating growth, cell cycle entry and cell division.

Tumour cells generate many of their own growth signals, by reducing dependence from their normal tissue microenvironment. In fact, many cancer cells can acquire the ability to synthesise growth factors to which they are responsive, creating a positive feedback signalling loop often termed autocrine stimulation [9]. Cancer cells become independent through constitutive activation of components involved in proliferation, followed by oncogene deregulation. This is probably best exemplified by the Ras/MAPK (Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase) signalling cascade, as activating mutations of its members are found in a significant percentage of human cancers: as an example, RAS proteins are present in structurally altered forms, which in turn activate mitogenic proteins, such as MYC [10].

Of note, growth deregulation is carried out by both cancer cells and normal tissue surrounding the tumour mass [8] [9].

#### **Insensitivity to Anti-Growth Signals**

Tissue homeostasis is also maintained by powerful anti-proliferative programmes that cancer cells need to modify for proliferation to occur.

Anti-proliferative signals include either soluble growth inhibitors and immobilised inhibitors embedded in the extracellular matrix and on the surfaces of nearby cells.

Anti-growth signals block proliferation using two strategies: force cells to enter  $G_0$  phase or a post-mitotic state, usually associated with the acquisition of specific differentiationassociated traits. Relief of proliferation inhibition is generally obtained through a LOF of TSGs; inactivating mutations of these genes are a common feature of all tumours. Inhibition of terminal differentiation, allowing the cells to turn to a fully proliferative phenotype, is rather achieved through oncogene activation [8] [9].

#### **Evading Apoptosis**

Further to the over-expressed pro-growth proteins and the insensitivity to the anti-growth signals, the ability of the tumour cell population to expand is strongly determined by its capacity to evade PCD.

The apoptotic programme is present in latent forms in all cell types. Once activated by several physiologic signals as chemical and mechanical stresses, hyper-proliferation, elevated levels of oncogene signalling and DNA damage, PCD, composed by a series of steps, is achieved in a span of 30-120 minutes: cellular membranes are disrupted, the cytoplasmic and nuclear structures are broken, the cytosol is extruded, the chromosomes are degraded and the nucleus is fragmented, while the remaining cell corpse is engulfed by nearby cells and disappears within 24 hours.

The apoptotic machinery can be broadly divided into two classes of components: sensors, which recognise pro-apoptotic signals and induce the activation of effectors, which respond by releasing in the cytosol the mitochondrial cytochrome C, a potent catalyst of apoptosis.

The way most tumour cells use to evade apoptosis is based on the increased expression of anti-apoptotic proteins as Bcl-2, and the inactivation of pro-apoptotic genes through which p53 is a well-known example. The p53 tumour suppressor protein can enable apoptosis by

upregulating pro-apoptotic Bax in response to DNA damage, so stimulating mitochondria to release Cytochrome C [8] [9].

#### **Limitless Replicative Potential**

Although tumour cells can acquire autonomy from the growth signals, insensitivity to antigrowth signals and resistance to apoptosis, these features do not ensure expansive tumour growth. Almost all mammalian cells are able to undergo a limited number of growth and division cycles before irreversibly entering a non-proliferative status named senescence, as they have an intrinsic cell-autonomous programme that limits their multiplication. Work on cell cultures demonstrated a finite replicative potential, after which cells stop growing and undergo senescence [12]. Senescence can be circumvented in cultured human fibroblasts by disabling pRB and p53 tumour suppressor proteins, following which these cells enter a crisis state. The crisis output is characterised by massive cell death, karyotypic disarray associated with end-to-end chromosome fusions and (occasional) cellular immortalisation. Moreover, cell cycle seems to be linked to telomere ends. Each cell division, telomeres undergo progressive shortening until they reach a critical length at which proliferation stops.

Telomere maintenance is evident in all types of malignant cells [13]: in most of them the telomerase enzyme, a special DNA polymerase which adds hexa-nucleotide repeats onto the ends of telomeric DNA, is upregulated [8] [9].

#### **Sustained Angiogenesis**

Oxygen and nutrients are crucial for cell function and survival, obligating all cells to reside within a small distance from a capillary blood vessel. The development of new blood vessels - the process named angiogenesis - is transitory and carefully regulated.

Cells composing an aberrant proliferative lesion initially lack angiogenic abilities, curtailing their capability for expansion. To progress to a larger size, incipient neoplasia must develop angiogenic ability [8] [9].

There are positive and negative counterbalancing signals to regulate angiogenesis. The initiating signals are mediated by vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGF) and fibroblast growth factors (FGF1/2): first evidence about this was reached when anti-VEGF antibodies were used to block VEGF molecules during neovascularisation and growth of subcutaneous tumours in mice [8] [9].

Grifoni and colleagues have defined in *Drosophila*, where the oxygen is conveyed to the internal organs through an interconnected tubular network called "tracheal system", that the regulation is significantly analogue to that of mammalian angiogenesis: in an epithelial cancer model, *Drosophila* FGF/FGFR (FGF Receptor), encoded by the *branchless* (*bnl*) and *breathless* (*btl*) genes respectively, carry out the functions of VEGF/VEGFR in inducing angiogenesis [14].

#### **Tissue Invasion and Metastasis**

Invasion and metastasis are exceedingly complex processes, and their genetic and biochemical determinants remain not explained at all in their complexity.

During the development of most types of human cancer, primary tumour masses can spread invading adjacent tissues or distal sites, where they may form new colonies. Metastases are responsible for the 90% of cancer mortality. The invasive and metastatic process is a multistep mechanism. The process begins with local invasion of pioneer cells from the primary mass to the nearby surrounding tissues, followed by intravasation of cancer cells into blood or lymphatic vessels where they transit till they are stopped. Cancer cells can reach the parenchyma of a tissue (through a mechanism termed extravasation) followed by the formation of small micromasses, and if the microenvironment features are permissive, they may grow into a macroscopic tumour (colonisation).

To allow cell intravasation, it is important that the epithelial cells change their programmed information, acquiring the ability to invade, to resist apoptosis and to disseminate. This happens because cells develop a new regulatory programme, named the "epithelial-mesenchymal transition" (EMT).

The EMT programme can be transiently or stably activated by cancer cells during invasion and metastasis, orchestrated through a set of pleiotropically acting factors. Evidence from developmental genetics indicates that contextual signals received from neighbouring cells are involved in the activation of these factors. In the invasive and metastatic process, a crosstalk between cancer and stromal cells is involved. This observation indicates that the phenotype of high-grade malignancies do not arise in a strictly cell-autonomous manner, and their behaviour cannot be simply understood through tumour genome analysis.

Other two mechanisms of invasion have been identified: collective invasion, where cells migrate in clusters, and amoeboid invasion in which individual cells slide through existing interstices.

In some types of cancer, the primary tumour may release systemic suppressor factors that render such micro-metastases dormant, as revealed clinically by explosive metastatic growth. Other macroscopic metastases may erupt decades after a primary tumour has been removed.

Clinical evidence shows as individual types of carcinoma form metastases only in a limited subset of target organs, for a phenomenon called "tissue tropism" or "homing". The reasons for this selectivity are still not completely understood. Substantial progress is currently being made to define a metastatic signature of gene expression changes which correlate with the establishment of macroscopic metastases in specific tissues. This would also help clarify how metastasis-promoting genetic alterations are selected within the primary tumour: whether these mutations are also beneficial to primary growth and thus are fixed before cells start to disseminate, or whether they are stochastically accumulated as "passenger" mutations that only subsequently give an advantage before to be fixed. Alternatively, cells may leave the tumour in a partially metastatic-competent condition and further evolve once they experience the new environment-associated pressure. Indeed, an increasing body of evidence seems to point towards a parallel progression model for certain types of carcinomas, according to which mutant cells disseminate relatively early, from pre-neoplastic lesions, and undergo genetic diversification and selection within the distant target organs, thus showing a rather different genetic profile with respect to the primary tumour [8] [9].

#### **Enabling Characteristics**

When we talk about cancer we have always to consider the acquired functional capabilities that allow cancer cells to survive, proliferate and disseminate; these functions are made possible by enabling characteristics that drive cells to switch into a cancer state. Most prominent is the development of genomic instability, which can generate random mutations which allow cancer cells to acquire multiple hallmarks. In fact, despite the extraordinary capacity of the genome control systems used to solve DNA defects, during the first stages of tumourigenesis cancer cells increase their rate of mutation by increasing cell cycle speed.

Another important feature of cancer cells is the acquisition of an inflammatory state of preand malignant lesions, driven by the immune defense system, used to promote tumour progression.

In fact, evidence shows as tumours are densely infiltrated by cells of either innate and adaptive immune system. Paradoxically, the tumour-associated inflammatory response supplying enhances tumourigenesis by bio-active molecules to the tumour microenvironment, including growth factors that sustain proliferative signalling, survival factors that limit cell death, pro-angiogenic factors, extracellular matrix-modifying enzymes that facilitate angiogenesis, invasion and metastasis, inducing signals that lead to activation of EMT. The surrounding inflammation generates the conditions for the formation of a pre-cancerisation field, in which the future tumour cells switch to an active state [11].

#### **Emerging Characteristics**

A characteristic which plays an important role in cancer expansion and aggressivity is cancer cells' capacity to reprogramme metabolism. In fact, even in presence of oxygen, these cells switch to a less efficient glycolytic metabolism, the so-called Warburg effect. The glycolytic afflux can be regulated by oncogenes such as MYC and RAS (as well as a hypoxic condition). The significance of this is not fully understood, but an explanation can be found in the fact that these cells, following to fitness comparison with *wild-type* cells, may over-proliferate and colonise the great part of the tissue [15]. A second emerging hallmark in tumour formation involves mechanisms of immune evasion, as anti-tumour immunity creates a significant barrier to tumour formation and progression [11].



Figure 1.3: The Emerging Hallmarks and Enabling Characteristics [11] Hanahan and Weinberg added to their 2011 review: *Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation*.

#### **1.2. CANCER EVOLUTION**

Cancer can be considered as a reiterative process of clonal expansion characterised by genetic diversification and clonal selection within the adaptive landscapes of tissue ecosystems. The current molecular cancer research is based on the "gene mutation theory" based on the evidence that gene aberrations and stepwise gene mutations drive cancer progression. While the hallmarks of cancer have been influential as they provided a rationale for clinical approach in cancer research, cancer dynamics cannot be lonely summarised by isolated and fixed molecular principles [6], as neoplasms are microcosms of evolution [7]; in the same way, the laws that rule cancer mutations are highly mutant.

Within a neoplasm, a mosaic of mutant cells compete for space and resources, evade predation by the immune system and cooperate to colonise new organs.

The idea of cancer as an evolutionary disease is not new. A tumorous mass is a heterogenic population in terms of genetics and epigenetics, and obey the Darwinian evolutionary laws. Organism-level and gene-level evolution led to achieve general tumour-suppression mechanisms and oncogenic vulnerabilities in our genomes through several levels of selection: neutral and non-neutral mutations, genetic drift, epigenetics, natural and artificial selections, colonisation and dispersion [7]. Mutations modify cell fitness and affect cellular fate through genetic drift and Darwinian selection by which the tumour mass can survive and expand itself. Cell fitness is shaped by its interactions with cells and other factors in its microenvironment, as the reproductive power of species depends on the environment [7].

Various forms of mutation have a role in the neoplastic progression. Studies of heterogeneity in tumours show that there is extensive cytogenetic, genetic and epigenetic variability in cancer cell populations, and the degree of variability can predict progression towards malignancy.

Genetic instability generates genetic heterogeneity, and this point may be recognised as a hallmark of cancer. Each clone in each cancer in each patient has a unique genome profile [16]. Researchers have shown that the type of environmental insults selects against the checkpoints that they trigger, as cells that lose checkpoints can reproduce more quickly than non-mutated populations [17].

Mutation frequency studies and measurements in cell culture calculated the sequence mutation rate at  $10^{-6}$ - $10^{-7}$  per *locus* per cell generation [18]. The estimation of number of mutations necessary to cause cancer is about 3-12 mutations for different forms of cancer [19]. But a genetic mutation might not always affect cells, as most of them can be neutral

mutations, so the spontaneous rate of somatic mutation is not high enough to generate the many mutations needed for neoplastic expansion. To solve this paradox, also known as the Loeb paradox, two hypotheses have been proposed: a genetically unstable phenotype increasing mutation rate might arise, or clone expansion generates target populations large enough to produce the necessary subsequent mutations [20], both resulting in a big heterogeneity of clones and cancers. To explain this great heterogeneity, over the decades, researchers have developed several theories based on the consideration of the tumour as a living organism in continuous interaction with its surrounding environment.

Two of the most quoted hypotheses are based on the **clonal evolution theory** and the cancer **cell plasticity theory**. Both theories, strongly connected to each other, explain how tumour clones achieve a high degree of cellular, phenotypic and functional heterogeneity.

Through mechanisms of cellular plasticity cancer cells can acquire functions and roles distant from their committed fate that, through typical Darwinian evolutionary mechanisms, result in the selection of aggressive clones characterised by high cell fitness and clonal expansion.

#### 1.2.1. Clonal Evolution

As Peter Nowell showed in his work about tumour evolution, cancer is driven by stepwise somatic-cell mutations with sequential sub-clonal selection within tissue ecosystem [16]. Given the strong selective pressure imposed by the microenvironment surrounding cancer cells, just a little proportion of mutated cells can undergo neoplastic events that are not stalled and aborted.

In advanced malignancy, because of limited resources, cancer-suppressive mechanisms and potent artificial selection in form of drugs, the time used for cancer symptoms to emerge is quite long (depending also on the primary location).

The advanced malignancy growth respects the Gompertzian function [21], according to which cancer cells doubling time (1-2 days) is much faster than tumour doubling time (around 60-200 days). The Gompertzian growth explains the long time period usually required for cancer symptoms to emerge and the time needed to provide a positive selection of variant cells able to resist and overgrow. So, natural selection in tumours takes place, in the same way as selection in organisms, by competition for space and resources.

Cancer happens because of the exposure of the cells to genetic instability that could create mutations. But mutation rate varies substantially between different genomic regions [22] and the mutagenic processes are essentially blind or non-purposeful [23], and clones

evolve through the interaction of selectively advantageous driver lesions (gain and/or loss of functions), selectively neutral lesions (also known as *passenger*) and deleterious lesions. But mutated cells have an increased mutation rate, the meaning of this is that some of the phenotypic silent mutations or the *passenger* lesions drive other genetic changes allowing clonal expansion. The driver mutations give, as in the case of glioblastoma or pancreatic cancers, an average fitness advantage of only 0.4 % (using a non-spatial population genetics model to quantify the selective advantage provided by driver mutations) [24]. So the dynamics of somatic evolution depends on the interaction of mutation rate and clonal expansion.

The model of clonal evolution suggests that a series of clonal expansions grow to dominate the neoplasm (for the mechanism of clonal sweeps), until a next mutation is achieved. If or when the second mutation occurs, the expansion of both clones is restrained by mutual competition (clonal interference). Given the large population size and the high mutation rate typical of neoplasms, clonal competition is probably common [26] [27].

The scientific community is long debating about the way mutations have to occur to allow clonal evolution. The two main theories are based either on the *gradualism theory*, by which lesions accumulate over time in undetected sub-clones that finally appear following neoplasm expansion, or on the *punctuated equilibrium theory*, by which few big mutational events generate multiple lesions across the genome.

The latter theory is most accepted simply because the impossibility, in almost all cancers, to find out intermediate clones (in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia the frequency is <0.001%) to prove the gradualism hypothesis.

However it remains unclear whether sub-clone diversification reflects the impact of driver mutations and selective advantage, genetic drift of selectively neutral mutations or epigenetic alterations [27].



**Figure 1.4**: The branched architecture of evolution [28]. Representative pattern for common solid cancer evolution: selective pressure allows some mutant subclones to expand and other become extinct or remain dormant. Vertical lines represent the selective pressures in different habitats. TX represents therapy.

#### 1.2.1.1. Sub-clonal segregation of mutations and clonal architecture

Most histopathological evidence supports the classical model of clonal evolution followed by sub-clonal dominance and/or selective sweeps.

The evidence of the complex pattern of sub-clonal segregation of mutations came from a large data of deep sequencing and single-cell analysis. By comparing the mutational genomes of the sub-clones, it is possible to trace their evolution.

Evidence of clonal evolution from a common ancestral cancer cell has been found in identical twins with a concordant acute leukaemia with metastatic lesions: divergent cancer clone genotypes and phenotypes correspond to allopatric (genetic isolation) speciation in separate natural habitats [29] (Fig 1.5).



**Figure 1.5**: Prostate topography of cancer subclones [28]. **A**. Tissue section of prostate to detect genetic events: TMPRSS2- ERG fusion (ERG *via* rearrangement ERG<sup>R</sup>) and *PTEN* loss. **B**. Presumed sequence of clonal events.

The level of biodiversity within the sub-clonal structure can be measured, and also, as the profile of sub-clones within a neoplasm can be used to determine the molecular clocks linked to time events in the history of the neoplasm, it has been shown to be a robust biomarker for predicting progression in some cancer diseases.

#### 1.2.2. Cancer Cell Plasticity

Tissue and organ physiological developmental processes are based on the capacity of the stem/progenitor cell pools to activate different pathways allowing them to undergo a committed fate.

The commitment is controlled in a strict way by epigenetic regulators and transcription factors that organise the specific gene expression patterns of each lineage. This mechanism also occurs by de-differentiation phenomena by which differentiated cells can change their normal developmental programme and acquire a new fate, even distant from that of the lineage they come from.

Many studies during the years proved the de-differentiation of committed cells to a totipotent stage: after Brigs and Kings in 1952 [30] generated *frog* tadpoles by transplanting the nucleus from the blastula into *frog* enucleated oocytes, demonstrating the possibility for pluripotent cells to acquire a totipotent fate, in 1962 Gurdon and collaborators [31] generated *Xenopus* by transplanting nuclei from intestinal epithelial cells

into *Xenopus* oocytes, showing that committed nuclei may change their somatic fate into a germinal fate.

Strong evidence in mammals came from the cloning of Dolly the sheep [32] [33], where Wilmut and collaborators in 1997 proved that changes in cell fate did not involve irreversible nuclear changes: the fact that a lamb was derived among others from an adult mammary gland cell confirmed that differentiation of that cell did not involve irreversible modifications of the genetic material required for development and there were changes in gene expression but not in gene sequence, indicating that the developmental fate restrictions occurring during normal development can also result from epigenetic modifications [34].

Cellular plasticity based on epigenetic memory and involving chromatin regulators (*e.g.* Trithorax and Polycomb group Proteins [35] ) is a fundamental trait of normal organ and tissue development.

The *de novo* progenitor state (acquired progenitor state) is not as stable as expected, and cell plasticity is indeed involved in several diseases mainly characterised by abnormal cellular reprogramming.

The plasticity of the very first cells harbouring oncogenic alterations plays an important role in cancer development, leading the cell to acquire stem cell proprieties and allowing it, in the worst case scenario, to develop a tumour mass. Different types of cells contribute to the tumour structures and while the great majority of them are differentiated, there is a small percentage of Cancer Stem Cells (CSCs) that are important for replenishing cancer mass. The CSC theory considers cancer as any other stem-cell-maintained tissue, as only CSCs are able to reform the tumour if injected in a responsive model [36]. So, this theory explains how tumour is not only a result of genetic mutations affecting oncogenes and TSGs, but it comes from altered cell-fate programmes, where committed cells are able to de-differentiate to ensure a cancer stem pool (fig 1.6a). Conventional therapy is known to be ineffective at eliminating CSCs, which allow tumour cells to eventually repopulate the organ (fig 1.6b); however, targeting CSCs will leave the bulk of the tumour intact. A remaining tumour cell could then convert into a CSC, allowing for tumour recurrence and metastasis. Combination therapies targeting both CSCs and non-CSCs are likely needed to better prevent tumour recurrence and metastasis [37].



**Figure 1.6:** Plasticity of cancer stem cells [37]. **A**). The initial tumour is composed of non-cancer stem cells (CSCs; yellow) and rare CSCs (red). Non-CSCs within the tumour can mutate in non-CSC (blue). Spontaneous conversion of new non-CSC (blue) into a new CSC (green) provides tumour with genetically distinct CSCs (red and green) **B**). Conventional therapy and future therapy.

Evidence of this kind of cell plasticity can be found in haematopoietic tumours, where leukaemia stem cells are very similar to myeloid populations with the haematopoietic stem cell programme activated [38]<sup>,</sup> and in some epithelial cancers where an embryonic stem cell-like (ESC-like) programme can be activated by oncogenes to allow, for intestinal cancers, to generate cancer cells from the crypt stem cells.

Plasticity during tumour development is comparable to normal development, where cell fate is programmed in early progenitors, but the final effects of these programming events are only evident in differentiated cells.

#### **1.3. EPIGENETICS AND CANCER**

In the study of cancer and its mutations it cannot be excluded an amount of non-genetic mechanisms that drive positive selection during growth, including signalling plasticity, quiescence and epigenetic changes [39]. Global changes in the epigenetic landscape are a hallmark of cancer: its disruption can lead to altered gene function and malignant transformation [39]. Epigenetics describes the study of heritable and non-heritable changes in gene expression that occur independently of changes in primary DNA sequence, involving the organisation of genome and chromatin structure and influencing the ability of genes to be activated or silenced. The sum of these modifications, collectively referred to

as epigenome, provides a mechanism for cellular diversity by regulating how genetic information can be accessed by the cellular machinery [40]. The majority of these modifications are maintained through cycles of cell division allowing cells that share the same genetic information to have the same epigenetic organisation. The rate of epigenetic changes, also known as epi-mutations, has been estimated to be higher than the genetic changes, and could thus be a major determinant of clonal evolution [41]. As epi-mutations affect cell phenotype, they can also underlie natural selection.

Failure of the epigenome machinery can result in activation or inhibition of various signalling pathways, leading to several diseases such as cancer [42] [43] where they play important roles from the early stages to progression in conjunction with genetic mutations or deletions. In addition to tumour suppressors' inactivation and oncogenes' activation, coming from a general genomic instability, they could serve as a second hit required for cancer initiation according to the Knudson's "two hits model". Among the types of epigenome aberrations found in cancers, the hypo-methylation of CpG islands in promoters, repetitive elements, introns and genes play a significant role. A low rate of methylation in transposons, e.g., increases genome instability induced by their translocation or rearrangements or leading to gene activation [44]. In contrast, hyper-methylation of TSGs can lead to gene inactivation, such as it happens to BRCA1 and p16 [45].



Figure 1.7: Epigenetic gene silencing (B) and activation (A) [46]. Two possible mechanisms by which epigenetic modifications can lead to cancer.

Other modifications include changes in histone epigenetics, deregulation of miRNA, the modified nucleosome positioning system and the stem cell fate epigenetics-induced modifications.

The CSCs model suggests that epigenetic changes, which occur in normal stem or progenitor cells, are the earliest events in cancer initiation [47]. Since epigenetic mechanisms are central to the maintenance of stem cell identity and epigenetic changes drive the early stages of cancer progression, these same changes may modify the fate of cells, inducing de-differentiation, one of the most common events in tumourigenesis.

For example, silencing of genes involved in the maintenance of stem/progenitor cell state, such p16 or APC, early markers of colon cancer, is induced by DNA hyper-methylation [48]; the Polycomb Complex Group proteins (PcG), involved in the silencing of developmental regulators in ES cells, are upregulated in various forms of cancer through hyper-methylation of the Polycomb repressive marks, suggesting another link between cancer and epigenetic regulations [49].

## 1.4. MODELLING CANCER IN DROSOPHILA

Cellular and animal models are contributing to the acquisition of knowledge on the genetic basis of cancer, and among all models Drosophila melanogaster, the fruit fly, has been largely used to investigate the mechanisms underlying the behaviour of cancer cells growing in heterotypic backgrounds: mutant cells growing in heterotypic contexts can mimic the typical clonal formation of a tumour and allow researchers to study the interactions with adjacent populations of cells bearing different genetic arrangements [50]. Drosophila and human epithelia are comparable in structure and composition and more than 50 Drosophila genes have been identified in the control of proliferation of cells in a variety of tissues including embryonic tissues, nervous system, imaginal discs, larval hematopoietic and adult gonadal tissues [51]. Genes and pathways controlling proliferation and growth in *Drosophila* are largely conserved in humans, therefore the study of Drosophila TSGs and proto-oncogenes has produced a strong contribution to a better understanding of cancer biology in humans. Nowadays Drosophila represents an invaluable model in cancer research, as the powerful and sophisticated genetic tools available allow to study the clonal effects of multiple genetic manipulations on populations of cells which are embedded in and interact with the surrounding normal tissue.

The first tumourous mutation was described in the 60's by Elizabeth Gateff: this mutation affected a *locus* named *lethal giant larvae, lgl,* that acted in a recessive manner, mimicking a TSG. In the following years, thanks to the development and improvement of genetic and molecular tools to allow wide genetic screens, several other TSGs were identified in

*Drosophila* that caused uncontrolled proliferation leading to tumour growth, and proved to be functionally conserved in mammals and also altered in human cancers.

#### 1.4.1. lethal giant larvae is a TSG

Conventionally only the genes that cause over-proliferation in *Drosophila* can be defined as fly TSGs and they are classified into two main categories [52]:

- Hyperplastic TSGs are those genes that when mutated display extensive overproliferation of the imaginal epithelia without affecting cell monolayer organisation, and mutant tissue is able to differentiate into rudimental adult organs.
- Neoplastic TSGs are classified as genes that, when mutated in the imaginal epithelia, cause over-proliferation accompanied by loss of apical-basal cell polarity; moreover mutant tissue never differentiate. When transplanted into adult *wild-type* hosts, the mutant tissue from neoplastic TSGs is able to overgrowth, spread and kill the host [53]. Among the neoplastic tumour suppressors so far identified, *lethal giant larvae, discs large (dlg)* and *scribble (scrib)* are of particular interest as they encode conserved proteins involved in the establishment and maintenance of epithelial apical-basal polarity as well as in proliferation control. The regulation of epithelial cell polarity is a crucial issue in cancer biology as its loss is a key feature of carcinomas [54], [55].

# 1.4.2. lethal giant larvae and Cell Polarity

Most cell types are polarised in space with distinct structural orientations, following Planar Cell Polarity (PCP) and Apical-Basal Polarity (A/B) established by distinct protein localisation patterns that allow cells to perform specialised functions. Correct establishment and maintenance of cell polarity is required for the development and homeostasis of all metazoans and disruption of cell polarity is one of the early events in carcinogenesis and represents a hallmark of cancer [56].

While PCP describes the coordinated alignment of cells across the tissue plane [57], the A/B polarity is defined as the existence of cells which display an upper, apical pole and a lower, basal pole (fig 1.17), essential for adhesion, communication, morphogenetic properties of epithelia and to signal between the interior of the organism and the external environment. Loss of A/B cell polarity is a specific feature of the *lgl* LOF phenotype.

The *Lgl/Scrib/Dlg* complex establishes and maintains the basal-lateral cell domain, antagonising the activity of two other protein complexes: *Crumbs/Stardust/PATJ* (apical domain) and *Bazooka(Par3)/Par6/aPKC* (sub-apical domain).



**Figure 1.8**: Schematic representation of an epithelium showing an **A**) apical-basal polarity and **B**) planar Polarity. **C**) their appearance in association is shown in a tubular structure [58].



**Figure 1.9**: A model of localisation and collaboration of A/B polarity complexes [59]. Crumbs/Stardust complex identifies the apical domain; Bazooka(Par3)/Par6/aPKC localise at the sub-apical region and Scribble/Dlg/Lgl complex lies at the baso-lateral domain.

The *Crumbs/Stardust/PATJ* complex establishes the apical identity of polarised cells and is required for the formation of the adherens junctions (AJs) in *Drosophila* and in mammalian epithelial cells. It consists of three main components: a transmembrane protein, Crumbs (Crb), and two adaptor proteins, Stardust (Sdt) and PATJ [54]

The *Bazooka(Par3)/Par6/aPKC* complex is immediately below the *Crumbs/Stardust/PATJ* complex at the sub-apical region. It is composed of two scaffold proteins, Bazooka (Baz) or Par3, Par6 and an atypical Protein Kinase, aPKC. This complex defines the region in which the zonula adherens (ZA) is formed. In mammalian cells this complex localises at tight junctions and is required for AJs formation [54].

The *Scrib/Dlg/Lgl* complex is linked to cell polarity and cell proliferation [60] and LOF phenotypes of these three TSGs are very similar [50].

*Scribble* is a LAP (Leucine-rich repeats And PDZ domain) family protein and has four PDZ domains at the C-terminus and sixteen Leucine Rich Repeats (LRR) at the N-terminus; it is encoded by a single gene both in *Drosophila* and vertebrates.

*Discs large* is a MAGUK protein and contains three PDZ an SH3 and a GUK domain. Several mammalian orthologues of *Drosophila dlg* have been identified.

Lethal giant larvae encodes a protein, Lgl, rich in WD40 repeats, predicted to fold into two  $\beta$ -propeller domains at the N-terminus, as its mammalian orthologues, Lgl-1 and Lgl-2 [54]. Fly Lgl and human Lgl-1 show the significant sequence similarity of 62.5% (with conservative amino acids changes) associated with functional conservation: Lgl-1 expression is indeed able, to substitute for *Drosophila* Lgl [61]. Analogue rescuing ability has been demonstrated for rat Dlg [62] and human Scrib [63]. These three proteins are mutually dependent for correct localisation [60] in *Drosophila*, although direct interactions have never been proven.

Dlg and Scrib localise at the membrane cortex, at *Drosophila* septate junctions (SJs). Lgl co-localises with Dlg and Scrib at SJs but it is also found in the cytoplasm. It has been demonstrated that Lgl localisation at the membrane depends on its phosphorylation in conserved residues by aPKC of the Baz complex. When Lgl is phosphorylated its interaction domain is hidden, resulting in its exclusion from the cell cortex thus binding aPKC with Par6 excluding Bazooka (Par3) [64]. In fact, cortical spreading of aPKC in epithelial tissues causes Lgl inhibition at the baso-lateral domain with polarity defects, similar to what is observed in *lgl* mutants [65].

The Crb complex is recruited by the Baz complex at the apical domain and seems to further antagonise the activity of the Lgl complex by blocking its spreading along the lateral membrane domain. Crb is phosphorylated by aPKC and this event is required for its correct apical localisation. As expected from the high level of functional conservation, mammalian Lgl-1 and Lgl-2 are also excluded from the apical domain due to aPKC phosphorylation and are able to bind Par6 and aPKC preventing their association with Par3 and thus the baso-lateral spreading of apical complexes [54]. Moreover Lgl-1 subcellular localisation seems to play a crucial role in human cancer, as its cytoplasmic enrichment correlates to aPKC lateral spreading and cancer progression in ovarian carcinomas [65].

#### 1.4.3. lethal giant larvae and Tumourigenesis

*lgl* LOF causes neoplastic over-proliferation in *Drosophila* imaginal epithelia and neuroblasts of the larval brain. These structures show loss of A/B polarity, sustained growth and disruption of tissue architecture which result in an over-extended larval period and pre-pupal lethality. Cell growth appears to be slow in *lgl* mutants; as *lgl*<sup>-/-</sup> cells are unable to exit cell cycle, discs reach an enormous cell number and eventually form large masses which fail to form proper cellular contacts and do not differentiate.



**Figure 1.10**: *Wild-type* (left) and  $l(2)gl^4$  (right) imaginal discs with evident over-growth and loss of layer organisation in *lgl* mutant epithelium [66].

*lgl* mutants also show loss of positional cues, in fact cells straddle the anterior-posterior compartment boundary [67], which separates two independent developmental units that never intermix. Moreover they are able to fuse with nearby tissues so displaying local invasiveness [68].

Overgrowth might be hypothesised to be a direct consequence of loss of cell polarity in *lgl* mutant tissues. Loss of membrane compartmentalisation could indeed alter distribution of diffusible signals that regulate proliferation and their receptors, and delocalisation of signalling molecules both on cell surface and within the cytoplasm could result in simultaneous deregulation of several different pathways so triggering changes in cell metabolism and proliferation rate. Evidence exists that demonstrate a specific signalling function of the *Dlg/Lgl/Scrib* complex during proliferative control. In fact, polarity alteration by other means does not induce over-proliferation in imaginal discs, mutation of E-cadherin is the best example [69].

It was demonstrated that the proliferative defects described above are due to the deregulation of the Hippo (Hpo) pathway, a very conserved signalling network that plays a central role in the control of epithelial organs, establishing for the first time a direct link between *lgl* and cell proliferation control [70].



Nature Reviews | Molecular Cell Biology

Figure 1.11: Hippo pathway components in A) Drosophila melanogaster and B) mammals [71].

The Hpo downstream effects are mediated by its effector: Yorkie (Yki) in *Drosophila* and YAP (Yes-Associated Protein) in mammals, a transcription factor regulated by two core proteins, Hpo and Warts (Wts), in *Drosophila*. Following physiological regulation, a large fraction of Yki is phosphorylated by Wts at multiple residues and sequestered in the cytoplasm by 14.3.3 proteins, but when a cell undergoes genetic or mechanical stress, core components are inactivated, unphosphorylated Yki enters nucleus and co-activates transcription of several target genes involved in cell growth and resistance to apoptosis, such *cyc E* (found over-expressed in *lgl<sup>-/-</sup>* clones [72], *dIAP1* (*Drosophila* Inhibitor of APoptosis 1) and the miRNA *bantam* [73].

Mutations in major components of the Hpo pathway, including *expanded (ex), fat (ft), Salvador (Sav)* or *wts*, lead to competitive interactions that trigger death of the *wild-type* surrounding cells, revealing a competitive behaviour. This is caused by the hyperactivation of Yki/YAP which is maintained in its unphosphorylated, nuclear form, increasing the expression of several targets involved in cell survival and proliferation [74]. A link between organ growth and nutrient availability has recently been found in the *Drosophila* wing with TOR (Target Of Rapamycine) regulating Yki downstream of the Insulin receptor by a separate and novel mechanism. TOR signalling controls nuclear Yki by allowing it to access to its target genes: when TOR activity is inhibited (low nutrients), Yki accumulates in the nucleus but is sequestered from its normal growth-promoting target genes, a phenomenon called "nuclear seclusion", thus scaling wing size downwards [75]. These were exciting findings because the Hpo pathway has only recently emerged as a major and highly conserved growth regulatory pathway that has also critical tumour suppressor functions [86] [89].

*lgl* was shown to take part in the regulation of this pathway: *lgl* mutant cells in the eye imaginal disc show upregulation of Hpo pathway target genes as cyclin E and dIAP1, as well as genes belonging to the negative feedback loops such as *ex*; consistently, in *lgl*<sup>-/-</sup> cells Yki was found to accumulate in the nucleus and the phosphorylated form levels were reduced. Removal of one copy of Yki partially reduced Hpo target genes, indicating that Yki activity is required for *lgl*<sup>-/-</sup> proliferative defects. *lgl*-dependent regulation of Yki has also been observed in the wing imaginal disc but it was proposed to occur through a different mechanism [78].

#### 1.4.4. Mammalian Lgl-1 and Lgl-2

Mislocalisation, loss or decreased expression of *Lgl-1/2* (in man, *Hugl-1/2*), suggest a role for these genes in tumourigenesis. It has been observed that *Hugl-1* transcript results decreased or completely absent in variety of human epithelial tumours such as breast, lung, prostate, ovarian cancers, melanomas [61] [79] and colorectal cancer, where *Hugl-1* loss was found to be associated with advanced stages and lymph node metastases [80]. Its loss has further been correlated with reduced survival in glioblastoma [81] and aberrant splicing variants with hepatocellular carcinoma progression [82]. Moreover, Hugl-1 seems to play a crucial role in ovarian carcinomas as its cytoplasmic localisation correlates to aPKC lateral spreading and cancer progression [65]. This clearly drives a strong parallel with the phenotypes observed in *Drosophila lgl* mutant epithelial tissues. Interestingly, pronounced similarities with the *Drosophila lgl* mutant were also found in *Lgl-1* knock-out (KO) mice. *Lgl-1<sup>-/-</sup>* individuals presented at birth severe brain dysplasia due to an abnormal expansion of progenitor cells, unable to exit cell cycle and to differentiate. These cells formed neuroepithelial rosette-like structures, similar to the meroblastic rosettes found in human primitive neuroectodermal tumours (PNETs) occurring at pediatric age [83].

Noticeably, human *Hugl-1* gene maps to 17p11.2, a region often shown to undergo chromosomal breakage in human PNETs [84]. *Hugl-2* has been found to be a negative target of ZEB1, a master regulator of EMT [85] suggesting that its loss in epithelial cells may favour the acquisition of mesenchymal, migration-prone behaviour.

# 1.5. CELL COMPETITION

*"When the suspects give contrasting information, ask the neighbours: some of them will tell you exactly what is happening next door. Get ready to listen".* 

Cell competition (CC) is a non cell-autonomous phenomenon occurring between adjacent cell populations showing different fitness/proliferation rates. It was described for the first time in *Drosophila melanogaster* by Morata and Ripoll [86] while they were analysing the effects on organ development of a group of dominant, recessive-lethal mutations *Minute* (*M*) affecting various ribosomal proteins (*Rp*). The researchers demonstrated in the developing wing imaginal disc (the *Drosophila* larval primordium of the adult wing and thorax, see Section Materials and Methods) that the emergence of *wild-type* cells in a *Minute* background triggered a battle for field occupancy between the two cell populations: the *wild-type* population overgrew (Winner cells) and the *Minute*/+ cells, characterised by

a lower proliferative rate, lost the competition undergoing Caspase-3 mediated apoptosis (Loser cells) and disappeared from the adult organ. Contrarywise, *Minute/+* clones generated in a homotypic context (in M/+ individuals) are viable and fertile, although they show an impairment in proliferation due to a low efficiency in ribosome assembly [86]. CC thus appears to be a mechanism of "quality check" that maximises tissue robustness through destruction of sub-optimal cells during development.



**Figure 1.12:** Cell competition: pink cells are characterised by a higher proliferation rate than white cells. Through mechanisms of cell competition, pink cells overgrow at the expense of the white cells. Adapted from [87]

Mutations in Rp genes also occur in mammals. In 2004, it was observed that cells mutant for the mouse RpL24 riboprotein gene (*Bst*) were out-competed by *wild-type* cells in developing chimeric blastocysts [88]. This was the first time that CC was demonstrated to be at work also in mammals.

Several molecules have emerged to be associated with the winner status by improving cell proliferation rate and cellular fitness, first in *Drosophila* then in mammals: one of them is the Decapentaplegic (Dpp)/TGF $\beta$  protein.

Researchers found a reduction in Dpp signalling in out-competed cells. This molecule is involved in cell survival and when its pathway is active, it inhibits the transcription repressor Brinker (Brk), which would otherwise lead to the activation of the JNK pathway, causing death of the cells under competitive stress, that are eventually eliminated from the epithelium [89].

Apoptosis is required for CC to occur; inhibition of cell death by the baculovirus IAP p35 decreases winners' proliferation rate and losers' apoptosis. In fact, CC seems also to require the elimination of apoptotic cells by means of engulfment (phagocytosis) by surrounding tissue, as loss of function of genes involved in this process prevents competition [90]; a basal extrusion of the dead cells has also been frequently observed as a process to eliminate apoptotic cells [91].



**Figure 1.13**: Genetic impairments in the loser cells [92]: in "classical" CC, mutant cells (green) survive in a homotypic environment (top), whereas they are eliminated when surrounded by *wild-type* cells (white, bottom). Subsequently, *wild-type* cells replenish the tissue by compensatory proliferation. Purple colour defines a winner fate.

# 1.5.1. Phases of Cell Competition

Based on the study of CC in the *Drosophila* imaginal wing disc, it has been possible to schematise the main phases of the mechanism.

- Mutational events in cells that generate a reduced fitness creating a difference in proliferation or growth rate [93], metabolic rate or protein synthesis [94].
- Deprivation of morphogens and survival signals in loser cells, as it has been suggested by the "ligand capture" hypothesis by which cells compete for extracellular survival and growth factors [93].
- Both winner and loser cells "communicate" each other and actively participate in the competitive process, as Senoo-Matsuda and colleagues demonstrated that soluble factors from both populations are necessary for death of the loser cells [95]. Both populations are modified during the early stage of the process. SPARC [94] and FWE<sup>lose</sup> [96] are up regulated in loser cells and the winner cells are characterised by a metabolic change, known as Warburg effect [97].
- Activation of apoptosis in the loser cells and, after that apoptotic bodies are extruded from the epithelium, phagocytic mechanisms start to clear the apoptotic debris [98].
- Apoptosis-induced proliferation of the winner cells. CC is a process that assures an
  organ to reach a proper size with fit and functional cells composing it; unfit cells
  are promptly removed from the growing tissues and substituted by fitter cells,
  avoiding their expansion during development. Upon death and removal of unfit

cells, winner cells are stimulated to repopulate the developing organ undergoing additional proliferation, that has been named "apoptosis-dependent proliferation" because it does not occur if apoptosis is blocked in loser cells [56] [58].

# 1.5.2. Mechanics of Cell Competition

One hallmark of CC is the elimination of loser cells when they are close to winner cells, and this occurs through Caspase-3 mediated apoptosis [91] induced by signals emanated from both cell populations [95].

Caspase-3 induced apoptosis is a fundamental step for the progression of competitive interaction, and its inhibition has demonstrated to block CC [99].

Most of this apoptosis is observed at the boundary between two clones, winner cells and loser cells, as CC is based on direct cell-cell interaction between two different types of clones [100].

Successively, winners cells can overgrow through apoptosis-induced proliferation [101] at the expense of the losers, as the final tissue/organ size is not reduced despite the elimination of loser cells [50] [51]. This suggests that dying cells secrete mitogenic factors which increase the proliferation rate of the neighbouring cells (via Dpp and Wg secretion, and the JNK-dependent secretion of Unpaired (Upd), the ligand of the JAK-STAT cascade in *Drosophila*) [92]. On the contrary, loser cells are less sensitive to these mitogenic signals.

CC may require the function of the *brinker (brk)* gene, whose expression is normally repressed by Dpp signalling and is thus upregulated in slow-growing cells. Excess of Brk activates the JNK pathway, which in turn triggers apoptosis in these cells. The slow-proliferating cells upregulate Brk levels owing to a disadvantage in competing for, or in transducing, the Dpp survival signal. This evokes the ligand-capture hypothesis and may function either in a short- or in a long-range fashion. This sequence of events might represent a general mechanism by which weaker cells are eliminated from a growing population [91].

Recent work indicates that, in some cases, winner cells may not produce a specific proapoptotic ligand. Instead it has been suggested that winner cells could be engulfing loser cells [102].

Mechanical stress has also been proposed to contribute to CC [103] [104] [105]. Qiang Sun and colleagues demonstrated as human cells can directly compete by a mechanism of

engulfment called entosis. Through entosis, cells are engulfed or cannibalised while alive, and subsequently undergo cell death. The researchers found that the identity of engulfing and engulfed cells is driven by mechanical deformity controlled by RhoA and actomyosin, where tumour cells with high deformability preferentially engulf and outcompete neighbouring cells characterised by low deformability in a heterogeneous population, demonstrating that a mechanical differential between winner and loser cells is required for entosis to proceed [56] [103].

Entosis, in association with emperipolesis, cannibalism and phagocytosis, describes the "Cell-in-Cell" mechanisms by which cells are internalised to undergo different fates. Part of these structures are associated with cancer, and function as tumour accelerators or tumour suppressors (fig 1.15).



Figure 1.14: A dual role for entosis in cancer [106]. A) entosis as a pro-tumourigenic process. B) entosis as a tumour-suppressive mechanism.

Another process indirectly associated with apoptosis in the epithelia is the eviction of cells from the epithelial sheet. This can occur either towards the apical surface (a process known as extrusion) or towards the basal surface (a process known as delamination). Delamination only disrupts cell-cell contacts, whereas extrusion causes detachment from the extracellular matrix, as well as loss of cell-cell contacts. In both cases, unless it is part of a programmed process such as EMT, exit from the epithelium leads to the loss of essential survival signals and thus apoptosis and phagocytosis [102].

A recent study performed in MDCK cells provided evidence that crowding induces delamination. In fact, cell crowding may cause random buckling of weaker cells. In this

case, buckling would entail loss of the ability to withstand compression within the junctional area. Junctional buckling is expected to cause compensatory expansion of the cell surface elsewhere and hence activation of Piezo (a mechanically activated channel) [107]. Alternatively, cell compression could lead to other types of membrane deformation that could activate Piezo. This view suggests that compression and stochastic variations in the mechanical resilience of a cell are key to extrusion. As most compression probably occurs in fast-growing cells this view is unlikely to apply directly to CC, although a rigorous assessment will require three-dimensional modelling [102].

More recently, several studies identified MYC as a key regulator of CC. Clones of cells bearing hypomorphic *dm* mutations (the *locus* that in *Drosophila* encodes for the MYC protein, also known as dMyc), although viable in a homotypic environment, died when generated in a *wild-type* imaginal disc [108]. In 2004, two papers clearly demonstrated that this phenomenon was triggered by the difference in MYC expression levels between the two adjacent cell populations [93] [109].

# 1.5.3. MYC/dMyc Oncoprotein

MYC family proteins are evolutionarily conserved basic helix-loop-helix leucine zipper (bHLH-Zip) transcription factors that control about the 30% of all the expressed genes. They are involved in several cellular functions as: cell cycle progression, growth, metabolism, apoptosis, transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulatory mechanisms, non-coding RNAs, stem cell biology and cancer development.

MYC oncoproteins can bind DNA at regulating regions, called E-Box sequences, following heterodimerisation with specific binding partners. Mammals possess three members of the MYC family: c-MYC, N-MYC and L-MYC (Figure 1.10).

The *c-MYC* gene is ubiquitously expressed in dividing cells and normally downregulated in quiescent cells; *N-MYC* and *L-MYC* are expressed during particular stages of the embryonic development and in some immature hematopoietic and neuronal cells [65] [66].


**Figure 1.15**: The MYC family members [112]. The image at the top shows a generic representation of a mammalian MYC protein, indicating the transcriptional activation domain, the central portion, the canonical nuclear localisation sequence (N) and the region involved in DNA binding via interaction with MAX. Below is a representation of conserved sequences present in C-, N-, and L-MYC family members. c-MYC is drawn to scale at 439 amino acids. N- and L-MYC proteins are different in length (464 and 364 amino acids, resp.) due to differences in the length of non-conserved sequences, but are drawn to highlight the conservation and relative location of *MYC* boxes.

MYC family proteins attained plain interest when their role in cancer development and progression was unveiled. Three mechanisms by which MYC oncoprotein can be activated and involved in cancer have been identified: **insertional mutagenesis**, **chromosomal translocation** and **gene amplification**.

Early evidence for insertional mutagenesis involved in MYC-associated cancerisation emerged in the study of leukaemogenesis induced by avian myelocytomatosis retrovirus (MC29), an acutely transforming virus. Even if the scientific community was reluctant to accept the idea of a viral integration in human genome, the analysis of DNA and RNA from avian leukosis virus (ALV) and the analysis of RNA chimeras showed the existence of a viral-cellular integration in specific sites in the genome, often nearby an oncogene control region. MYC was the first cellular oncogene shown to be activated by retroviral promoter insertion [66] [68].

A genetic analysis of the Burkitt Lymphoma, a cancer of the lymphatic system characterised by MYC over-expression, revealed that the production of MYC mRNA resulted from a recombination between the immunoglobulin (Ig) heavy chain *locus* and the MYC oncogene [114]. This recombination came from a gross translocation of chromosomes 14, 2 or 22, which harbour the Ig heavy and light chain genes, to chromosomes 8, nearby the MYC gene coding region. The result of this translocation was the MYC mRNA transcription under the control of the strong Ig promoter. This evidence

was consistent with the finding, during the same year, of the Philadelphia chromosome involved in chronic myeloid leukaemia, that through the 22-9 chromosomal translocation, generated a fusion protein BCR-ABL responsible for the disease [115].

Many different kinds of tumours are characterised by karyotypical abnormalities and the manner by which these aberrations can drive cancerous growth is also dependent on oncogene amplification. The role of MYC amplification involved in tumour emerged in the study of neuroblastoma. Amplification of N-MYC, normally expressed during neural development, was discovered in a panel of human neuroblastoma cell lines and tumour samples and was associated with poor prognosis [116].

In contrast to chromosomal translocations in haematopoietic cancers, activation of the MYC genes by amplification is commonly detected in human solid tumours [111].

In the early 1980s, the debate about MYC was very rich of new daily findings and it became important to define the basic knowledge about the protein role in normal development. It was shown that MYC is a nuclear protein that binds double stranded DNA [117], whose stability and activity depend on Thr58 and Ser62 phosphorylations [118], and whose expression pattern is invariant throughout the cell cycle [119].

A direct link between mitogenic stimulation of quiescent cultured cells and a rapid induction of MYC mRNA was established in 1983: the highest RNA levels were reached within 2 hours from the mitogenic stimulus in the presence of cycloheximide, an inhibitor of protein synthesis. MYC mRNA and protein [67] [68] showed a short half-life and were both expressed at constant levels once cells entered cell cycle [119]. Anti-proliferative signals were shown to trigger a rapid decrease of MYC levels. These data indicated that MYC expression and activity are both tightly regulated in non-transformed cells and respond quickly to stimuli from the extracellular milieu.

A multitude of signal transduction pathways have evolved to keep MYC expression under tight control.

*Drosophila* MYC (*dMyc*), transcribed from the *diminutive locus*, is an onco-protein that shares both structure and function with its human homologue [58] [75].

dMyc contains several functional domains including the conserved basic helix-loop-helix zipper domain (bHLH/LZ) present at the C-terminus and used for dimerisation with *Drosophila* Max protein, the most conserved member of the *Drosophila* MYC network.

At its N-terminus dMyc contains several conserved motifs including the conserved MYC Boxes I and II which are partially required for MYC transcriptional activities; the conserved MYC Box III and IV containing the acidic region, whose mutation analysis revealed a novel conserved function in controlling MYC protein stability [120].



**Figure 1.16:** MYC proteins. Schematic representation of MYC proteins [121]. Comparison between human c-MYC and *Drosophila* d-MYC oncoproteins.

Experiments where *Drosophila* Myc cDNA was used to rescue proliferation defects of mouse embryonic fibroblasts from c-MYC mutant mice [122] and developmental defects of *Drosophila*  $dm^{PG45}$  hypomorphic mutants were rescued by expression of human c-MYC cDNA [123] demonstrated that *Drosophila* and vertebrate MYC can functionally substitute each other. Moreover these results showed that many MYC functions are conserved from insects to mammals.

MYC protein family exerts several activities, most of them through the MYC/MAX/MNT complex. MYC is largely responsible for growth control and organ size: overexpression of dMyc in large territories of the *Drosophila* imaginal disc induces growth by accelerating the G1/S transition of the cell cycle, while entry into the M-phase is limited by the availability of other molecules developmentally expressed (*e.g.* CDC25), thus limiting hyperproliferation [121].

MYC influences the expression of a large set of genes involved in several cellular processes and a preeminent group of MYC-activated targets encode for proteins involved in ribosome biogenesis and energetic metabolism [124]: MYC involvement is also demonstrated in the regulation of metabolic pathways such as glycolysis and glutaminolysis [125].

Moreover, high levels of Myc in *Drosophila* are demonstrated to cause cell-autonomous apoptosis through the expression of the pro-apoptotic genes *hid*, *grim*, *reaper* and *sickle* [126].

### 1.5.4. MYC-Mediated Cell Competition (MMCC)

CC collected the interest of cancer researchers when it was associated to cancer through the discovery of super-competitors. Super-competitor mutations increase cell fitness and lead to clonal overgrowth at the expense of the surrounding *wild-type* tissue, similarly to what happens in the early stages of tumour progression [127].



**Figure 1.17:** "Super-competitors" [92]: supercompetitor cells (light purple) do not induce apoptosis when surrounded by cells with the same genotype (top), whereas they can grow at the expenses of the surrounding *wild-type* cells (white) by inducing their death (bottom). Growth of the winner cells is induced by compensatory proliferation through the secretion of Dpp, Wg, Hh, and Unpaired from the dying cells (dark gray arrow), or a non-cell autonomous down-regulation of the Hippo pathway induced by dying cells (not depicted). Purple cells are the winner cells, green cells are the loser cells.

Clones expressing high dMyc levels within a *wild-type* tissue overgrow at the expense of the surrounding tissue to fill all the compartment [86] [101]. Clone expansion requires the elimination of the surrounding loser cells through *Caspase3*-mediated apoptosis; these *wild-type* loser cells appear to be eliminated within eight cell diameters away from the MYC-expressing cells [109] as CC seems to be mediated by soluble factors [95].

Similar evidence was found using a tandem duplication model, in which sibling clones resulted composed of cells expressing four copies (4xdmyc) and two copies (2xdmyc) of the *diminutive* (*dm*) gene. In these experiments the 4xdmyc clones were larger than the 2xdmyc clones and also larger than 4xdmyc clones growing in a homotypic background; similarly, the 2xdmyc clones were smaller then nearby 4xdmyc clones and also smaller than 2xdmyc clones growth in a homotypic background. The meaning of these studies is that the cellular behaviour is not fixed by genotypes but is adaptable to different contexts, and that the competition is based on relative and not absolute levels of *MYC* [93].



**Figure 1.18:** Cell Competition in tissues mosaic for cells with different copy numbers of the *dmyc* gene [93]: **A**) control twin clones which both express two copies of *dmyc*. **B**) experimental clones which either express four (GFP<sup>2+</sup>) or two copies (GFP<sup>-</sup>) of *dmyc*. The *4xdmyc* clones are larger than the *2xdmyc* clones. **C**) control twin clones which both express four copies of *dmyc*.

As *MYC* has a role in ribosome regulation, it has been hypothesised that MMCC may require its ability to influence ribosomal activity. Consistent with this idea, *MYC*-expressing clones bearing a ribosomal protein mutation were no longer able to out-compete surrounding cells [93]. Directly, the under-regulation of protein synthesis seems not to be sufficient to trigger MMCC, since the expression of *PI3K* (protein synthesis regulator) was demonstrated to be unable to induce CC [109].

The phenomenon of CC is mediated by different accessibility to growth signals: winner cells, due to their optimal growth status, would be able to capture more survival factors than loser cells, that instead would die by *JNK*-mediated apoptosis. To confirm this hypothesis and to test the "rescue" properties of some genes implicated in cell growth, researchers carried out a CC assay inducing mutant clones of the chosen genes in a MYC-overexpressing background: mutations that provided cells with an advantage in this competitive context were defined "super-competitors".



**Figure 1.19:** MYC-mediated CC [128]: A) a clone of cells with genotype A is viable in a homotypic context. B) cells with genotype A are culled by apoptosis when surrounded by *wild-type* cells. C) a case of super-competition.

## 1.5.5. Factors Involved in Cell Competition

CC is a process that requires communication between distinct cell populations. However, the molecular mechanisms underlying this dialogue are still unclear [102].

MMCC seems to be also mediated by soluble factors [95]. The study was carried out on *Drosophila S2* cells, where cells over-expressing *MYC* and control, GFP-positive cells, were co-cultured. The two populations were separated by porous filters that were permissive only to the transit of soluble molecules. Over a short period of time, the control GFP-positive cells were induced to die, while death of the MYC-expressing cells did not increase above background, demonstrating that CC did not require a cell-cell contact. In addition, medium from co-culture experiments was able to induce death of *wild-type* cells and not MYC-expressing cells when plated in single plates, and medium from single cultures was not sufficient to trigger CC, demonstrating that both populations are needed to trigger competitive behaviours.

Another important evidence about factors released into the competitive medium has been collected in a recent work. Patel and colleagues carried out a miRNAs multiple screening by which they identified miRNAs that target conserved CC-related genes in *Drosophila melanogaster*. This study led to the identification of nine potential CC-associated miRNAs in the *Drosophila* genome and, importantly, eighteen human homologs of these nine

potential *Drosophila* miRNAs are well reported for their involvement in different types of cancers [129].

CC can also be mediated by membrane proteins as Flower (Fwe), an evolutionary conserved membrane channel protein. Different Fwe isoforms were observed to tag "winner" and "loser" cells in *Drosophila* imaginal epithelia. Fwe is present in three isoforms with different C-terminal extracellular domains; the Ubi form is constitutively expressed by the epithelial cells of the discs, while the Lose-A and Lose-B forms are only present in the loser cells. The confrontation between the Ubi and the Lose forms was postulated to be the cause for loser cells to die, since knockdown of the *fwe* gene resulted in a reduced expansion of clones over-expressing MYC [96].

Another factor known to mark loser cells in *Drosophila* is SPARC (Secreted Protein Acidic and Rich in Cysteine). This molecule has a protective role in loser cells because its expression inhibits Caspase-3 activation. Like Fwe, SPARC seems to be actively expressed during CC as there is no rescue of apoptosis out of a competitive context [96].

## 1.5.6. The Hippo Pathway and Cell Competition

In both *Drosophila* and mammals, the Hpo signalling pathway regulates growth by preventing the transcriptional co-activator Yki/YAP (*Yes Associated Protein*) from entering nucleus and activating its downstream targets [77].

Epithelial cells show strong polarisation along the apical-basal axis and epithelial cancer cells often exhibit absence or mislocalisation of polarity proteins and MYC upregulation [121].

Oncoprotein MYC is a transcriptional target of Yki/YAP and through a mechanism of negative feedback regulates MYC at both the transcriptional and post-transcriptional levels [130]. When MYC is downregulated in Yki-overexpressing clones these is no death of the surrounding cells, suggesting that MYC is the driving force of Yki-induced competition, and that relaxation of the Hpo pathway does not induce CC on its own, but it rather acts through direct regulation of MYC expression [77].

*Drosophila lgl* and its human homologue *HUGL-1* [61] are TSGs encoding scaffold proteins involved in the maintenance of A/B polarity in the epithelial cells. The mutant phenotype of these genes is dictated by the context in which the clones grow. In a homotypic context, cells mutant for *lgl* overgrow leading to the formation of a neoplastic mass (figure 1.19 A adapted: suboptimal cells are *lgl*<sup>-/-</sup> mutant clones ) [131]; conversely, if the clones are surrounded by *wild-type* cells, they are eliminated from the tissue by the

activation of the JNK pathway (figure 1.19 B adapted). Overexpression of MYC in the  $lgl^{-/-}$  clones not only rescues their viability but promotes malignant growth and induces death in the surrounding *wild-type* cells, turning  $lgl^{-/-}$  cells from losers into super-competitors (figure 1.19 C adapted) [132].

Cells depleted of *lgl* show nuclear accumulation of the transcription factor Yki, where it can promote the expression of genes involved in cell survival and proliferation, among which MYC plays a role in transforming these cells into super-competitors [93]. Deregulation of the Hpo pathway also contributes to the overgrowth that characterises the oncogenic cooperation between activated Ras/Raf and polarity gene loss [133]. Yki targets are indeed upregulated in *Ras*<sup>V12</sup>; *lgl*<sup>-/-</sup> tumours.

The constitutive activation of the oncoprotein Ras (e.g. Ras<sup>V12</sup>) in cells mutant for *lgl* leads to the formation of growing neoplastic masses capable to invade and to create metastasis. The effect of Ras<sup>V12</sup> on the neoplastic mutant cells appears to include super-competitive properties provided by a cell-autonomous increase in MYC expression. Mutations in the Hpo pathway give rise to hyperplastic growth, thus a cooperation between loss of apical-basal polarity and hyperplasia seems to be necessary and sufficient for pushing the cells towards a malignant phenotype.

MYC has been identified as a downstream effector of the Hpo pathway also in mammals; YAP promotes c-MYC transcription in a hepatocellular carcinoma mice model [121] and both are necessary for carcinogenesis in a nude mouse model [134]. YAP shows nuclear accumulation in several human tumours, partly associated with high MYC expression [135].

#### 1.5.7. MMCC in Mammals

A decade later its discovery in *Drosophila*, MMCC was also found involved in mammalian development. Researchers induced functional genetic mosaics in the mouse and observed that imbalanced MYC levels in the epiblast (an early embryonic structure) were sufficient to induce the expansion of MYC over-expressing cells at the expenses of the *wild-type* cells, which were eliminated by apoptosis. Moreover, they noticed that *wild-type* cells composing the early embryo were heterogeneous in MYC content during development with a CC-like mechanism to refine the final epiblast selecting for cells with higher MYC levels [136].

Sancho and colleagues observed that defective embryonic stem cells underwent apoptosis during embryo development through a mechanism driven by MYC differences within the

embryo [137]. The first experimental evidence suggesting a role for MMCC in mammalian carcinogenesis was carried out in a familiar polyposis murine model, where APC cells deprived of c-Myc were out-competed by surrounding, c-Myc expressing *wild-type* cells, reverting the malignant phenotype [138]. An example of MMCC in mammals comes from a work conducted by Mamada and colleagues in 2015. The researchers established an *in vitro* model system that showed CC in mouse NIH3T3 embryo fibroblast cells. Co-culture of TEAD activity-manipulated cells with normal cells caused CC. Cells with reduced TEAD activity became losers, while cells with increased Tead activity became super-competitors. TEAD is a target that YAP binds to control cellular response and directly regulated Myc RNA expression, and cells with increased Myc expression became super-competitors [93] also in mouse [136]. The researchers demonstrated that NIH3T3 cells show CC mechanisms similar to those regulated by Yki and Myc in *Drosophila* [139].

#### 1.5.8. Cell Competition and Cancer

The origin of the vast majority of human tumours is monoclonal, descending from single progenitor cells through several rounds of mutation and selection, finally establishing a detectable mass. Even if an advanced mass is simple to find and to study, it is difficult to track early events. These initial events are vital for tumour progression and their understanding might help treat cancer successfully. CC may act during the early stages of cancer progression, where clones characterised by high fitness out-compete the unfit.

The initial expansion may increase the probability of accumulation of other mutations in subsets of cells, that would confer new oncogenic properties. As tumours are very heterogeneous, CC might provide a further selection for some kind of rapidly growing cells. In fact, hundreds of mutations are present and selected during cancer development. Selection mechanisms reflect interaction between tumour and normal cells during the progression of cancer. Some of these mutations may be selected through effects of CC, so they might not be required for tumourigenesis but might affect the chances of progression. Tumour cells may out-compete normal cells, such as super-competitors out-compete *wild-type* cells [140]. The first gene that demonstrated to induce CC in *Drosophila* when over-expressed was dMyc. Clones of *wild-type* cells are out-competed when nearby cells express high dMyc levels [50] [75]. Contemporary, researchers found that mutations inactivating the Hpo pathway can also cause super-competition in the presence of *wild-type* cells [141]. As Myc family genes and deregulation of Hpo pathway components are

involved in cancer, super-competitors have been hypothesised to be involved in the early stages of cancer progression.

Very recent evidence produced by two research groups defined the involvement of CC in different stages of tumour progression. Suijkerbuijk and colleagues demonstrated the involvement of clonal competition in driving the growth of tumour mass in a Drosophila model of APC<sup>-/-</sup> intestinal adenomas. Adenomatous APC<sup>-/-</sup> cells showed higher Yki/YAP activity via JNK pathway activation than wild-type surrounding tissue. Moreover they demonstrated that the prevention of CC through apoptosis inhibition restored host tissue growth and contained adenoma expansion, focusing on the importance of CC in adenoma progression in flies [142]. Eichenlaub and colleagues provided evidence that, in a Drosophila epithelial cancer model, CC drives primary tumour formation and secondary tumour progression. Cells expressing EGFR together with the conserved microRNA miR-8 acquired super-competitive properties. Activating mutations in EGFR have long been recognised as driver mutations in human cancer. EGFR overexpression in wing imaginal disc cells leads to tissue hyperplasia, with accelerated cell proliferation accompanied by increased apoptosis. When combined with cooperating factors as miR-8 expression, a microRNA shown to downregulate the expression of the Septin family protein Peanut, involved in cytokinesis failure, EGFR overexpression can lead to neoplasia and metastasis through the induction of apoptosis and engulfment of the nearby *wild-type* cells [143].

In recent years, researchers postulated two different outcomes for CC during the early stages of tumour progression: "**field cancerisation**" [144] and elimination of pro-tumour cells, as an **intrinsic tumour suppressor mechanism**, to protect tissue from the very early mutated clones on the onset of tumour development [83] [102] [110].

The concept of field cancerisation was first introduced to explain the presence of histologically abnormal tissue surrounding oral squamous-cell carcinoma. According to one model, a cell sustains an initiating mutation. After massive proliferation, some of its clonal descendants may acquire a second mutant allele, and "initiated" cells may then proliferate and eventually occupy a large field of epithelium in which the chances of development of a malignant neoplasm are higher [100]. Field cancerisation has been observed in many epithelia, including the head and the neck region, lung, bladder, cervix, colon, breast, Barrett oesophagus and actinic keratosis, dysplastic precursors of squamous cell carcinoma [128].

#### 1.6. p53 PROTEIN FAMILY

As p53 TSG has been found to be mutated in more than 50% of human cancers, it has attracted the interest of numerous researchers [146].

p53 protein was first identified in 1979 as a transformation-related protein characterised by a strong accumulation in cancer cell nuclei, able to bind simian virus 40 (SV40) large T antigen [147] and showing oncogenic activity. About 10 years later it was shown that those forms of the p53 protein were the result of missense mutations [148] and evidence from the first KO animal models, during the early 1990s, clarified the central role in tumour suppression of *wild-type* p53 [149]. During the years, several biological functions have emerged in which the p53 protein plays fundamental roles, such as apoptosis, development, differentiation, DNA recombination and cellular senescence [150].

p53 is part of a protein family including two other members: p63 and p73 [151] [152], considered the ancestors of p53 for the strong structural and functional relations: p53 seems to have evolved a tumour suppressive function in higher organisms [152]. The human gene encoding the p53 protein, TP53 (tumour protein 53), spans a 20 kb region on chromosome 17 [153]. Human p53 is a nuclear transcription factor of 53 KDa composed of 393 amino acids organised in several structural and functional domains [154]. The central region of p53, p63 and p73 is evolutionary conserved in *humans, Drosophila melanogaster* and *Caernorhabditis elegans* [155] and structural studies have revealed that majority of p53 missense mutations found in cancers are located in this region [156].



Figure 1.20: A schematic representation of the p53 structure with the hot spot mutation region and the principal missense mutations highlighted [146].

## 1.6.1. The Physiological Functions of p53

During the last 40 years, plenty of evidence demonstrated how p53 can be considered one of the main regulators of cell integrity.

Many genes have been found to be transcriptional targets of the protein, as *wild-type* p53 can be activated by a number of stresses within the cell, including hypoxia, DNA damage and oncogene activation [157].

During cell life, *wild-type* p53 protein is present and sequestered by the Mouse Double Minute 2 homologue (MDM2), so its transcriptional activity is inhibited. MDM2 is an important negative regulator of the p53 tumour suppressor protein and functions both as an E3 Ubiquitin ligase that recognises the N-terminal trans-activation domain (TAD) of the p53 protein, and as an inhibitor of p53 transcriptional activation [158]. Additionally, a homologue of MDM2, MDMX, also serves as a negative regulator of p53, as MDM family members are found overexpressed in a myriad of neoplasms showing nonfunctional *wild-type p53* [159].

In response to various types of stress, p53 enters nucleus, carries out its functions as a sequence-specific transcription factor, acting as a homotetramer and binding to p53 response elements on inhibiting cell cycle progression, promoting senescence, inducing apoptotic cell death or acting in metabolic processes [157] [160] [161]. Beside this, protein-protein interactions may be implicated in other functions of the protein [162].

The downstream targets are differentially activated depending on the cell type, on the damage and on various other not already identified parameters.

p53 exerts its role on **cell cycle progression and genome stability** by inducing a transient G1 cell cycle arrest in response to DNA damages [146].

One of the most important functions of p53 is to **induce apoptosis** in damaged cells. p53 transcriptionally activates the expression of several pro-apoptotic BCL-2 family proteins and, by interacting with pro-apoptotic and anti-apoptotic factors in the cytoplasm and at the mitochondrial membrane, it can lead to the activation of caspase-induced apoptosis. Additional experiments showed that disruption of the apoptotic pathway downstream of *wild-type* p53 by overexpressing BCL-2 or dominant-negative forms of the caspase 9 promotes lymphomagenesis [163].

p53 may also induce **senescence** in response to oncogene activation or telomere dysfunction and is dependent on the p53-mediated transcriptional activation of p21, which is a cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) inhibitor that halts the cell cycle in the  $G_1$  phase.

The maintenance of cellular homeostasis is a p53 role performed in case of metabolic stress when cells go through starvation. Upon glucose deprivation, MDH1 (Malate DeHydrogenase 1), the enzyme that catalyses the reversible oxidation of malate to oxaloacetate, recruits p53 and stabilises it inducing cell cycle arrest [164]. AMPK, a nutrient stress sensor, activates p53 by phosphorylation or acetylation [165]. This mechanism involves also ribosome proteins that sequester MDM2, favouring p53 over-expression [166].

In metabolism, p53 protein plays its role by limiting the glycolytic rate through the inhibition of glucose uptake by the glucose transporters type 1, 3 and 4 (GLUT1, 3, 4), This in turn slows glucose oxidation to pyruvate by phosphofructokinase 1 (PFK1) and phosphoglycerate mutase (PGM) through direct or indirect inhibition of these enzymes. This is followed by promotion of pyruvate conversion in acetyl-CoA and upregulation of the mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation [167]. The balance of glucose metabolism in favour of energy production is physiological in some organs, as heart and brain. Until p53 is active, it promotes cell survival maintaining metabolic homeostasis, and when the *wild-type* p53 function is lost, cancer cells can however survive and divide by exploiting the glycolytic switch [168]. This metabolic switch that increases glycolytic flux, typical of cancer cells, is known as the Warburg effect [169].

Another important aspect of a tumour is the capacity to **interact with the immune system**: p53 participates also in this aspect by inducing the activation of cytokines and proinflammatory agents that act to decrease tumour size and angiogenic potential [170].

#### 1.6.2. p53 as a Tumour Suppressor

First evidence about p53's role in cancer biology was found in late 1960s, when germline mutations in *TP53* were associated with the Li-Fraumeni Syndrome (LFS), an autosomal dominant disorder predisposing individuals to breast cancer, sarcomas and other neoplasms [171] [172] [173].

p53 is not involved in physiological development, but animals harbouring a p53 deletion are extremely cancer-prone [149] [174]. Loss of p53 in human tumours induces formation of more aggressive and vascularised masses [175].

Nowadays it is widely acknowledged that p53 compromised functions are the most common genetic events in human cancer [150]: while almost 50% of all tumours exhibit mutation of p53, in many other its normal function is attenuated by several mechanisms

acting in its modulation as the up-regulation or activation of negative regulators, as MDM2 or MDMX found over-expressed in a variety of neoplasms. [158].

In addition to the discussed roles of p53 in cell cycle regulation, senescence and apoptosis, further functions are associated with the inhibition of differentiated cell reprogramming to pluripotent stem cells (PSCs), [176] so it is plausible that p53 suppresses tumourigenesis by contrasting cell stemness.



Figure 1.21: The Stress Response Pathway, in which p53 protein exerts several functions by activating different downstream targets [146].

#### 1.6.3. p53 and the "Gain of Function" Hypothesis

A difference between p53 and many other TSGs is the appearance of a huge number of missense mutations along its sequence: the vast majority of tumour suppressors, in fact, is inactivated by deletions [177], but in p53, a great number of cancer-associated mutations are single base substitutions resulting in a full-length active protein [178].

The mutational hot spots in the *p53* sequence are concentrated in the region encoding the DNA-binding domain (Fig 1.16). The mutant products fall into two broad categories: the *Contact mutations*, affecting residues involved directly in DNA contacts without altering p53 conformation, and the *Structural mutations*, that cause a conformational change in the core domain [179]. While *wild-type* p53 has a very short half-life when unreleased, some of these stable mutants have a prolonged half-life and can create precipitates inside cancer cells' nuclei [180] [181] [182].

Many of these stable mutants of p53 can exert a dominant-negative (DN) effect on the remaining *wild-type* protein [183] and such dominant activity may be affected by either formation of mutant/*wild- type* p53 co-tetramers or by the incorporation of the *wild-type* form into mutant tetrameric aggregates [184]. Interestingly, missense mutation of p53 are often followed by Loss of Heterozygosity (LOH) at the corresponding *locus* [185] [186].

The sum of all these observations led researchers to elaborate the "gain of function" hypothesis, either because many missense mutations of p53 are not equivalent to its loss of function, or because the strong selection of some of these forms upon the *wild-type* p53 protein suggests an important role in tumourigenesis.

There is also evidence that mutant p53 exerts its pro-oncogenic activities independent of its effects on the *wild-type* form [187] and many studies have also demonstrated a poor prognosis for many kinds of human tumours with missense mutations of p53 [178]. p53 pro-oncogenic activity may be carried out through tree different mechanisms: first, tumour cells could be selected for loss of *wild-type* p53; second, p53 mutants could lose their tumour-suppressive functions while retaining other aspects that can be involved in tumourigenesis: third, mutant p53 proteins could acquire neomorphic activities that improve cell performance and tumour growth [188].

#### 1.6.4. p53 and Cell Competition

Myc supercompetitor behaviour in *Drosophila melanogaster* has been demonstrated to be dependent on the p53 *wild-type* function [168] by de la Cova and colleagues in 2014.

Researchers have analysed an increase in metabolic requirement of Myc-overexpressing cells during CC. This increased requirement is not observed in cells of the same genotype growing in a homotypic context.

Myc protein overexpression alters mitochondrial morphology and impairs COX activity of complex IV (a common trait in many cancers) which results in a reduced electron transport chain and in a reduced cellular ATP pool, followed by an increased glycolysis, a typical trait of cancer cells described as the Warburg effect [169]. The role of p53 is to balance these stressful metabolic changes occurring in Myc-overexpressing cells (where p53 *m*RNA is increased) by promoting OXPHOS and restraining glycolysis [168]. COX deficiency and low steady-state ATP levels are accompanied by a p53-dependent increase in *scox* mRNA, the cytochrome c oxidase 1 homologue in *Drosophila* [189], to maintain metabolic homeostasis and assure fitness protection to Myc-overexpressing cells.

In competitive co-culture assays, p53 inhibition by *p53 dsRNAs* downregulates glycolysis in Myc-overexpressing cells, and *glut1* and *glut3* expression is abolished. The result of this metabolic change is that Myc super-competitor cells lose their capability to out-compete loser cells and to expand and colonise the tissue [168].

# The Aim of the Study

Tumour is a complex and heterogeneous disease in which cancer cells, in constant communication with their surrounding environment, undergo selective processes aimed at gaining strength and malignancy in order to protect their unlimited replicative power and ensure potentially endless descendants.

The aim of this study is to find an essential signature of MYC-mediated cell competition in human cancers and demonstrate a role for this phenomenon in shaping cancer evolution through continuous selection of the fittest cells within the expanding mass.

Chapter 2 Results and Discussion Part 1

# 2.1. Definition of an Essential Signature of MYC-Mediated Cell Competition in Human Epithelial Cancers

In *Drosophila*, dMyc oncoprotein was found to play a role in transforming cells into supercompetitors able to overgrow at the expense of surrounding non over-expressing dMyc cells that are eliminated by *Caspase-3* mediated apoptosis [93].

cMYC over-expression is frequently observed in human cancers [112].

*cMYC* transcription is promoted by YAP (Yes-Associated Protein) in several carcinoma mice models [121] and both these proteins are necessary to induce carcinogenesis in nude mouse models [134]. YAP is found accumulated in the nucleus of several human tumours and it is frequently associated with a high cMYC expression profile [135].

YAP (Yki in *Drosophila*) nuclear translocation is induced by Hpo pathway alterations in both *Drosophila* and humans [190]. These alterations can be triggered by many physical and biochemical stimuli [191] among which loss of A/B cell polarity is prominent in epithelial carcinogenesis [50]. HUGL-1/Lgl delocalisation/absence [61] has been demonstrated to cause YAP/Yki nuclear translocation in human and *Drosophila* cancers. [65] [79] [80] [82].

To verify if signs of MMCC were present in human carcinomas, I hence defined an essential signature of CC in which cMYC overexpression was searched within tumour cells in association with HUGL-1 mislocalisation/absence and YAP nuclear enrichment, as both are involved in Hpo-dependent cMYC overexpression, and *Caspase-3* positive cells were searched out of the tumour mass.





**Figure 2.1:** IHC on human carcinomas (I: colon, II: lung, III: breast lobular, IV: breast ductal) and respective secondary lesions (I a: liver, II a: brain, III a: lymph node, IV a: lymph node). Comparison of the same regions. **A.** Double staining for cMYC (pink) and Cleaved Cas-3 (brown) **B.** Staining for HUGL-1 (brown) **C.** Staining for YAP (brown). Black arrows indicate tumour clones, red arrows indicate lower cMYC levels and Cleaved Cas-3 positive clones (signs of CC). 100X magnification.

In the great part of the samples investigated it was possible to see as MMCC is engaged between tumour cells and the surrounding stromal cell populations.

As expected, tumour cells (red arrow) are characterised by HUGL-1 cytoplasmic localisation/absence, YAP nuclear persistence and cMYC upregulation, while surrounding stromal and immune cells, characterised by a lower cMYC expression level (black arrows), are positive to Cleaved Caspase-3, suggesting they are undergoing apoptosis.

This evidence indicates that CC driven by local differences in cMYC expression is a mechanism by which either primary epithelial tumours and respective metastases (with characteristic loss of A/B polarity and deregulation of the Hpo pathway) with high cMYC levels lead, while expanding, the surrounding non-tumour cells to apoptotic death.

Potentially, CC persists until a difference in cMYC levels is found between neighbouring cells.

## 2.2. Clone Competition - MMCC Within the Cancer Mass.

An interesting observation emerged while analysing the IHC slides in search of CC markers: MMCC seemed to exist even within different tumour cells. In Figure 2.2, adjacent tumour masses are characterised by different patterns of HUGL-1 and YAP (fig 2.2 B and C, black arrows) and different cMYC levels (fig 2.2 A, black arrows). The mass showing lower cMYC levels displays some cells positive to Cleaved Caspase 3 antibody (fig 2.2 A, red arrow), revealing an elimination in progress. This evidence suggests a role for cMYC in clone selection. This kind of MMCC will be referred to as Clone competition.



**Figure 2.2:** IHC on a colon carcinoma sample. Comparison of the same region in sequential slices. **A.** Double staining for cMYC (pink) and Cleaved Cas-3 (brown) **B.** Staining for HUGL-1 (brown) **C.** Staining for YAP (brown). Black arrows indicate tumour clones, the red arrow indicates lower cMYC and Cleaved Cas-3 positive clones. 200X magnification.

Signs of clone competition were found in a large panel of primary carcinomas (fig. 2.3 A) and correspondent secondary tumours (fig 2.3 B), where tumour clones surrounded by higher cMYC-expressing cells undergo apoptosis (fig. 2.3 A and B, black arrows).



Figure 2.3: IHC on several primary (A) and corresponding secondary (B) tumours, MYC (pink) and Cleaved Cas-3 (brown). I- A. Ductal breast carcinoma I- B. Lymph node metastasis II- A. Lung poorly differentiated carcinoma II- B Brain metastasis III-A. Colon adenocarcinoma III- B. Liver metastasis. Black arrows indicate cancer clones characterised by low MYC expression and Cleaved Cas-3 positive staining. 200X magnification.

Taken together, these results obtained by IHC analysis let us hypothesise an important role played by MMCC during carcinogenesis: while CC is useful to shape the tumour mass, enhancing growth at the expense of the surrounding tissue, the mechanism of clone competition selects for clones with higher fitness within the tumour mass, characterised by elevated cMYC oncoprotein levels. Cell competition and clone competition can be seen as two faces of the same coin, playing integrative roles in promoting malignancy and aggressiveness of solid tumours. This study on CC seems also to suggest that elimination of the weaker cells allows the stronger population to overgrow [93] [130].

## 2.3. An in Vitro Model to Study MMCC in Genetically Distant Cells

IHC analysis revealed that signs of MMCC are present in primary and secondary tumours, and this phenomenon seems to occur both between cancer/stromal cells and cancer/cancer cells characterised by a different expression of cMYC oncoprotein. MMCC has been demonstrated to be at work *in vitro* in *Drosophila* cell lines [95] [168] and in mouse fibroblasts [139] but its role has never been investigated between different cancer cells.

To evaluate whether cMYC protein differences are sufficient to drive CC between genetically distant cancer cells, I performed Cell Competition Assays (CCAs). CCA is an *in vitro* cell assay designed to assess competitive interactions occurring between co-plated cell populations compared to their behaviour in separate conditions.

I performed CCAs using two cell line pairs coming from different carcinomas: lung carcinoma H460 and H1975, colorectal carcinoma LS174T and LoVo. All the cell lines were previously characterised for cMYC levels (figure S.I. 1).

The first assay has been performed between lung carcinoma cell lines: H460 and H1975 (figure 2.4), with H460 harbouring higher cMYC levels (figure S.I. 1).



**Figure 2.4:** CCA on H460 and H1975 lung cancer cell lines. Co-cultured cell lines, indicated with **cc**, represent the first two bars of each graph; separated cell lines, indicated with **sep**, are the second two bars of each graph. **A)** Growth after 5h of culture; each assay was repeated 3 times and counted twice. **B)** Apoptotic cell percentage calculated by IF after 5h of culture. H1975 cell line shows the highest Caspase-3 percentage when co-cultured with H460. Each IF was repeated 4 times and 4 fields were counted in each slide.  $\pm$  SEM is indicated.

As can be seen in Figure 2.4 A, H460 cell line in co-culture (red bar) showed a significantly higher growth rate than the H1975 in co-culture (blue bar) and than H460 in a separate condition (red striped bar), showing high competitive advantage; H1975 showed a significant decrease in growth units in co-culture (blue bar) compared to its growth in a separate condition (blue striped bar).

The level of Cleaved-Caspase 3 positive cells in the loser population was more than three times higher compared to the same cell population in separate conditions (Fig. 2.4 B, blue bar), defining a competitive interaction between the two cell lines in which winners induced the losers to undergo apoptosis. The increase of apoptosis in co-culture is a consequence of the activation of competitive interaction between the two populations and explains the low cell number found after the CCA. From the CCA and the Cleaved-Caspase 3 IF we can infer that cells carrying higher cMYC levels are able to out-compete genetically different cells with lower MYC levels.

The CCA was repeated using other two cell lines from different cancers (colorectal adenocarcinoma), where LS174T is characterised by a higher cMYC protein level (figure S.I. 1).



**Figure 2.5:** CCA on LS174T and LoVo colon cancer cell lines. Co-cultured cell lines, indicated with **cc**, represent the first two bars of each graph; separated cell lines, indicated with **sep**, are the second two bars of each graph. A) Growth after 5h of culture; each assay was repeated 4 times and counted twice. B) Apoptotic cell percentage calculated by IF after 5h of culture. LoVo cell line shows the highest Caspase-3 percentage when co-cultured with LS174T. Each IF was repeated 4 times and 4 fields were counted in each slide.  $\pm$  SEM is indicated.

As showed in the CCA graph (Figure 2.5 A), the growth units of the line expressing less cMYC are lower in co-culture than those of the same cell line in separate conditions, and this is associated with a higher percentage of positive Cas-3 cells (figure 2.5 B).

These results obtained in cell lines coming from different tumours confirm that cMYC can play a role in driving competitive interaction between different cancer cells.

To assess if cMYC downregulation in the winner cell line was sufficient to lose the competitive drive, I performed a CCA on the LS174T and LoVo cell line pairs (figure 2.6) following cMYC chemical inhibition in the winner LS174T line, while the LoVo loser cell line was used in native conditions.

Following chemical inhibition, cMYC protein levels were assessed by western blot (WB) in treated LS174T and mocked LoVo. As can be seen in Figure S.I. 2, cMYC inhibition induced a drastic decrease in cMYC levels in the treated LS174T line (lane 2), that were not rescued at the native levels (lane 4) also 5 hours after inhibition (lane 3).



Figure 2.6: CCA on LoVo and LS174Ti colon cancer cell lines. Co-cultured cell lines, indicated with cc, represent the first two bars of each graph; separated cell lines, indicated with sep, are the second two bars of each graph. A) Growth after 5h of culture; each assay was repeated 4 times and counted twice. B) Apoptotic cell percentage calculated by IF after 5h of culture. LS174Ti (treated with the inhibitor 10058:F4) shows the highest Caspase-3 percentage when co-cultured with native LoVo Each IF was repeated 4 times and 4 fields were counted in each slide.  $\pm$  SEM is indicated.

This CCA showed how cMYC inhibition in the LS174T cell line was sufficient to confer a competitive drive to the natively loser LoVo cell line. In fact, co-cultured LT174Ti displayed lower growth units than in separate conditions and the highest percentage of Cas-3 positive cells.

This was clear demonstration that, whatever the genetic distance of two cell populations inhabiting the same field, cMYC modulation is sufficient to change their competitive *status*, suggesting a role for MMCC in the selective growth of early diverged clones and, as a consequence, in cancer evolution.

## 2.4. An in Vitro Model to Study MMCC in Genetically Identical Cells

The IHC investigation revealed the presence of clones, within the carcinoma mass, characterised by different cMYC expression but sharing some molecular features (HUGL-1 delocalisation and YAP nuclear accumulation). This finding may be ascribable to a phenomenon of late genetic drift within the tumour. In a tumour mass composed of sibling cells, some local event may indeed trigger a sudden cMYC up-regulation. In this scenario, MMCC could play a role in the selection of the fittest clones.

In order to evaluate whether differences in MYC levels were sufficient to drive competitive interactions in siblings from the same cancer cell line, I performed CCAs coculturing native cells and cells from the same line in which cMYC-MAX activity was previously inhibited by the same drug as in the previous assays. All the cell lines used in the assays have been previously characterised for the expression of cMYC protein and cMYC target genes before and after the chemical treatment (figure S.I. 3 A and B).

CCAs were performed on the same carcinoma cell lines as in the previous assays: lung carcinoma H460, lung adenocarcinoma H1975 and colorectal adenocarcinoma LoVo and LS174T.



**Figure 2.7:** CCA on H460 lung cancer cell lines. Co-cultured cell lines, indicated with **cc**, represent the first two bars of each graph; separated cell lines, indicated with **sep**, are the second two bars of each graph. A) Growth after 5h of culture; each assay was repeated 4 times and counted twice. B) Apoptotic cell percentage calculated by IF after 5h of culture. H460i (treated with the inhibitor 10058:F4) shows the highest Caspase-3 percentage when co-cultured with mock-treated H460. Each IF was repeated 4 times and 4 fields were counted in each slide.  $\pm$  SEM is indicated.

In this CCA, after 5h of co-culture (fig 2.7 A) the H460 cells treated with the 10058:F4 inhibitor (blue bar) show a significant decrease in growth compared to that of the same cell population plated in separate conditions (blue striped bar); its decrease is associated with a higher percentage of Cas-3 positive cells (fig 2.7 B, blue bar). Simultaneously, the native H460 cell population in co-culture (fig 2.7 A, red bar) exhibits a significative overgrowth compared to its competitor and shows an increased growth if compared to the H460 population plated in separate conditions (red striped bar). Moreover, no significant increase in Cas-3 positive cells was found. Notably, the two cell populations in separate conditions show a similar growth (fig. 2.7 A, red striped and blue striped bars) and a similar Cas-3 positive cell percentage (fig. 2.7 B, red striped and blue striped bars).

This evidence suggests that the inhibition of MYC-MAX activity in the H460 cell line lowered its fitness and made it undergo apoptotic death as a consequence of the co-presence of the H460 fitter cells.

Similar results have been obtained from the CCA performed on H1975 (figure 2.8 A- B), LS174T (figure 2.9 A- B) and LoVo (figure 2.10 A- B) cell lines.



**Figure 2.8:** CCA on H1975 lung cancer cell lines. Co-cultured cell lines, indicated with **cc**, represent the first two bars of each graph; separated cell lines, indicated with **sep**, are the second two bars of each graph. A) Growth after 5h of culture; each assay was repeated 3 times and counted twice. B) Apoptotic cell percentage calculated by IF after 5h of culture. H1975i (treated with the inhibitor 10058:F4) shows the highest Caspase-3 percentage when co-cultured with mock-treated H1975. Each IF was repeated 4 times and 4 fields were counted in each slide.  $\pm$  SEM is indicated



**Figure 2.9:** CCA on LS174T colon cancer cell lines. Co-cultured cell lines, indicated with **cc**, represent the first two bars of each graph; separated cell lines, indicated with **sep**, are the second two bars of each graph. **A)** Growth after 5h of culture; each assay was repeated 3 times and counted twice. **B)** Apoptotic cell percentage calculated by IF after 5h of culture. LS174Ti (treated with the inhibitor 10058:F4) shows the highest Caspase-3 percentage when co-cultured with mock-treated LS174T. Each IF was repeated 4 times and 4 fields were counted in each slide.  $\pm$  SEM is indicated.



Figure 2.10: CCA on LoVo colon cancer cell lines. Co-cultured cell lines, indicated with cc, represent the first two bars of each graph; separated cell lines, indicated with sep, are the second two bars of each graph. A) Growth after 5h of culture; each assay was repeated 3 times and counted twice. B) Apoptotic cell percentage calculated by IF after 5h of culture. LoVoi (treated with the inhibitor 10058:F4) shows the highest Caspase-3 percentage when co-cultured with mock-treated LoVo. Each IF was repeated 4 times and 4 fields were counted in each slide.  $\pm$  SEM is indicated.

During the early stages of cancer development, given the strong selective pressure imposed by the microenvironment, cancer clones can acquire different mutations and only a little proportion of mutant cells, that are not stalled or aborted, are able to initiate a malignant growth.

According to the model of clonal evolution, starting from a cell within a new lesion, the accumulation of mutations gives rise to several phenotypically and genotypically divergent clones until a local new pressure wave or additional mutations occur that regulate the expansion of different clones by mutual competition, called *clonal interference* [7] [16] [28].

Our results obtained *in vitro* suggest that either genetically distant or identical cancer clones may compete each other following sudden changes in cMYC expression. This phenomenon may represent a *selective interference* within tumour bulks, able to drive clone evolution and eventually shaping cancer mass.

## 2.5. An in Vivo Model to study MMCC in Cancer

The data collected from the CCAs performed in cell culture let us hypothesise that, whatever the mutational burden of a cell population and whatever its fitness, Myc inhibition weakens its overall performance while sharing its living space with Myc-expressing neighbours.

That's all the functional information we can get from an *in vitro* assay, but many issues remain unaddressed: what happens to cancer cells if they start to up- or down-regulate Myc while embedded in an expanding tumour? And what happens to neighbours? Do local competitive interactions have an impact at a distance or is their effect just sensed in a restricted area? What is the impact of MMCC on the overall tumour size?

To answer these evolutive questions, I carried out an *in vivo* assay that allowed induction of Myc up- or down-regulating clones within a tumour mass growing in the animal and collection of a series of retrospective data.



The image on the right is a section of an epithelial tumour growing within the  $l(2)gl^4$  mutant larva. As described in the *Introduction*, in fact, the *lgl* LOF mutation in a homotypic background triggers loss of A/B cell polarity and uncontrolled proliferation (see the *wild-type* organ on the left for a comparison).

Epithelial tumours induced by the LOF of neoplastic TSGs *in Drosophila* are known to show altered metabolism, dedifferentiation and upregulation of cytokine-like ligands, which drive tumour overgrowth [192]. In addition, several oncoproteins as Myc, dpERK

and pAKT are found overexpressed in theses organs, together with JNK-dependent expression of MMPs, nuclear accumulation of the Hpo pathway downstream effector Yki with its target dIAP1, and stabilisation of the HIF1 $\alpha$  *Drosophila* homologue Sima in response to oxygen shortage [14]. Overall tissue architecture is compromised and cancer cells/clones undergo massive molecular and morphological separation. Despite *lgl* mutation is ubiquitous in the animal, each cell seems indeed to develop different disregulation patterns within the growing masses [14] and possibly different genetic and epigenetic alterations emerge that, as it happens in mammalian cancers, shape cancer evolution through sub-clone competition and interference [16] [28]

*lgl* zygotes lacking maternal contribution die as embryos; maternal supply is hence sufficient to sustain the earliest stages of development [193] since Lgl is a highly stable protein[194]. Several cell cycles are indeed required before Lgl is completely depleted from the cell and its LOF phenotypes become evident; as a consequence, *lgl* mutant discs are not frankly malignant until 5 days from egg laying, despite they are composed at this stage of about one-third of the cells found in a *wild-type* disc [52]. Larval development lasts in the mutant larvae for additional 5-7 days, with late individuals showing huge masses that completely fill their anterior half.

In this context, I induced  $l(2)gl^4$  (*neutral*),  $l(2)gl^4$ , UAS-HAdm (myc<sup>OVER</sup>) or  $l(2)gl^4$ , UASdmRNAi (myc<sup>KD</sup>) clones at different stages of cancer progression and analysed, later in development, the phenotypic consequences of clone induction..

#### 2.5.1. Induction of MMCC in Genetically Distant Cells: the 6+2 Scheme

With the aim to study how the emergence of MMCC in a late stage of cancer growth can shape both cell behaviour and overall tumour mass, I induced *neutral*, *myc*<sup>OVER</sup> and *myc*<sup>KD</sup> clones in an *lgl* LOF background at day 6, at a stage in which the wing imaginal discs show obvious neoplastic growth, and collect target tissues after two additional days of development (see *In Vivo Materials and Methods* for details). At day 8, GFP-positive larvae were selected under a fluorescence microscope, discarding those bearing large clones in the fat bodies, as it is known that Myc modulation in those tissues modifies organismal growth through the release of insulin-like peptides by the brain IPCs [195]. After having captured disc image with a dedicated camera to calculate disc volume, I dissociated them and counted GFP-positive and GFP-negative cells. As can be appreciated in Figure 2.11, GFP-positive cell percentage was much higher in the *myc*<sup>OVER</sup> sample than

in the *neutral* control (35,44% compared to 20,31%) and, contrarywise, it was significatively decreased in the  $myc^{KD}$  sample (8,35% compared to 20,31%).



GFP<sup>+</sup> and GFP<sup>-</sup> cells in 6+2

**Figure 2.11:** Percentage of GFP-positive (Green) and GFP-negative (Grey) cells from 8 days-old *lgl*, *lgl*  $myc^{OVER}$  and *lgl*  $myc^{KD}$  dissociated wing discs. Each assay was repeated 3 times and counted twice.  $\pm$  SEM is indicated.

This result showed that Myc clonal upregulation in a tumour context is sufficient to drive expansion of the Myc-overexpressing population and that, on the contrary, Myc downregulation in cancer cells restrains their proliferation.

But what about the final tumour mass? I calculated the volume of each disc approximating its shape to a prolate spheroid, whose volume can be obtained by the formula:  $4/3\pi a^2b$ .

As can be seen in Figure 2.12, while at day 6, before clone induction, the masses of the three samples were comparable in size, after two additional days of growth they appeared amazingly different: the average size of the  $myc^{OVER}$  sample displayed an about 2.5 fold increase with respect to that of the *neutral* sample and, contrarywise, tumour mass appeared reduced to one-half in the  $myc^{KD}$  sample.

## 6+2/6 Mass Comparison



**Figure 2.12:** Masses of *lgl*, *lgl*  $myc^{OVER}$  and *lgl*  $myc^{KD}$  cancer tissues before (6 days, lower areas) and after (8 days, upper areas) clone induction. Each assay was repeated 3 times and counted twice.  $\pm$  SEM is indicated.

This was convincing evidence that both up- and downregulation of Myc during cancer progression can help shape cancer evolution and, as a consequence, final size.

With the aim to analyse the contribution of the GFP-positive and the GFP-negative cells to the masses grown after clone induction (that is from day 6 to day 8), I calculated the average volumes of *lgl*, *lgl myc*<sup>OVER</sup> and *lgl myc*<sup>KD</sup> cells (see *In Vivo Materials and Methods* for details):

*lgl* cells:  $GFP^+ = 0.752 \text{ px}^3$ ;  $GFP^- = 0.752 \text{ px}^3$  *lgl* myc<sup>OVER</sup> cells:  $GFP^+ = 0.989 \text{ px}^3$ ;  $GFP^- = 0.8 \text{ px}^3$ *lgl* myc<sup>KD</sup> cells:  $GFP^+ = 0.518 \text{ px}^3$ ;  $GFP^- = 0.62 \text{ px}^3$
GFP<sup>+</sup> and GFP<sup>-</sup> masses after hs



**Figure 2.13:** Relative masses occupied by the GFP<sup>+</sup> (Green) and the GFP<sup>-</sup> (Grey) cells in *lgl*, *lgl*  $myc^{OVER}$  and *lgl*  $myc^{KD}$  cancer tissues grown after clone induction.  $\pm$  SEM is indicated.

Of note, as can be observed in Figure 2.13, both GFP<sup>+</sup> and GFP<sup>-</sup> populations expanded in *lgl myc*<sup>OVER</sup> tumours with respect to the neutral *lgl* masses and, on the other hand, both GFP<sup>+</sup> and GFP<sup>-</sup> populations collapsed in *lgl myc*<sup>KD</sup> samples. The GFP<sup>+</sup>  $Myc^{OVER}/neutral$  mass ratio was 6.75 and the GFP<sup>-</sup>  $Myc^{OVER}/neutral$  mass ratio was 2.53, while the GFP<sup>+</sup>  $Myc^{KD}/neutral$  mass ratio was 0.057 and the GFP<sup>-</sup>  $Myc^{KD}/neutral$  mass ratio was 0.19. Let's take a closer look to these numbers. In both  $Myc^{OVER}$  and  $Myc^{KD}$  samples, the major contribution to mass increase/decrease is due to the GFP<sup>+</sup> population, demonstrating a genuine autonomous role of Myc modulation on cell growth and proliferation. The evidence that the untouched populations follow the same trend of the manipulated populations let us hypothesise that  $Myc^{OVER}$  and  $Myc^{KD}$  cells prime some non-autonomous phenomena which in turn amplify/constrain overall growth.

I thus performed IF assays for Myc and Cas3 proteins, with the aim to investigate what happens at the interface between the GFP<sup>+</sup> and the GFP<sup>-</sup> cells during cancer expansion.

In Figure 2.14 a tumourous organ is represented in which neutral, *lgl* clones have been induced. Independently of the GFP signal, we can observe several cell clusters in which Myc staining is lower compared to the surrounding cells, that result positive to Cas3 signal (arrows). This means that MMCC may be regularly at work in these masses.

In the successive Figure (2.15) I show a closer view of a similar phenomenon: cells expressing very low levels of Myc (dotted line) surrounded by cells with high Myc expression are committed to die, as it is confirmed by a strong Cas3 staining.



**Figure 2.14:** GFP<sup>+</sup> neutral clones induced in an  $l(2)gl^4$  mutant background. Myc staining is in red and Cas3 staining is in cyan. The arrows indicate cells with low Myc protein positive to a-Cas3 antibody. Magnification is 400X.



**Figure 2.15:** GFP<sup>+</sup> neutral clones induced in an  $l(2)gl^4$  mutant background. Myc staining is in red and Cas3 staining is in cyan. The dotted line encircles a Cas3-positive area showing low Myc levels with respect to the neighbouring cells. Magnification is 800X.

These data suggest that MMCC is normally at work in these tumours, and it shapes cancer evolution through the elimination of the less fit cells (with lower levels of Myc protein) allowing the expansion of the most performant ones (with higher levels of Myc protein). Concerning MMCC, these cancers seem thus to recapitulate what happens in physiological conditions during *Drosophila* [93] [109] and mammalian [136] [137] development, but growth is not allometric in cancer and final size may be surprising.



**Figure 2.16:** GFP<sup>+</sup>  $lgl myc^{OVER}$  clones induced in an  $l(2)gl^4$  mutant background. Myc staining is in red and Cas3 staining is in cyan. The arrows indicate GFP<sup>-</sup>, Cas3-positive areas showing lower Myc levels with respect to the neighbouring cells. Magnification is 400X.

A partial answer came from the IF carried out on *myc*<sup>OVER</sup> samples. As can be seen in Figure 2.16, several cell groups with low Myc levels encircled by or adjacent to GFP-positive cells with high Myc expression show strong Cas3 signal (arrows indicate some). This demonstrates that, through clonal induction of Myc, we are enhancing the same mechanism as in the previous experiment: in this case, cells catching an "overdose" of Myc respond showing super-competitive behaviour in the tissue.

Figure 2.17 focuses closely on the same phenomenon: GFP-negative cells (marked by a dotted line) surrounded by high GFP-positive, high Myc-expressing neighbours succumb, losing the battle for space occupancy within the growing mass.



**Figure 2.17:** GFP<sup>+</sup>  $lgl myc^{OVER}$  clones induced in an  $l(2)gl^4$  mutant background. Myc staining is in red and Cas3 staining is in cyan. The dotted lines indicate GFP<sup>-</sup>, Cas3-positive areas showing lower Myc levels with respect to the neighbouring cells. Magnification is 800X.

Another interesting observation concerns the fact that I found very few *myc*<sup>OVER</sup> cells dying within the sample I examined: this sounded unusual, as Myc ectopic expression is known to induce massive autonomous cell death in the fruit fly [126]; it is however known that, also in mammals, normal cells respond to high Myc levels by undergoing apoptosis, whereas tumour cells resist the apoptotic effects of Myc [196]. The cells in which I induced Myc upregulation have definitely passed multiple rounds of apoptosis, and survivors are somehow "addicted" to Myc: an overdose of this protein can thus be redirected to boost growth, proliferation and competitive drive.

In addition, those cells show deregulation of the Hpo pathway with nuclear accumulation of the anti-apoptotic protein dIAP1[14], which directly targets effector caspases in *Drosophila* [197].

Beside a huge expansion of the winner population, an increase of the GFP-negative mass was also noticed (Figure 2.13); a possible explanation for this observation is that some signalling molecules are secreted by both losers and winners, such as cytokine-like ligands, [192] that, catched by surrounding competent cells, may help amplify the original signals and contribute to the overall growth of the tumour.



**Figure 2.18:** GFP<sup>+</sup> *lgl myc*<sup>KD</sup> clones induced in an  $l(2)gl^4$  mutant background. Myc staining is in red and Cas3 staining is in cyan. The arrows lines indicate GFP<sup>+</sup>, Cas3-positive cells showing low Myc levels with respect to the neighbouring cells. Magnification is 400X.

Opposite results have been obtained following induction of *myc*<sup>KD</sup> clones in the growing cancers. As can be observed in Figure 2.18, discs are smaller with respect to both *neutral* 

and  $myc^{OVER}$  samples (Figg. 2.14 and 2.16) and express low levels of Myc protein. This restriction in organ size had already been observed by mass calculation (Figure 2.12) and, as for the previous sample, GFP-negative cells seem to follow the same trend of the GFP-positive population; in this case, native cells are under-represented with respect to the control sample (Figure 2.13).



**Figure 2.19:** GFP<sup>+</sup> *lgl myc*<sup>KD</sup> clones induced in an  $l(2)gl^4$  mutant background. Myc staining is in red and Cas3 staining is in cyan. The arrows lines indicate GFP<sup>+</sup>, Cas3-positive cells showing low Myc levels with respect to the neighbouring cells. The arrowheads point to native GFP<sup>-</sup>, Cas3-positive cells showing low Myc levels with respect to the neighbouring cells. Magnification is 800X.

In Figure 2.19 a closer view is presented in which a myriad of GFP-positive,  $myc^{KD}$  cells undergo PCD. In addition, arrowheads indicate some native, Myc-downregulating cells that are out-competed by neighbouring Myc-positive cells.

Possibly, the introduction of a number of losers  $(myc^{KD})$  in the system triggers a "relaxation" of the original MMCC: the native cells expressing low levels of Myc are now able to outcompete the newcomers as lower Myc levels are sufficient to win the competition in this context. The stressful metabolic cost of the winners can thus be limited, inducing cells to slow down their overall growth and proliferation rates.

## 2.5.2. Induction of MMCC in Genetically Related Cells: the 2+6 Scheme

After having observed what happens following induction of *neutral*, *myc*<sup>OVER</sup> and *myc*<sup>KD</sup> clones at a stage in which the wing imaginal disc is frankly malignant, we were interested in carrying out the same experiments as above in an epithelial organ well before the onset of cancer. As specified above, *lgl* mutant epithelia do not show any signs of neoplasia until the Lgl protein is completely depleted, that is 5 days from egg deposition. I thus induced the mutant clones at 2 days from egg laying and let larvae develop for additional 6 days before dissection and analysis. Cell count was performed as in the previous scheme and the results are illustrated in Figure 2.20.





**Figure 2.20:** Percentage of GFP-positive (Green) and GFP-negative (Grey) cells from 8 (2+6) days-old *lgl*, *lgl myc*<sup>OVER</sup> and *lgl myc*<sup>KD</sup> dissociated wing discs. Each assay was repeated 3 times and counted twice.  $\pm$  SEM is indicated.

As can be appreciated in the figure, I was able to find very few GFP-positive cells compared to the previous scheme, although the relative numbers gave similar information: the GFP-positive cells in the  $myc^{OVER}$  sample were about 2-fold those found in the *neutral* sample and the  $myc^{KD}$  masses contained about 1/10 GFP<sup>+</sup> cells with respect to the *neutral* masses. This was convincing evidence that, whatever the stage at which Myc deregulation occurs in a developing mass, its increase supports autonomous growth and its reduction is detrimental for the cell.



2+6 Mass Comparison

**Figure 2.21:** Masses of *lgl*, *lgl*  $myc^{OVER}$  and *lgl*  $myc^{KD}$  cancer tissues at 6 days from clone induction. Each assay was repeated 3 times and counted twice.  $\pm$  SEM is indicated.

A surprising result came from mass calculation: while  $myc^{KD}$  samples were comparable in size to the *neutral* controls,  $myc^{OVER}$  tumours showed enormous growth, with the final mass more than threefold the control one. As this did not correlate with a GFP-positive huge number, some questions have to be addressed before drawing opportune conclusions. In principle, clone induction has similar efficiency when heat pulse duration, temperature and other experimental conditions are similar; this implies that a comparable percentage of cells undergoes Flippase-mediated excision in the target tissue. Being the 2-days *lgl* wing disc composed of about one-hundred cells, it it plausible that very few are modified by our manipulation, and this explains why the  $myc^{KD}$  sample was comparable in size to the neutral one: the few  $myc^{KD}$  cells induced at the very beginning of development are

immediately out-competed by the sorrounding epithelium and the tumour follows its native course.

It is more difficult to find a convincing reason for the behaviour of the *myc*<sup>OVER</sup> tumours: the few mutant cells induced at the beginning of disc development may justify the scarce percentage of GFP-positive cells found in this sample, but this does not account for the huge non-autonomous mass overgrowth. It is possible that local MMCC provokes a wave of pro-growth signals across the expanding mass and that competent cells are able to amplify these signals, but it is also possible that the GFP construct got lost because of genomic instability happened in these masses. It is indeed demonstrated that some tumours show genomic instability in *Drosophila* [198], but it doesn't not seems to be associated with all the neoplastic mutations [199]. Current work is aimed at addressing this interesting issue.

Chapter 2 Results and Discussion Part 2

## The premise of the study

Lgl/HUGL-1 is a protein involved in the maintenance of the A/B cell polarity; cells mutant for *lgl/HUGL-1* loosen each other contacts, grow in 3D and the epithelium shows deep alterations in its overall architecture [52]. Loss of cell polarity induces, in turn, inactivation of the Hpo pathway, Yki/YAP nuclear accumulation and transcription of many proliferative and anti-apoptotic targets, included dMyc/MYC [130][134]. Cells overexpressing MYC can, in some contexts, trigger competitive interactions and expand at the expense of the normal surrounding tissue, eliminated by apoptotic death.

*p53* is one of the most frequently mutated genes in human cancers and the function of its several mutant products and dominant negative forms is not clear.

A very recent work focused the attention on a fundamental role for p53 in MMCC in *Drosophila*, according to which the presence of the *wild-type* p53 protein in Myc over-expressing cells is required to gain a winner status and out-compete the neighbours [168].

Our IHC analysis showed that some essential traits of CC in *Drosophila* [52][130][66] are conserved in a large collection of samples from primary and secondary human carcinomas.

In addition to this, our *in vitro* experiments defined a role for cMYC in driving the winner fate during competitive interactions in human cancer cells lines, and its down-regulation was found to be sufficient to revert the phenomenon.

Finally, our *in vivo* investigations demonstrated how MMCC is involved in shaping the final tumour mass and in selecting the fittest cells in *Drosophila* epithelial tumourigenesis.

## The Aim of the study

This part of the study aims at characterising the role of p53 in MMCC using cellular and animal cancer models in which p53 function will be opportunely modulated.

2.6. MMCC in Human Carcinomas Seems to be Associated with p53 Protein Status Although the most part of the primary and secondary carcinomas analysed by IHC showed evident signs of MMCC (Fig 2.1), clear evidence was missing in some samples. In the view of the very recent work by the Johnston's group [168]. I decided to correlate the status of p53, evaluated through an antibody that recognises both the *wild-type* and the mutant forms of the protein, with MMCC in the same samples previously analysed (fig. 2.22).



**Figure 2.22:** IHC on several human carcinomas: (A) MYC (pink) and Cleaved Cas-3 (brown). (B) p53 (pink) I-. lung adenocarcinoma (A) signs of CC: cancer cells show high levels of c-MYC protein surrounded by stromal cells with high staining for Cleaved Caspase-3; (B) p53 staining shows high accumulation of the protein in the nucleus of cancer cells (200X). II- ductal breast carcinoma. (A) signs of CC (B) presence of p53 with no massive nuclear accumulation (100X). III- colon adenocarcinoma (A) no evident signs of CC, (B) absence of p53 staining, (200X). The arrows point towards the dying cells.

The following expected scenario was found: in human samples where markers of MMCC were found (fig. 2.22 IA and IIB, black arrows indicate Cas-3 positive cells) p53 nuclear staining was evident (fig 2.22 IIA and IIB), while in samples where the Cas-3 signal resulted absent in the stroma surrounding the cMYC-expressing mass (fig. 2.22 III- A), p53 staining was negative.

This qualitative analysis led us to perform *in vitro* CCAs to study p53 implication in mammalian MMCC.

## 2.7. The Winner Status of Cancer Cells Requires p53 Function

To experimentally evaluate the involvement of the *wild-type* p53 function in MMCC in cancer, I performed the same CCAs as in Part 1 using two cell lines from the same human colorectal carcinoma: HCT116 (hereafter called HCT116<sup>wt</sup>) and HCT116<sup>p53-/-</sup>.

The HCT116<sup>p53-/-</sup> cell line was established by targeted homologous recombination by Bunz and colleagues from the parental colorectal carcinoma HCT116<sup>wt</sup> line [200].

The two cell populations are genetically identical, except for the p53 mutation: HCT11<sup>p53-/-</sup> harbours the p53 exon 3 deletion, resulting in an inactive form of the protein unable to be revealed by the p53 antibody Do-1; cMYC protein levels were comparable in the two cell lines (fig. S.I. 5).

I performed the first CCA between the HCT116<sup>*wt*</sup> and the HCT116<sup>*wt*</sup> treated with the 10058:F4 inhibitor (fig. 2.23) to evaluate whether differences in cMYC may activate competitive behaviours also in this cell population. Preliminary characterisation of the cell lines used in this part of the work, before and after treatment with the drug 10058:F4, has been performed (fig. S.I. 6 A and B).



**Figure 2.23:** CCA on HCT116<sup>wt</sup> and HCT116<sup>wt</sup> i colon cancer cell lines. Co-cultured cell lines, indicated with **cc**, represent the first two bars of each graph; separated cell lines, indicated with **sep**, are the second two bars of each graph. A) Growth after 5h of culture; each assay was repeated 3 times and counted twice. B) Apoptotic cell percentage calculated by IF after 5h of culture. HCT116<sup>wt</sup>i (treated with the inhibitor 10058:F4) shows the highest Caspase-3 percentage when co-cultured with mock-treated HCT116<sup>wt</sup>. Each IF was repeated 4 times and 4 fields were counted in each slide.  $\pm$  SEM is indicated.

As can be noted in Figure 2.23 A, after 5 hours of CCA the two cell lines show different growth rates in co-culture and in separate conditions: the  $HCT116^{wt}$  in a native condition (red bar) overgrow compared to the  $HCT116^{wt}$ i (blue bar), whereas the two cell populations show similar growth rates in separate conditions (red striped and blue striped bar). The growth disadvantage of the treated cell population in co-culture is associated with the highest Cas-3 positive signal (fig. 2.23 B, blue bar).

These data show that MMCC can be induced in this cell line.

With the aim to evaluate if p53 protein played a role in loser cells during MMCC, I performed a CCA between the HCT116<sup>wt</sup> and the HCT116<sup>p53-/-</sup> treated with the inhibitor 10058:F4 (fig. 2.24) as above.



**Figure 2.24:** CCA on HCT116<sup>wt</sup> and HCT116<sup>p53-/-</sup>i colon cancer cell lines. Co-cultured cell lines, indicated with **cc**, represent the first two bars of each graph; separated cell lines, indicated with **sep**, are the second two bars of each graph. A) Growth after 5h of culture; each assay was repeated 4 times and counted twice. B) Apoptotic cell percentage calculated by IF after 5h of culture. HCT116<sup>p53-/-</sup>i (treated with the inhibitor 10058:F4) shows the highest Caspase-3 percentage when co-cultured with mock-treated HCT116<sup>wt</sup>. Each IF was repeated 4 times and 4 fields were counted in each slide.  $\pm$  SEM is indicated.

The assay showed similar results as those from the previous one, as the HCT116<sup>wt</sup> and HCT116<sup>*p*53-/-</sup>i in co-culture exhibited the typical competitive behaviour according to the growth units (fig. 2.24 A) and the profile of Cas-3 staining (fig 2.24 B). The result of this experiment, associated with a CCA performed using two other cancer cell lines, H460 and H1299 (fig. S.I. 7), in which the first line has higher expression level of cMYC protein than the H1299, which harbor an homozygous partial deletion of the p53 protein (fig. S.I. 8), strongly indicated that p53 LOF in loser cells does not affect MMCC both in genetically distant and identical cancer cell lines.

Finally, to verify whether p53 *wild-type* protein is required in the winner cells to induce MMCC, I performed a CCA between HCT116<sup>*p*53-/-</sup> and HCT116<sup>*wt*</sup>I cell lines, where the potential winner (based on cMYC levels) harbours a p53 deletion.



**Figure 2.25:** CCA on HCT116<sup>p53-/-</sup> and HCT116<sup>wt</sup>i colon cancer cell lines. Co-cultured cell lines, indicated with **cc**, represent the first two bars of each graph; separated cell lines, indicated with **sep**, are the second two bars of each graph. **A)** Growth after 5h of culture; each assay was repeated 4 times and counted twice. **B)** Apoptotic cell percentage calculated by IF after 5h of culture. Each IF was repeated 4 times and 4 fields were counted in each slide.  $\pm$  SEM is indicated.

The graph shown in Figure 2.25(A) illustrates how the potential winner cell line does not show differences in growth units compared to the potential loser population, defining the absence of competitive interactions, coherent with the hypothesis that p53 is required in MYC-overexpressing cells to drive CC. No significative variations emerged in proliferative units between co-culture and separate conditions.

Moreover, as can be seen in Figure 2.25 (B), the percentage of Cleaved-Caspase 3 positive cells is coherent with the CC assay count: none of the cell lines showed an increase in apoptosis in co-culture.

Further confirmation of this behaviour was achieved through a CCA assessed between the  $HCT116^{p53-/-}$  and  $HCT116^{p53-/-}$  i lines (fig. 2.26 A and B ): it can be seen that competition does not occur between the p53 KO lines even if a strong difference in cMYC protein levels is induced between the two.

(A)

**(B)** 



**Figure 2.26:** CCA on HCT116<sup>p53-/-</sup> and HCT116<sup>p53-/-</sup> i colon cancer cell lines. Co-cultured cell lines, indicated with **cc**, represent the first two bars of each graph; separated cell lines, indicated with **sep**, are the second two bars of each graph. A) Growth after 5h of culture; each assay was repeated 3 times and counted twice. B) Apoptotic cell percentage calculated by IF after 5h of culture. Each IF was repeated 4 times and 4 fields were counted in each slide.  $\pm$  SEM is indicated.

The two cell populations in co-culture showed a similar growth (fig. 2.26 A, red and blue bars) lower than that observed in separate conditions (fig. 2.26 A, striped bars), and their Cas-3 positive cells (fig. 2.26 B, red and blue bars) are coherently slightly higher than in separate conditions (fig. 2.26 B, striped bars).

The results of these experiments confirmed the hypothesis that a p53 *wild-type* function is required also in humans for MMCC to occur. The effect is not organ-specific as the same results have been obtained using the lung cancer line H1299 (fig. S.I. 9), whose its MYC-MAX activity has previously been inhibited (fig. S.I. 10)

## 2.8. Differences in p53 Status do not Drive CC in Cancer Cells

Noteworthy, a different *status* of p53 is not sufficient to induce MMCC in HCT116 cancer cell lines.

This evidence was obtained from a CCA where the HCT116<sup>wt</sup> and the HCT116<sup>p53-/-</sup> cell lines, expressing similar levels of the cMYC protein (fig S.I. 5), were used for the assay.

**(B)** 



**Figure 2.27:** CCA on HCT116<sup>wt</sup> and HCT116<sup>p53-/-</sup> colon cancer cell lines. Co-cultured cell lines, indicated with **cc**, represent the first two bars of each graph; separated cell lines, indicated with **sep**, are the second two bars of each graph. A) Growth after 5h of culture; each assay was repeated 4 times and counted twice. B) Apoptotic cell percentage calculated by IF after 5h of culture. Each IF was repeated 4 times and 4 fields were counted in each slide.  $\pm$  SEM is indicated.

The growth units graph (fig. 2.27) does not show any competitive interactions at work as the two cell lines in co-culture (fig. 2.27 A, red and blue bars) exhibit similar proliferative rates. This seems to be a typical growth profile of populations where competitive interactions are relaxed (see fig 2.27).

Their apoptotic death (fig. 2.27 B, red and blue bars) appear to be higher than cells grown in separate wells, maybe as a result of the stress induced by the co-presence.

Altogether, these results demonstrate that p53 function is necessary downstream of MYC upregulation in the winner cells to assure their survival, growth and competitive capabilities.

# 2.9. Back to Drosophila: in Vivo CCA in a Cooperative Model of Carcinogenesis de la Cova and colleagues demonstrated that p53 *wild-type* function is required in Myc-overexpressing cells to successfully out-compete the neighbours and overgrow during normal development [168], but evidence is still missing about a similar role of p53 in MMCC during cancer growth.

After having performed the CCA in human cancer cell lines and having collected plenty of data about a possible role of p53 in MMCC *in vitro*, we wanted to confirm this evidence *in vivo*.

I carried out a series of experiments with the aim to investigate the contribution of p53 to MMCC as a specific trait of carcinogenesis. I took advantage of a cooperative cancer model that uses the  $l(2)gl^4$  tumour suppressor mutation induced in a clonal fashion together with the over-expression of Myc (Myc<sup>over</sup>); the cooperation between *lgl* LOF and Myc GOF is indeed known to trigger competitive overgrowth in the wing disc [141].

Through the use of the MARCM system (see *Materials and Methods*) I induced the following clones:

- *lgl* mutation  $(l(2)gl^4)$  together with Myc overexpression (Myc<sup>over</sup>);

- lgl mutation ( $l(2)gl^4$ ) together with Myc overexpression (Myc<sup>over</sup>) and p53<sup>KD</sup> (an RNAi construct that decreased the p53 transcript to about 50% at 25°C, mimicking a heterozygous condition, (fig. S.I. 11);

- lgl mutation ( $l(2)gl^4$ ) together with Myc overexpression (Myc<sup>over</sup>) and p53<sup>DN</sup> (used as a p53 LOF [201]);

As can be seen in Figure 2.28,  $l(2)gl^4$ ,  $Myc^{over}$  clones are able to overgrow in any region of the disc. Of note, these mutant clones often appear to merge and many GFP-positive cells are found scattered throughout the wing pouch, a clear sign of migration (see Fig. 2.28 A) attributable to the malignant nature of these cells, as *Drosophila* normal or hyperplastic clones grow compact, with daughter cells remaining side by side (141). This feature seems to be rescued in both  $l(2)gl^4$ ,  $Myc^{over}$ ,  $p53^{KD}$  and  $l(2)gl^4$ ,  $Myc^{over}$ ,  $p53^{DN}$  clones (Fig. 2.28 B- C).



**Figure 2.28:** Imaginal wing discs from  $l(2)gl^4$ ,  $Myc^{over}$  (**A**),  $l(2)gl^4$ ,  $Myc^{over}$ ,  $p53^{KD}$  (**B**) and  $l(2)gl^4$ ,  $Myc^{over}$ ,  $p53^{DN}$  (**C**) L3 larvae. GFP<sup>+</sup> clones are black (0XLgl) and twin clones are intense red (2XLgl), while the background is red (1XLgl). The dotted line encircles the wing pouch region of the discs.

To support this morphological evidence, I carried out a measurement of the clonal mutant areas in the wing pouch region (encircled by dotted lines in Figure 2.17) whose results are illustrated in figures 2.18- 2.20.

The statistical analysis performed on  $l(2)gl^4$ , Myc<sup>over</sup>,  $p53^{KD}$  clones showed that average clone area is reduced to about 50% (fig. 2.30) respect to that of the  $l(2)gl^4$ , Myc<sup>over</sup> clones (Figure 2.29), and to about 25% in  $l(2)gl^4$ , Myc<sup>over</sup>,  $p53^{DN}$  clones (Figure 2.31).





**Figure 2.29:** Average clonal area of  $l(2)gl^4$ ,  $Myc^{over}$  clones (blue) and wild-type twins (grey). For each sample, 20 clones in different wing discs have been measured at 200X magnification. Error bars represent the SEM.



**Figure 2.30:** Average clonal area of  $l(2)gl^4$ ,  $Myc^{over}$ ,  $p53^{KD}$  clones (blue) and wild-type twins (grey). For each sample, 20 clones in different wing discs have been measured at 200X magnification. Error bars represent the SEM.

### **Clonal areas**



**Figure 2.31:** Average clonal area of  $l(2)gl^4$ ,  $Myc^{over}$ ,  $p53^{DN}$  clones (blue) and wild-type twins (grey). For each sample, 20 clones in different wing discs have been measured at 200X magnification. Error bars represent the SEM.

These results suggest that p53 partial/complete LOF is able to restrict both clonal expansion and malignancy of  $l(2)gl^4$ , Myc<sup>over</sup> cells in the wing disc. This cell-autonomous growth restriction is a counterintuitive evidence, as heterozygous/homozygous p53 loss is known to support growth and malignancy in a variety of biological systems [202]. The oncogenic side of p53 has just begun to be investigated, but it is possible that in this particular trait of tumourigenesis, that is MMCC, p53 loss perturbs the metabolic *status* of the Myc<sup>over</sup> cells thus decreasing their neoplastic potential.

Further to show the cell-autonomous role of p53 in tumourigenesis, my analysis on clonal areas highlighted an interesting non-autonomous trait of the phenomenon we are investigating.

As can be seen in Figure 2.32, the *wild-type* twins of the  $l(2)gl^4$ , Myc<sup>over</sup>,  $p53^{KD}$  clones are not statistically different from the *wild-type* twins of the  $l(2)gl^4$ , Myc<sup>over</sup> clones. This means that a partial loss of p53 is able to rescue growth and malignancy of the  $l(2)gl^4$ , Myc<sup>over</sup> cells, but it does not seem to affect their competitive properties.

On the contrary, the *wild-type* twins of the  $l(2)gl^4$ , Myc<sup>over</sup>,  $p53^{DN}$  clones are statistically greater with respect to both others. Being the twins of all the mutant clones composed of genetically identical cells (*wild-type*), this statistical difference is obviously due to the different genotypes of the neighbour mutant clones, showing that complete removal of p53 severely impairs  $l(2)gl^4$ , Myc<sup>over</sup> cells' competitive drive.

Taken together, these data seem to indicate that clonal expansion and competitive ability are separable traits of cancer. Further analysis is however necessary to confirm and examine in depth this interesting evidence.



**Clonal areas** 

**Figure 2.32:** Average clonal area of the wild-type twins of  $l(2)gl^4$ ,  $Myc^{over}$  (left bar);  $l(2)gl^4$ ,  $Myc^{over}$ ,  $p53^{KD}$  (central bar) and  $l(2)gl^4$ ,  $Myc^{over}$ ,  $p53^{DN}$  (right bar) clones. For each sample, 20 clones in different wing discs have been measured at 200X magnification. Error bars represent the SEM.

Chapter 3 Conclusions Cancer is a heterogeneous and complex disease, with cells showing distant phenotypes as a result of dynamic changes in their genome.

Its extraordinary variety led researchers to arrange a taxonomic organisation where *quasi*classes, genera and species characterised by divergent cells of origin make every cancer individually unique.

Cancer evolves by continuous processes of clonal expansion, genetic diversification and clonal selection within tissue ecosystems. Therapeutic intervention may decimate cancer clones and disrupt their habitats, but it provides unavoidably a potent selective pressure for the expansion of resistant variants.

To understand cancer genetic dynamics it is important to recognise it as a population in constant crosstalk with its surrounding environment. Thus cancer has to be viewed and analysed as an evolving ecosystem where cells are in constant communication and interaction with their environment. Populations, in order to use more and more resources to survive and proliferate, can elaborate strategies of ecological interactions listed as positive, as commensalism, synergism and mutualism, and negative as predation, parasitism, amensalism and competition, where one population is inhibited or eliminated by another one that gains advantages in space and resources.

The work I presented demonstrates that MYC-Mediated Cell Competition (MMCC) is at work during cancer progression, and this phenomenon seems to represent a central mechanism necessary for cancer clone selection and tumour mass expansion.

My investigation revealed typical signs of MMCC in human carcinomas, not only between cancer cells and the surrounding stromal tissue but, surprisingly, clear signs were also found within tumour cells, making us speculate that CC is used by the tumour mass to kill neighbours and gain a bigger amount of available resources and space, but also to select for the fittest clones amid cancer sub-populations. In this context, MMCC and its selective weapon, the MYC protein, represent a clear example of *clonal interference* aimed at gaining even more resistant behaviours.

I then developed an *in vitro* clone competition assay to demonstrate that MMCC is able to shape clone evolution in different contexts. I co-cultured pairs of genetically distant cell lines (to mimic MMCC between early diverged cancer clones) and genetically identical

cell lines (to mimic MMCC between late diverged cancer clones) and the results I obtained confirmed that MYC protein modulation is *per se* sufficient to subvert their competitive behaviours.

At this point, in order to find some answers to the evolutive questions related to MMCC, I chose to find a way to define the contribution of MMCC to tumour evolution *in vivo*, and I decided to develop a clone evolution assay in *Drosophila*.

I used *lgl* LOF mutant animals, known to undergo loss of apical-basal cell polarity and uncontrolled proliferation of the epithelial tissues, that show altered metabolism, dedifferentiation, upregulation of cytokine-like molecules and many other malignant features, described along the main text. In this *lgl* LOF background, I induced *neutral*, *myc*<sup>OVER</sup> and *myc*<sup>KD</sup> clones at different stages of cancer progression, and precisely at six days of development, a stage in which the wing imaginal disc shows obvious neoplastic growth, and at two days of development, when *lgl* mutant epithelia are still phenoypically normal. Target tissues were collected at eight days of development.

The first, interesting observation was that MMCC is normally at work in these tumours through the continuous elimination of the less fit cells (with lower levels of Myc protein), allowing the expansion of the strongest (with higher levels of Myc protein) (*paragraph* 2.5.).

The induction of Myc over-expressing clones conferred cells a super-competitive behaviour, enhancing the overall competitive interactions within the tumour mass and, as a result, tumours overgrew (fig 2.13). As the growth of the tissue was also contributed by the native population (fig 2.13), although to a lesser extent than the  $myc^{OVER}$  cells, this was clear demonstration that cancers behave like a cell community in which growth signals are systemically released and sensed, eventually generating an important expansion of the tumour bulk if compared to controls (fig 2.12).

On the other hand, the final size of the masses in which I induced  $myc^{KD}$  clones resulted significantly reduced, and also in this case both  $myc^{KD}$  and native cells contributed to the mass collapse, consistent with a signal of collective relaxation.

These were both important and amazing results, as they seem to suggest that while MMCC acts in a *leading role* in shaping the tumour mass as a consequence of mechanisms of

positive and negative pressure, the tumour cells at a distance from the *happening* are however able to detect that selective pressure and gain higher Myc expression to survive, thus acting in *supportive roles*: "*when the going gets tough the tough get going*".

In addition, my study defined the presence of a functional cooperation between MYC and p53 in MMCC in cancer, as p53 LOF in the winner cells make them unable to grow and out-compete the neighbours.

p53 is one of the most frequently mutated genes in human cancers and the function of its several mutant products and dominant negative forms is not clear. As its tumour suppressor functions are well-known, many efforts are being made by the scientific community to reactivate its function in cancer.

But if p53 *wild-type* protein is also necessary to Myc-expressing cells to grow and outcompete neighbours during cancer progression, an oncogenic side of *wild-type* p53 should also be considered.

Given this dual role of p53, a better characterisation of all its functions and its mutated forms seems to urge in order to evaluate its actual role in cancer history.

Altogether, my results showed that MMCC plays an active role in the selective pressure we observed during cancer growth, favouring the most performant cells within the tumour and opposing to the expansion of the weakest derivatives. This evidence represents an important step towards the understanding of the evolutionary mechanisms underlying tumourigenesis.

Chapter 4 Materials and Methods

# 4.1. Ex Vivo and In Vitro Materials and Methods - Parts 1 and 2

## Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

Immunohistochemical staining for c-MYC (mouse monoclonal 9E10; *DSHB*; 1:50), YAP-1 (rabbit polyclonal, *Cell Signaling*, 1:150)), HUGL-1 (by courtesy of Dennis Strand, rabbit polyclonal, 1:550) and Cleaved Caspase-3 (rabbit polyclonal, #9961 *Cell Signaling*, 1:250) was carried out on 5  $\mu$ m thickness FFPE (formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded) histological sections of several types of human epithelial primary and secondary tumour samples (see tab. 1).

The whole set of sequential slides was first heat-deparaffinised (30 min at 65°C), rehydrated and antigen retrieval has been carried out with citric acid pH 8 at 95°C for 30 minutes.

The stainings for YAP-1 and HUGL-1 were performed on separate slices using *Thermo Scientific, UltraVision kit* and each specific HRP-secondary antibody was revealed using DAB+ reaction.

The staining for c-MYC and Cleaved-Caspase-3 were performed on the same section using *Dako EnVision G/2 Doublestain System kit*, Rabbit/Mouse (DAB + / Permanent Red) which allows a double antigen hybridisation in the same slide through specific primary antibody recognition by HRP (Horseradish peroxidase enzyme), and A/P (Alkaline phosphatase enzyme)- conjugated polymer secondary systems.

All primary antibodies were incubated at 4°C overnight, and all secondary HRP/APconjugated polymers at room temperature for 10 minutes.

Slides were counterstained with Hematoxylin (nuclear dye), dehydrated, mounted and analysed. IHC for p53 (mouse monoclonal, DO-1, *abCAM*) has been carried out using the "Automatic Ventana BenchMark XT" Immunoistochemistry System.

For cancer and stroma identification, all the samples were analysed by an expert pathologist prior and after staining.

Primary Mass	Secondary Lesions
Ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS)- Left breast	Lymph Node Metastasis
Lobular carcinoma in situ (LCIS)- Right breast	Lymph Node Metastasis
Mucinous Cystadenocarcinoma- Left breast	Lymph Node Metastasis
Ductal invasive G3 carcinomas- Left breast	Lymph Node Metastasis
Ductal invasive G2 carcinomas- Left breast	Lymph Node Metastasis
Infiltrating papillary thyroid carcinoma	Lymph Node Metastasis
Lung adenocarcinoma (NSCLC)- Left lobe	Brain Metastasis
Lung poorly differentiated carcinoma (NSCLC)- Left lobe	Brain Metastasis
Lung squamous cell carcinoma (SCC)- Left lobe	Brain Metastasis
Pleomorphic adenoma of the cheek	Brain Metastasis
Oesophageal carcinoma	Brain Metastasis
Colorectal Adenocarcinoma	Liver Metastasis
Colorectal Adenocarcinoma	Liver Metastasis
Colorectal Adenocarcinoma	Liver Metastasis
Endometrial carcinoma	Colorectal Metastasis

Table 4.1: Some of the cases analysed by IHC staining

# **Cell Cultures**

Human Carcinoma cell lines (see tab. 2) from ATCC were cultured in DMEM-containing 10% heat-inactivated FBS (fetal bovine serum), 2mM of glutamine and 1% antibiotics (100 U/ml of Penicillin/ 100  $\mu$ g/ml of Streptomycin) in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> humidified air atmosphere at 37°C.

Cell lines	Cancer Type:	Notes:
H460- ATCC <sup>®</sup> HTB-177 <sup>™</sup>	Lung Carcinoma (LCLC)	
H1975- ATCC <sup>®</sup> CRL-5908 <sup>™</sup>	Lung adenocarcinoma (NSCLC)	
H1299- АТСС <sup>®</sup> CRL-5803 <sup>™</sup>	Lung Carcinoma (NSCLC)	Homozygous partial deletion of the p53 protein.
LS174T- ATCC <sup>®</sup> CL-188 <sup>TM</sup>	Colorectal adenocarcinoma	
LoVo- ATCC <sup>®</sup> CCL-229 <sup>™</sup>	Colorectal adenocarcinoma	
HCT116- ATCC <sup>®</sup> CCL-247 <sup><math>^{TM}</math></sup>	Colorectal carcinoma	
HCT116 p53-/-	Colorectal carcinoma	p53 exon 3 deletion [203].

 Table 4.2: Human carcinoma cell lines used in this study and their characteristics.
## **Cell Count**

Cell were washed in PBS 1X, detached with trypsin 1X, collected in DMEM medium, pelleted by centrifugation and suspended in DMEM 10% FBS complete medium. Count and viability were quantified by cell counting with Trypan Blue exclusion using the Bürker's chamber applying the following equation:

[(Average n° of Trypan blue negative cells in 9 squares  $\cdot 10^4$ )  $\cdot$  Dil. Factor]  $\cdot$  ml of cell suspension, obtaining the total number of viable cells suspended in the initial volume.

# 10058:F4 Treatment

The MYC-MAX small molecule inhibitor 10058:F4 (*Sigma-Aldrich*) was used to reduce MYC-MAX activity [204] through its binding to the MYC bHLHZip dimerisation domain. MYC-MAX small molecule inhibitor 10058:F4 was dissolved in dimethyl- sulphoxide (DMSO).

To assess the inhibitory effect of the drug, cells were seeded in a 6-well plate at a density of  $5 \times 10^5$  cells per well and allowed to settle for 24 hours at 5% CO<sub>2</sub> humidified air atmosphere at 37°C, before starting the treatment. 10058:F4 (and an equivalent amount of DMSO for controls) was applied at different concentrations with fresh medium.

After 24 hours of treatment, cells were washed in PBS 1X, detached with trypsin 1X, collected in DMEM and treated for RNA isolation for following qRT-PCR (to assess transcripts variations) or treated for total protein extraction for Western Blot analysis.

In CCAs, the 10058:F4 inhibitor was used at a concentration of  $60\mu$ M as lower concentrations did not show significant effects on MYC-MAX activity and higher concentrations induced autonomous cell death.

Cells for CCAs (see further) were plated as before, where under treatment cells were plated with  $60\mu$ M of 10058:F4 and non-treated cells were incubated with an equivalent amount of DMSO. After 24 hours at 5% CO<sub>2</sub> humidified air atmosphere at 37°C, cells were washed in PBS 1X, detached with trypsin 1X, collected in DMEM, counted and used for the assays.

## PKH67 (Sigma-Aldrich) Cell Membrane Labelling

PKH67 is a fluorescent cell membrane dye characterised by a long aliphatic carbon tail than binds the phospholipid bilayers of the cell membrane, while its fluorogenic moiety is exposed near the outer surface of the cell. It is widely used to for *in vitro* and *in vivo* cell tracking. This tracker is characterised by no cytotoxic effects and reduced cell-cell transfer.

PKH67 was used to label one of the two populations used in the CCAs (see further) according to the manufacture's bulletin: cells were gently detached with trypsin 1X and washed twice with minimum DMEM medium, as serum interferes with labelling efficiency. Cells were counted with trypan blue exclusion method and  $5/7x10^6$  cells were used for the staining. Simultaneously, PKH67 was mixed with 2 ml of Diluent C solution to obtain a 10µM staining solution, then applied to the cell pellet and incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature. The reaction was then blocked with an equal volume of FBS for 1 minute at room temperature, as the serum competes for the aliphatic carbon tail binding to the cell membrane. Stained cells were centrifuged for 10 minutes at 400g, complete DMEM was added and cell viability and fluorescent intensity were assessed. To exclude side effects of PKH67 on CCAs, a test on two different cell lines was

To exclude side effects of PKH67 on CCAs, a test on two different cell lines was performed in which the two cell populations were alternatively stained, and no differences in the final results were appreciable between the two conditions.

### **Cell Competition Assays (CCAs)**

To experimentally evaluate the phenomenon of MMCC in human carcinoma cell lines, a cell-based assay was designed and performed.

Each assay was carried out by using two different human carcinoma cell populations characterised by different cMYC expression levels or two sub-populations from the same cell line in which one was previously treated with the MYC-MAX 10058:F4 inhibitor. The cell lines used in each CCA showed comparable proliferation rates.

One of the two populations forming the assay was previously labelled with the aim to distinguish the two cell lines during and after the assay.

The cell lines were counted with the Trypan blue exclusion method and, in a 6-wells plate,  $2,5x10^5$  cells from each line were plated in co-culture; simultaneously,  $5x10^5$  cells from each population were plated in separate conditions, both in standard growth and medium conditions. After 5 hours incubation, the wells were gently washed in PBS 1X, cells were detached with trypsin 1X, collected and counts were assessed in a Bürker's chamber using a wide-field fluorescence microscope. The number of cells obtained after 5 hours incubation has been normalised to the number of the cells plated at the beginning, obtaining the growth units for each cell line in the different conditions. Cell competition outcome was evaluated after 5 hours of co-culture according to literature's information [95]. As a control, we however performed some cell counts also after 12 and 24 hours, but we were not able to find significative changes in the final results. Each experiment has

been performed at least 3 times independently and each single count was repeated twice. Data were statistically analysed using GraphPad Prism<sup>®</sup> free software.

#### Immunofluorescence (IF) on CCAs

IF assays were performed to verify the apoptotic rate of the cells during the CCAs, by using a specific antibody directed against the active form of the Caspase 3 (Cleaved-Caspase 3), as loser cell elimination is Caspase 3 dependent in *Drosophila* [98] [93] [205] and in mammals [206].

A cover slip previously washed in EtOH 100% was settled on the bottom of every well of a 6-wells plate coated with collagen 50ng/µl in glacial acetic acid 0,02N and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature under a laminar flow hood. The excess collagen was aspirated, plates were washed twice in PBS 1X and cells were seeded as previously described.

After 5 hours growth, cells were gently washed in PBS 1X and fixed with Paraformaldehyde 2% (PFA) for 15 minutes at room temperature and rinsed 3 times with PBS-T (PBS 1X + Triton 0,1%) for 5 minutes. Cells were incubated for 30 minutes with Normal Donkey Serum 4% (NDS) diluted in PBS-T. Finally, Cleaved Caspase-3 antibody (rabbit polyclonal, 9961; *Cell Signaling*; 1:250) in PBT/NDS 4% was incubated overnight at 4°C. The secondary anti-rabbit antibody, (AlexaFluor<sup>TM</sup> 555, *Invitrogen*; 1:300) in PBT/NDS 4% was incubated for 1 hour at room temperature. A solution containing DAPI 2µg/ml PBS1X was used in the final wash to counterstain cell nuclei. The coverslips were mounted using Fluoromount<sup>TM</sup> glycerol-mounting medium (*Sigma- Aldrich*) and visualised under a wide-field fluorescence microscope. Four fields were counted in each slide; each experiment was repeated at least 3 times. All data were statistically analysed using GraphPad Prism<sup>®</sup> free software.

### **Total Protein Extraction, SDS PAGE and Western Blotting**

Sub-confluent cells from a 100mm dish were washed in PBS 1X, detached with Trypsin 1X, collected in DMEM, centrifuged and lysed in RIPA buffer added with protease inhibitors (Complete, *Roche;* PMSF, *Sigma-Aldrich*) for 15 minutes at 4°C. Following chemical lysis, sonication was carried out to increase the detergent effect of RIPA buffer and break chromatin aggregates. After centrifugation, the supernatant containing the total protein extract was collected and quantification was carried out using the BCA protein method (*Pierce*<sup>TM</sup> BCA Protein Assay Kit).

50µg lysate were mixed with Laemmli Loading buffer 4X and denatured for 10 minutes at 100°C. Samples were resolved on 4/10% acrylamide/bisacrylamide gel for 90 minutes, 120Volt at room temperature. After migration, proteins were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane in which immuondetection is successively carried out. The transfer reaction was performed at constant amperage (300mA) for 1 hour and 45 minutes at 4°C in Tris-Glycine/Methanol based transfer buffer. Blocking in 4% Milk solution has been applied for 1 hour at room temperature to the membrane before incubation with the primary antibodies overnight at 4°C. Primary antibodies used were: anti-c-MYC (Rabbit, *Santa Cruz*, N-262; 1:1500), anti-p53 (Do-1, mouse, *AbCAM*; 1:1000) and anti-β-Actin (Rabbit, *Jackson ImmunoResearch*; 1:2000). The HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies used were goat anti-rabbit and anti-mouse (*Jackson ImmunoResearch* 1:2000) for 1 hour at room temperature. The HRP-ECL reaction has been revealed using Bio-Rad Chemidoc<sup>TM</sup>.

Ripa buffer	1X Running buffer	1X Transfer buffer	1X Blocking solution
50mM TrisHCl pH7.5	10% Tris- Glycine	5% Tris- Glycine	20mM TrisHCl pH8
150mM NaCl	0.1% SDS	20% Methanol	20mM NaCl
0.5% Na Deoxycholato	mqH <sub>2</sub> O	mqH <sub>2</sub> O	25gr Powder milk
1% NP40			0.05% Tween20
0.1% SDS			mqH <sub>2</sub> O
1mM PMSF			
1X Complete (Roche)			
mqH <sub>2</sub> O			
4X Laemmli buffer	10% Running gel	4% Stacking gel	
250mM TrisHCl pH6.8	10% Acry/ bisacryl	4% Acry/ bisacryl	
40% Glycerol	300mM TrisHCl pH8.8	150mM TrisHCl pH6.6	
5% SDS	0.1% SDS	0.1% SDS	
0.005% Bromoph. Blue	0.1% APS	0.1% APS	
mqH <sub>2</sub> O	0.05% TEMED	0.05% TEMED	
	mqH <sub>2</sub> O	mqH <sub>2</sub> O	

Table 4.3: Western blot Solutions

# RNA Extraction and Purification, RT-PCR, Sybr Green qPCR

Cells from 100mm dishes were directly scraped in TRI-Reagent<sup>®</sup> (*Sigma-Aldrich*) and processed or stored at -80°C before being processed.

The larvae were obtained from a culture of 5 days after egg laying. About 15 larvae were homogenised in a vial with TRI Reagent<sup>®</sup> (*Sigma- Aldrich*), centrifuged for 5 minutes at 12000g at 4°C and the supernatant was collected to be processed.

300µl of chloroform were added to the samples containing 1ml of TRI Reagent<sup>®</sup> (*Sigma-Aldrich*) solution and vortexed for 10 seconds. The samples were incubated for 10 minutes

at room temperature and centrifuged for 12 minutes at 12000g at 4°C. The RNAcontaining aqueous phase was transferred to a new tube, where 750µl of isopropyl alcohol were added. Samples were mixed gently, incubated 10 minutes at room temperature and centrifuged for 12 minutes at 12000g at 4°C. The supernatant was removed, the pellet was washed three times with 1 ml 75% EtOH and centrifuged at 7500g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and the dried pellet was eluted at 55°C for 10 minutes in 50µl of mqH<sub>2</sub>O. A DNAse I-treatment followed to avoid genomic contamination.

cDNA synthesis was performed using total DNA free-RNA with oligo(dT) in a 0,2ml tube, and using the ThermoScript<sup>TM</sup> RT-PCR system. The ThermoScript is an engineered avian reverse transcriptase with reduced RNase H activity that shows high thermal stability and produces high amounts of full-length cDNAs. Each mix is prepared as follows: 1µg di RNA + 2X RT Reaction Mix (oligo dT 2,5µM, random examers 2,5 ng/µl, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 10 mM, dNTPs) + RT enzyme Mix (Retrotranscriptase e RNase OUT) + mqH<sub>2</sub>O up to the final volume.

SYBR GreenER qPCR SuperMix (*Invitrogen*) is a ready-to-use cocktail containing all components, except primers and template, for real-time quantitative PCR (qPCR) on ICycler BioRad real time instruments that support normalisation with Fluorescein Reference Dye at a final concentration of 500nM. It combines a chemically modified "hotstart" version of TaqDNA polymerase. SYBR GreenER qPCR SuperMix is supplied at a 2X concentration and contains hot-start TaqDNA polymerase, SYBR GreenER fluorescent dye, 1 µM Fluorescein Reference Dye, MgCl<sub>2</sub>, dNTPs and stabilisers. The SuperMix formulation is compatible with melting curve analysis.

The amplification is based on 40 cycles x 3 steps: after 3 minutes denaturation at  $95^{\circ}$ C, each amplification step includes: 30 second at  $95^{\circ}$ C (denaturation), 15 seconds at  $60^{\circ}$ C (annealing temperature for each primer pair), 30 seconds at  $72^{\circ}$ C (elongation step). The resulting graph is the relative quantity of the target gene transcript compared to the transcript quantity of the reference gene. For each sample, an amplification curve is shown in a Cartesian graph: the x axis represents the cycle number and the y axis represents the Relative Fluorescence unit which is dependent on the amplified cDNA molecules.

Gene	Primer sequences	Size (bp)	Melting (°C)	GenBank Accession	
Homo sapiens					
с-МҮС	Forward: 5'-GAGGAGGAACAAGAAGATGAGG-3' Reverse: 5'-TCCAGCAGAAGGTGATCCA-3'	100	60	<u>NM_002467.4</u>	
BRCA1	Forward: 5'-GGTGGTACATGCACAGTTGC-3' Reverse: 5'-ACTCTGGGGGCTCTGTCTTCA-3'	240	60	<u>NM_007294.3</u>	
BRCA2	Forward: 5'-CCACAGCCAGGCAGTCTGTAT-3' Reverse: 5'-AGAACACGCAGAGGGAACTTG-3'	96	60	<u>NM_000059.3</u>	
GUSB	Forward: 5'-AGCGTGGAGCAAGACAGTGG-3' Reverse: 5'-ATACAGATAGGCAGGGCGTTCG-3'	198	60	<u>NM_000181.3</u>	
GAPDH	Forward: 5'-AAGGTGAAGGTCGGAGTCAAC-3' Reverse: 5'-GAGTTAAAAGCAGCCCTGGTG-3'	68	59	<u>NM 002046.5</u>	
Drosophila melanogaster					
dMyc	Forward: 5'-CGGGAGTCAATAACAAAGTG-3' Reverse: 5'-GCTGCATACTAAGCTCCTTC-3'	423	58	<u>NM_080323.4</u>	
dMax	Forward: 5'-CGACATAGACATCGAAAGTG-3' Reverse: 5'-TGCGTCTACTGAAGTCCTG-3'	434	56	<u>NM_140840.4</u>	
DmP53	Forward: 5'-CCAAGCTAGAGAATCACAAC-3' Reverse: 5'-AGGCAGAAGACTAAGGAAG-3'	487	56	<u>NM_206545.2</u>	
GFP	Forward: 5'-GGATGCTCTTGGCTCTTC-3' Reverse: 5'-GACAATCTTCTGGTGTCTGG-3'	352	55		
dACT5C	Forward: 5'-GAAGAAGTTGCTGCTCTG-3' Reverse: 5'-CATCAGGTAGTCGGTCAA-3'	564	54	<u>NM_167053.2</u>	

**Table 4.4**: Real Time PCR primers used and main features. c-MYC: Homo sapiens v-myc avian myelocytomatosis viral oncogene homologue ; BRCA1: Homo sapiens Breast cancer 1; BRCA2: Homo sapiens Breast cancer 2; GUSB: Homo sapiens Glucuronidase, beta (reference gene); GAPDH: Homo sapiens glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (reference gene); dMyc: *Drosophila melanogaster* Myc oncogene; dMax: *Drosophila melanogaster* Max; Dmp53: *Drosophila melanogaster* p53; GFP: Green Fluorescence Protein construct; dACT5C: *Drosophila melanogaster* Actin (reference gene).

### **Statistics**

For CCAs, all values are the mean of at least 3 independent experiments where each single count was repeated twice; for IF, the percentage of Casp-3 positive cells are the mean of 4 fields counted for each experiment. Student's *t* test was performed to determine significance (two-tailed, unequal variance). *p* values are as follows:  $p \le 0.05=*$ ,  $p \le 0.01=**$ ,  $p \le 0.001=***$ . All error bars are  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM), if not differently indicated. All data were statistically analysed using GraphPad Prism<sup>®</sup> version 5.01 for windows, GraphPad Software, San Diego California USA: www.graphpad.com

# 4.2. In Vivo Materials and Methods

*Drosophila melanogaster* has been used as animal model and the experiments were performed in a larval organ that is widely used for CC assays: the wing imaginal disc. The original lines and the crosses were reared at 25°C on a medium composed of water, agar, glucose, baker yeast, cornmeal in the right proportions. A chemical is finally added to prevent moulds.

Mutant and transgenic lines described have been obtained, if not otherwise specified, from the *Bloomington Drosophila Stock Center*, Indiana. For information about mutations, transgenes and enhancers please see: http://flystocks.bio.indiana.edu/

## Drosophila Model Tissue: The Imaginal Wing Disc

Imaginal discs are larval epithelial organs that give rise to adult structures and appendages. The imaginal wing disc, precursor of the adult wing, is composed of a pseudostratified columnar epithelium of undifferentiated and proliferating cells that represent the actual imaginal disc, and by a squamous epithelium that forms the peripodial membrane (Fig.4.1 A). The first will originate the integument and the wing, the second will originate the epithelial veil that welds the structures [207].

When it is formed during embryonic development, the wing imaginal disc comprises around 20 cells [207]. These cells intensely proliferate during the second and third larval instars to generate a disc of around 50,000 cells in the late third instar (96h after hatching). By this stage, the wing primordium is established and its major elements can be identified. The centrifugal regions will originate the dorsal and ventral body wall thorax structures: notum and pleura. The middle region will give rise to the hinge, while the central region, the wing pouch, is the presumptive territory from which the wing lamina differentiates. (Fig.4.1 B, [207]) For this reason, the wing pouch is defined as the distal region of the wing disc while hinge and pleura are considered as proximal.

The wing imaginal disc represents an excellent model widely used to study growth and proliferation control in epithelial tissues. It is morphologically and biochemically very similar to mammalian epithelia and it encounters a dramatic increase in cell number in a relatively short length of time with an average cycle time of 8.5h [208].



**Figure 4.1**. A): A third instar imaginal wing disc. The presumptive regions that correspond to the adult wing structures (shown in b) are labelled. Dorsal and ventral wing surfaces compose the wing pouch. A cross section of the epithelium and the peripodial membrane is also shown on the right. B) Adult wing. the different structures are coloured according to the presumptive territories they originate from (shown in A). Longitudinal veins (L 1-5), anterior (A) and posterior (P) compartments are also indicated. Adapted from [207].

## 4.2.1. Drosophila Methods Used in Part 1

## **Mutations**

*lgl<sup>4</sup>* (*lethal giant larvae*) recessive lethal mutation of the *lgl* gene caused by a spontaneous loss of the subtelomeric 21A2 region;

 $y^{67c23}$  (yellow) X-associated recessive mutation: the body is yellow and the mouth apparatus of the larva is brown;

 $w^{1118}$  (white) X-associated recessive mutation: the eye is white because of a complete lack of pigmentation;

*Bc (Black cells)* II-associated dominant mutation: the larval crystal cells are substituted by melanotic masses;

Cy (Curly) II-associated dominant mutation; wings are curled upward;

*Gla (Glazed)* II-associated dominant mutation: the eye is reduced and misshaped and ommatidia appear fused.

Hu (Humeral) III-associated dominant mutation; alteration of humeral bristles number;

Tb (Tubby) III-associated dominant mutation; shorter and thicker larvae, pupae and adults.

#### **Balancer Chromosomes**

*In(2LR)GlaBc* II chromosome carrying multiple arrangements associated with *Gla* and *Bc* dominant markers, recessive lethal;

*In(2LR)O (CyO - Curly of Oster)* II chromosome carrying multiple arrangements associated with *Cy* dominant marker, recessive lethal;

*In(2LR)SM5* II chromosome carrying multiple arrangements associated with *Cy* dominant marker, recessive lethal;

*In(3LR)TM6b* II chromosome carrying multiple arrangements associated with *Hu* and *Tb* dominant markers, recessive lethal.

# Transgenes

*hs-Flp* X-associated construct encoding the yeast recombinase Flippase under the control of a heat-shock promoter;

*act5c>CD2>Gal4* III-associated Flp-out construct driven by *actin5c* gene promoter, bearing CD2 cDNA between FRT sequences (>) (Paola Bellosta);

*UAS-GFP* III-associated construct encoding a nuclear GFP protein downstream of a UAS enhancer;

*UAS-HAdmyc* III-associated construct encoding the fly Myc protein with a HA epitope downstream of a UAS enhancer (Paola Bellosta);

*UAS-dmRNAi* II-associated construct encoding an interfering RNA specific for the *dm* transcript downstream of a UAS enhancer (VDRC 2847); this construct knocks down the *dm* transcript of about 50% (Figure S.I. 12), mimicking a heterozygous condition.

# Flp-out system [209]

The Flp-Out technique allows clonal expression of UAS constructs combining the UAS-Gal4 system with Flp-FRT mediated recombination. A Flp-Out construct consists in a constitutive promoter (in this case, *actin5c*) followed by an FRT cassette, a sequence encoding a cell marker with a polyA terminator (in this case, *CDC2*), a second FRT cassette and a *Gal4* sequence. When activated, Flippase expression can induce excision of the DNA sequence comprised between the two FRT sites placed in the same orientation. Following this, the constitutive promoter can thus transcribe the Gal4 sequences that will, in turn, drive the expression of all the UAS-transgenes present in the line, including a visible cell marker (in this case, UAS-GFPnls) to allow clone identification.

# **Lines and Crosses:**

Driver line: yw, hs-Flp; l(2)gl<sup>4</sup>/CyO; act5c>CD2>Gal4, UAS-GFPnls/TM6b Responder lines:

- 1.  $w; l(2)gl^4/SM5$
- 2.  $w; l(2)gl^4, UAS-dmRNAi/SM5$
- 3. w;  $l(2)gl^4/In(2LR)GlaBc$ ; UAS-HAdm

# Larvae of interest:

- 1. *yw*, hsFlp/w;  $l(2)gl^4/l(2)gl^4$ ; act5c>CD2>Gal4, UAS-GFPnls/+
- 2. *yw*, hsFlp/w;  $l(2)gl^4/l(2)gl^4$ , UAS-dmRNAi; act5c>CD2>Gal4, UAS-GFPnls/+
- 3. *yw*, hsFlp/w;  $l(2)gl^4/l(2)gl^4$ ; UAS-HAdm,/act5c>CD2>Gal4, UAS-GFPnls

In those larvae, I induced  $l(2)gl^4$  neutral clones (1),  $l(2)gl^4 Myc^{KD}$  clones (2) or  $l(2)gl^4 Myc^{OVER}$  clones (3) at different stages of cancer development, as follows:

# Myc Deregulation in Genetically Distant Cells: 6+2 Scheme



144 $\pm$ 4h larvae grown at 25°C were heat-shocked for 2 minutes at 37°C in an eppendorf immersed in a water bath. After the heat-shock, larvae were transferred to fresh food and allowed to grow for additional 2 days at 25°C. Finally, wing discs were collected from GFP<sup>+</sup> larvae for successive analyses.

#### Myc Deregulation in Genetically Related Cells: 2+6 Scheme



 $48\pm4h$  larvae grown at 25°C were heat-shocked for 8 minutes at 37°C in a food vial immersed in a water bath. After the heat-shock, vials were immersed in fresh water for 5 minutes, then transferred for additional 6 days at 25°C. Finally, wing discs were collected from GFP<sup>+</sup> larvae for successive analyses.

#### Mass calculation

144±4h and 192±4h larvae were dissected at 4°C in PBS1X (Phosphate Buffer Saline, pH 7.5) under a stereoscope, imaginal wing discs were isolated from the carcasses and transferred in clean PBS1X. A picture of the discs collected each day was captured at 25X using a dedicated digital camera. Disc areas in pixel<sup>2</sup> were measured using ImageJ Software from NIH and areas were transformed in volumes following the same formula as for prolate spheroids:  $4/3 \pi a^2b$ .

## **Cell volume calculation**

Sequential Z stacks were taken under a confocal microscope for each 6+2 sample stained for the membrane marker aPKC (Santa Cruz, 1:200) and the cell area of all the GFP<sup>+</sup> and GFP<sup>-</sup> cells included in 4 different fields were measured using ImageJ Software by NIH. Cell volume has been calculated by approximating cell shape to a sphere.

# **Dissociation and Cell count**

Wing discs collected each day were washed twice in PBS1X and incubated with gentle agitation for 2.5 hr in 1 ml PBT (4.5 mg/ml porcine trypsin-EDTA [Sigma-Aldrich] in PBS1X). Cell count was carried out using the Bürker's chamber applying the following equation: [(Average n° cells in 9 squares  $\cdot 10^4$ )  $\cdot$  Dil. Factor]  $\cdot$  ml of cell suspension, obtaining the total number of cells suspended in the initial volume.

## Statistics

All values are the mean of at least 3 independent experiments where each single count was repeated twice. The number of wing discs analysed was  $30\div90$  for each sample. *p* values are as follows:  $p\leq0.05=*$ ,  $p\leq0.01=**$ ,  $p\leq0.001=***$ . All error bars are ± standard error of the mean (SEM), if not differently indicated. All data were statistically analysed using GraphPad Prism<sup>®</sup> version 5.01 for windows, GraphPad Software, San Diego California USA: www.graphpad.com

## Immunofluorescence

192±4h larvae from the 6+2 scheme were dissected in PBS1X (Phosphate Buffer Saline, pH 7.5), fixed in 3,7% formaldehyde (Sigma) diluted in PBS1X and permeabilised in PBT 0,3% for 90 minutes. They were then incubated with the primary antibody solution (PBT/BSA 2%) overnight at  $4^{\circ}$ C. The next day the carcasses were washed and incubated

for 2 hours at room temperature with a mix of the secondary antibodies. Finally, wing imaginal discs were isolated under a stereoscope and mounted in FluoromountG (Beckman Coulter). Samples were analysed with Leica TSC SP2 laser confocal microscope and entire images were processed with Adobe Photoshop software. All the images shown represent a single confocal stack. Primary antibodies: anti-cleaved Cas3 (rabbit polyclonal, #9961; *Cell Signaling*; 1:100) and anti-Myc (mouse, P. Bellosta, 1:5). Secondary antibodies: 555 Alexa Fluor anti-mouse 1:200 and Cy5 DyLight Jackson Laboratories anti-rabbit 1:500.

## 4.1.2. Drosophila Methods Used in Part 2

#### **Mutations**

*lgl<sup>4</sup> (lethal giant larvae)* recessive lethal mutation of the *lgl* gene caused by a spontaneous loss of the subtelomeric 21A2 region;

 $y^{67c23}$ (yellow) X-associated recessive mutation: the body is yellow and the mouth apparatus of the larva is brown;

 $w^{1118}$  (white) X-associated recessive mutation: the eye is white because of a complete lack of pigmentation;

*Bc (Black cells)* II-associated dominant mutation: the larval crystal cells are substituted by melanotic masses;

*Gla (Glazed*) II-associated dominant mutation: the eye is reduced and misshaped and ommatidia appear fused.

#### **Balancer Chromosomes**

*In(2LR) GlaBc*, II chromosome carrying multiple arrangements associated with *Gla* and *Bc* dominant markers, recessive lethal.

# Transgenes

*hs-Flp* X-associated construct encoding the yeast recombinase Flippase under the control of a heat-shock promoter;

*tub-Gal4* X-associated construct encoding the yeast Gal4 protein under the control of the tubulin promoter;

*tub-Gal80* II-associated construct encoding the yeast Gal80 protein under the control of the tubulin promoter;

*UAS-lgIRNAi* III-associated construct encoding a double strand interfering RNA specific for the lgl transcript downstream of a UAS enhancer (VDRC 51249);

*UAS-GFP* X-associated construct encoding a nuclear GFP protein downstream of a UAS enhancer;

*UAS-HAdmyc* III-associated construct encoding the fly Myc protein with a HA epitope downstream of a UAS enhancer (Paola Bellosta);

*UAS-p53RNAi* III-associated construct encoding a double strand interfering RNA specific for the p53 transcript downstream of a UAS enhancer (#41720);

*UAS-p53DN* III-associated construct encoding a dominant negative form of the fly p53 protein downstream of a UAS enhancer (#8421).

# MARCM (Mosaic Analysis with a Repressible Cell Marker) (Lee and Luo 1999)

In  $l(2)gl^4$  heterozygous individuals I induced the expression, by mitotic recombination, of homozygous  $l(2)gl^4$  clones bearing the UAS-HAdm and/or UAS-p53<sup>KD</sup> or UAS-p53<sup>DN</sup> constructs. The mosaic technique allowed to define the criteria of CC and the role of p53 in tumour growth. This has been reached by comparing the clonal areas of the GFP-positive mutant clones to those of the respective *wild-type* twin clones. The flippase enzyme, that gives rise to mitotic recombination, was activated by a heat-shock promoter, hence the larvae underwent 20 minutes heat-shock at 37°C 48±4 hours after egg laying. After 72 hours, L3 larvae bearing GFP clones were dissected in PBS1X, fixed in formaldehyde 3,7% and frozen in 70% ethanol in PBS 1X.

The following crosses were carried out to perform this analysis:

♀♀ yw,hs-Flp,tub-Gal4,UAS-GFP; tub-GAL80, FRT40A (driver line)

Х

1. 33 w; l(2)gl<sup>4</sup>, FRT40A/GlaBc; UAS-HAdm, UAS-lgl<sup>KD</sup>

An irrelevant (RNAi)lgl<sup>KD</sup> construct was added to this cross to make Gal4 titration comparable in all the progenies and as a control of the RNAi machinery activation.

2. ♂♂ w; l(2)gl<sup>4</sup>, FRT40A/GlaBc; UAS-HAdm, UAS-p53<sup>KD</sup>

3. ♂♂ w; l(2)gl<sup>4</sup>, FRT40A/GlaBc; UAS-HAdm, UAS-p53<sup>DN</sup>

# Larvae of interest:

- 1. yw,hsFlp,tubGal4,UAS-GFP/w; l(2)gl<sup>4</sup>, FRT 40A/ tubGal80,FRT40A;UAS-HAdm,UAS-lgl<sup>KD</sup>/+
- 2. yw,hsFlp,tubGal4,UAS-GFP/w;l(2)gl<sup>4</sup>,FRT40A/tubGal80,FRT40A;UAS-HAdm,UAS-p53<sup>KD</sup>/+
- 3. yw,hsFlp,tubGal4,UAS-GFP/w;l(2)gl<sup>4</sup>,FRT40A/tubGal80,FRT40A;UAS-HAdm,UAS-p53<sup>DN</sup>/+

Upon the heat shock, recombination occurs and mutant cells face while growing with *wild-type* twin cells in which the recombination event has placed two copies of the tub-Gal80

repressor, so that they do not express GAL4 and the UAS-related products. By comparing the clonal areas of mutant and twin clones it was possible to evaluate both growth rate and competitive abilities of the mutant cells. The analysis was restricted to the wing pouch region so to make it more homogeneous and significant. The clonal areas were measured in pixel<sup>2</sup> by using the ImageJ Software from NIH and normalised to the wing pouch total area so to bypass the differences in wing disc overall dimensions. A statistic analysis was performed whose parameters are reported in the figure legends.

#### Immunofluorescence

Larvae collected at the end of the larval life were used for the IF analysis using the anti-Myc and anti-Lgl antibodies. Larvae were dissected in PBS1X (Phosphate Buffer Saline, pH 7.5) and fixed in 3,7% formaldehyde (Sigma) diluted in PBS1X. The larval carcasses collected each day, with the imaginal discs attached to the cuticle, were frozen after dehydration in a crescent alcoholic scale from 30% to 70% EtOH. Immediately before IF, the carcasses were rehydrated and permeabilised in PBT 0,3% for about 40 minutes. They were then incubated with the primary antibody solution (PBT/BSA 2%) overnight at 4°C. The next day the carcasses were washed and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature with a mix of the secondary antibodies. Finally, wing imaginal discs were isolated under a stereoscope and mounted in FluoromountG (Beckman Coulter). The images for clonal area measurement were captured under a wide-field fluorescence Microscope (Nikon Eclipse 90i) and measured using the ImageJ software from NIH. Samples were analysed with Leica TSC SP2 laser confocal microscope and entire images were processed with Adobe Photoshop software. All the images shown represent a single confocal stack. Primary antibodies: anti-Lgl (rabbit, D. Strand, 1:400) and anti-Myc (mouse, P. Bellosta, 1:5). Secondary antibodies: 555 Alexa Fluor anti-rabbit 1:500 and Cy5 DyLight Jackson Laboratories anti-mouse 1:200.

Chapter 5 Supplementary Information



**Figure S.I. 1**: Comparison of cMYC protein expression in the cell lines used for CCAs. Western blot analysis of cMYC and  $\beta$ -Act as normaliser in H460, H1975, LoVo and LS174T.



**Figure S.I. 2**: cMYC protein characterisation in LoVo and LS174T cell lines used in CCA before and after 10058:F4 treatment. Total proteins for Western blot analysis were extracted after the LoVo (lane 1) and LS174T (lane 4) were mock-treated with DMSO for 24h; LS174T was treated with  $60\mu$ M 10058:F4 for 24h (lane 2); the same treated cell line was recovered in complete medium for 5h post 10058:F4 treatment (lane 3).  $\beta$ -ACT was used as normaliser.

(A)





**Figure S.I. 3**: Characterisation of cell lines used in CCA before and after 10058:F4 treatment. Total Proteins for Western blot analysis and total RNAs for qReal Time PCR analysis were extracted after the cells were treated with DMSO for 24h (*dmso lane*); treated with 60µM 10058:F4 for 24h (*10058:F4 24h lane*) and were recovered in complete medium for 5h post 10058:F4 treatment (*recovery 5h lane*). (**A.**) Western blot analysis of cMYC and  $\beta$ -Act as normaliser in H460, H1975, LS174T and LoVo. (**B.**) qReal Time PCR in H460, H1975, LS174T and LoVo on *c-MYC* (dark grey bar), *BRCA1* (grey bar), *BRCA2* (light grey bar); *GUSB* was used as reference gene.



**Figure S.I. 4**: Western blot analysis on cMYC, p53 and  $\beta$ -Act as normaliser in H460, H1975, LoVo and LS174T.



Figure S.I. 5: Western blot analysis on cMYC, p53 and  $\beta$ -Act as normaliser in HCT116<sup>wt</sup> and HCT116<sup>p53-/-</sup>.



**Figure S.I. 6**: Characterisation of HCT116<sup>wt</sup> and HCT116<sup>p53-/-</sup> after 10058:F4 treatment. Total proteins for Western blot analysis and total RNAs for qReal Time PCR analysis were extracted after the cells were treated with DMSO for 24h (*dmso lane*); treated with 60 $\mu$ M 10058:F4 for 24h (*10058:F4 24h lane*) and recovered in complete medium for 5h post 10058:F4 treatment (*recovery 5h lane*) (**A**.) Western blot analysis on cMYC, and b-ACT as normalizer. (**B**.) qReal Time PCR on *c-MYC* (dark grey bar), *BRCA1* (grey bar), *BRCA2* (light grey bar); *GUSB* was used as reference gene.



**Figure S.I.** 7: CCA between H1299 and H460. H460 wins the competition; H460 shows higher cMYC expression level and presence of p53 protein; H1299 exhibits a lower cMYC protein level than H460 and absence of p53. (A) H1299 shows the profile of a loser cell; growth after 5h of culture; each assay was repeated 3 times and counted twice. Its growth in co-culture is lower than H460 in the same condition and lower than the two populations in separate conditions. (B) Cas-3 profile confirms H1299 loser behaviour. Each IF was repeated 4 times and 4 fields of each slides were analysed, counted twice.  $\pm$ SEM indicated. These data confirm that p53 LOF in loser cells does not interfere with CC.



**Figure S.I. 8**: Western blot analysis on cMYC, p53 and  $\beta$ -Act as normaliser in H1299 and H460. H460 show higher cMYC expression and presence of p53 protein; H1299 exhibits lower cMYc protein level than H460 and absence of p53.



**Figure S.I.** 9: CCA between H1299 and H1299 treated with the 10058:F4 inhibitor. (A) H1299 and H1299i show similar growth when co-cultured (red and blue bar); their proliferation rate in co-culture is similar to that in separate conditions (striped red and striped blue bars). Growth after 5h of culture; each assay was repeated 4 times and counted twice. (B) Percentage of cells positive for cleaved caspase-3 is similar for co-cultured cell populations (red and blue bar) and cells in separate conditions (striped red and striped blue bars). No signs of CC are evident. Each IF was repeated 4 times and 4 fields of each slide were analysed, counted twice.  $\pm$ SEM indicated. These data confirm that p53 *wild-type* function is needed in the potentially winner population for CC to occur.



**Figure S.I. 10**: Characterisation of H1299 after 10058:F4 treatment. Total Proteins for Western blot analysis and total RNAs for qReal Time PCR analysis were extracted after the cells were treated with DMSO for 24h (*dmso lane*); treated with  $60\mu$ M 10058:F4 for 24h (*10058:F4 24h lane*) and were recovered in complete medium for 5h post 10058:F4 treatment (*recovery 5h lane*). (**A**.) Western blot analysis on cMYC and  $\beta$ -Act as normaliser (**B**.) qReal Time PCR on *c-MYC* (dark grey bar), *BRCA1* (grey bar), *BRCA2* (light grey bar); *GUSB* was used as reference gene.



**Figure S.I. 11:** Characterisation of dp53 RNA interference on dp53 gene transcript. The relative quantity of p53 mRNA was assessed by qReal Time PCR in L3 larvae bearing a p53 RNAi construct under the control of the act5c-Gal4 driver. mRNA from L3 larvae with a UAS-GFP cassette under the control of the same driver was used as a control. *ACT5C* was used as reference gene.



**Figure S.I. 12:** Characterisation of dmyc RNA interference constructs on chromosome II and III. The relative quantity of dmyc mRNA was assessed by qReal Time PCR in L2 (for the III chromosome construct) and L3 (for the II chromosome construct) larvae bearing different dmyc RNAi constructs under the control of the act5c-Gal4 driver. mRNA from L3 larvae with a UAS-GFP cassette under the control of the same driver was used as a control. *ACT5C* was used as reference gene.

Chapter 6 Bibliography

- [1] C. A. Aktipis, A. M. Boddy, G. Jansen, U. Hibner, M. E. Hochberg, C. C. Maley, and G. S. Wilkinson, "Cancer across the tree of life: cooperation and cheating in multicellularity," *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.*, vol. 370, no. 1673, pp. 20140219–20140219, 2015.
- [2] R. K. Grosberg and R. R. Strathmann, "The Evolution of Multicellularity: A Minor Major Transition?," *Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst.*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 621–654, 2007.
- [3] R. A. Weinberg, *Biology of the Cancer*, vol. XXXIII, no. 2. 2014.
- [4] B. W. Stewart and C. P. Wild, World Cancer Report 2014. 2014.
- [5] B. Craene and G. Berx, "Regulatory networks defining EMT during cancer initiation and progression," *Nat. Rev. Cancer*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 97–110, 2012.
- [6] S. D. Horne, S. A. Pollick, and H. H. Q. Heng, "Evolutionary mechanism unifies the hallmarks of cancer," *International Journal of Cancer*, vol. 136, no. 9. pp. 2012– 2021, 2015.
- [7] L. M. F. Merlo, J. W. Pepper, B. J. Reid, and C. C. Maley, "Cancer as an evolutionary and ecological process.," *Nat. Rev. Cancer*, vol. 6, no. December, pp. 924–935, 2006.
- [8] D. Hanahan, "The Hallmarks of Cancer," *Cell*, vol. 100, no. 1. pp. 57–70, 2000.
- [9] P. Fedi, A. Kimmelman, and S. a Aaronson, "Growth Factor Signal Transduction in Cancer," *Holland-Frei Cancer Med.*, pp. 41–64, 2000.
- [10] P. J. Roberts and C. J. Der, "Targeting the Raf-MEK-ERK mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade for the treatment of cancer.," *Oncogene*, vol. 26, no. 22, pp. 3291–3310, 2007.
- [11] D. Hanahan and R. A. Weinberg, "Hallmarks of cancer: The next generation," *Cell*, vol. 144, no. 5, pp. 646–674, 2011.
- [12] L. Hayflick, "Mortality and immortality at the cellular level. A review.," *Biochemistry. (Mosc).*, vol. 62, no. 11, pp. 1180–1190, 1997.
- [13] J. W. Shay and S. Bacchetti, "A survey of telomerase activity in human cancer," *Eur. J. Cancer*, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 787–791, 1997.
- [14] D. Grifoni, M. Sollazzo, E. Fontana, F. Froldi, and A. Pession, "Multiple strategies of oxygen supply in Drosophila malignancies identify tracheogenesis as a novel cancer hallmark," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 5, p. 9061, 2015.
- [15] C. De La Cova, N. Senoo-Matsuda, M. Ziosi, D. C. Wu, P. Bellosta, C. M. Quinzii, and L. A. Johnston, "Supercompetitor status of drosophila Myc cells requires p53 as a Fitness sensor to reprogram metabolism and promote viability," *Cell Metab.*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 470–483, 2014.
- [16] P. C. Nowell, "The clonal evolution of tumor cell populations.," *Science*, vol. 194, no. 4260, pp. 23–8, 1976.
- [17] J. Breivik, "The evolutionary origin of genetic instability in cancer development," *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, vol. 15, no. 1. pp. 51–60, 2005.
- [18] S. H. Albertini, R. JRobison, "In vivo somatic mutations in humans: measurement and analysis," *Annu. Rev. Genet.*, vol. 24, pp. 305–326, 1990.
- [19] M. J. Renan, "How many mutations are required for tumorigenesis? Implications from human cancer data," *Mol. Carcinog.*, vol. 7, pp. 139–146, 1993.
- [20] K. R. Loeb and L. a Loeb, "Significance of multiple mutations in cancer.," *Carcinogenesis*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 379–385, 2000.
- [21] C. a. Klein, "Parallel progression of primary tumours and metastases," *Nat. Rev. Cancer*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 302–312, 2009.
- [22] M. Schwartz, E. Zlotorynski, and B. Kerem, "The molecular basis of common and rare fragile sites," in *Cancer Letters*, 2006, vol. 232, no. 1, pp. 13–26.
- [23] A. G. Tsai, H. Lu, S. C. Raghavan, M. Muschen, C. L. Hsieh, and M. R. Lieber,

"Human Chromosomal Translocations at CpG Sites and a Theoretical Basis for Their Lineage and Stage Specificity," *Cell*, vol. 135, no. 6, pp. 1130–1142, 2008.

- [24] I. Bozic, T. Antal, H. Ohtsuki, H. Carter, D. Kim, S. Chen, R. Karchin, K. W. Kinzler, B. Vogelstein, and M. A. Nowak, "Accumulation of driver and passenger mutations during tumor progression.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 107, no. 43, pp. 18545–50, 2010.
- [25] S. J. Leedham, "Individual crypt genetic heterogeneity and the origin of metaplastic glandular epithelium in human Barrett's oesophagusitle," *Gut*, vol. 57, pp. 1041– 1048, 2008.
- [26] N. Navin, J. Kendall, J. Troge, P. Andrews, L. Rodgers, J. McIndoo, K. Cook, A. Stepansky, D. Levy, D. Esposito, L. Muthuswamy, A. Krasnitz, W. R. McCombie, J. Hicks, and M. Wigler, "Tumour evolution inferred by single-cell sequencing.," *Nature*, vol. 472, no. 7341, pp. 90–94, 2011.
- [27] J. E. Dick, "Stem cell concepts renew cancer research," *Blood*, vol. 112, no. 13, pp. 4793–4807, 2008.
- [28] M. Greaves and C. C. Maley, "Clonal evolution in cancer," *Nature*, vol. 481, no. 7381, pp. 306–313, 2012.
- [29] P. R. Grant and B. R. Grant, "How and Why Species Multiply: The Radiation of Darwin's Finches.," *The Quarterly Review of Biology*, vol. 83, no. 3. pp. 304–305, 2008.
- [30] R. Briggs and T. J. King, "Transplantation of Living Nuclei From Blastula Cells into Enucleated Frogs' Eggs.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 38, no. 5, pp. 455–463, 1952.
- [31] J. B. Gurdon, "The developmental capacity of nuclei taken from intestinal epithelium cells of feeding tadpoles.," *J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol.*, vol. 10, no. December, pp. 622–640, 1962.
- [32] K. H. Campbell, J. McWhir, W. A. Ritchie, and I. Wilmut, "Sheep cloned by nuclear transfer from a cultured cell line.," *Nature*, vol. 380, no. 6569, pp. 64–66, 1996.
- [33] I. Wilmut, A. E. Schnieke, J. McWhir, A. J. Kind, and K. H. Campbell, "Viable offspring derived from fetal and adult mammalian cells," *Nature*, vol. 385, no. 6619, pp. 810–813, 1997.
- [34] C. Vicente-Dueñas, J. Gutiérrez de Diego, F. D. Rodríguez, R. Jiménez, and C. Cobaleda, "The role of cellular plasticity in cancer development.," *Curr. Med. Chem.*, vol. 16, no. 28, pp. 3676–85, 2009.
- [35] L. Ringrose and R. Paro, "Epigenetic regulation of cellular memory by the Polycomb and Trithorax group proteins.," *Annu. Rev. Genet.*, vol. 38, pp. 413–443, 2004.
- [36] I. Sànchez-Garcia, C. Vicente-Duenas, and C. Cobaleda, "The theoretical basis of cancer-stem-cell-based therapeutics of cancer: Can it be put into practice?," *BioEssays*, vol. 29, no. 12. pp. 1269–1280, 2007.
- [37] D. J. Drasin, T. P. Robin, and H. L. Ford, "Breast cancer epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition: examining the functional consequences of plasticity," *Breast Cancer Res.*, vol. 13, no. 6, p. 226, 2011.
- [38] T. C. P. Somervaille and M. L. Cleary, "Identification and characterization of leukemia stem cells in murine MLL-AF9 acute myeloid leukemia," *Cancer Cell*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 257–268, 2006.
- [39] S. V. Sharma, D. Y. Lee, B. Li, M. P. Quinlan, F. Takahashi, S. Maheswaran, U. McDermott, N. Azizian, L. Zou, M. A. Fischbach, K. K. Wong, K. Brandstetter, B. Wittner, S. Ramaswamy, M. Classon, and J. Settleman, "A Chromatin-Mediated

Reversible Drug-Tolerant State in Cancer Cell Subpopulations," *Cell*, vol. 141, no. 1, pp. 69–80, 2010.

- [40] C. H. Waddington, "The epigenotype," *Endeavour*, vol. 1, pp. 18–20, 1942.
- [41] K. D. Siegmund, P. Marjoram, Y.-J. Woo, S. Tavaré, and D. Shibata, "Inferring clonal expansion and cancer stem cell dynamics from DNA methylation patterns in colorectal cancers.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 106, no. 12, pp. 4828–4833, 2009.
- [42] G. Egger, G. Liang, A. Aparicio, and P. a Jones, "Epigenetics in human disease and prospects for epigenetic therapy.," *Nature*, vol. 429, no. 6990, pp. 457–463, 2004.
- [43] P. a Jones and S. B. Baylin, "The fundamental role of epigenetic events in cancer.," *Nat. Rev. Genet.*, vol. 3, no. 6, pp. 415–28, 2002.
- [44] A. Eden, F. Gaudet, A. Waghmare, and R. Jaenisch, "Chromosomal Instability and Tumors Promoted by DNA Hypomethylation," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 300, no. April, p. 2003, 2003.
- [45] S. B. Baylin, "DNA methylation and gene silencing in cancer.," *Nat. Clin. Pract. Oncol.*, vol. 2 Suppl 1, no. August 2005, pp. S4–S11, 2005.
- [46] S. Nelson, *Comparative methylation hybridization*. 2008.
- [47] A. P. Feinberg, R. Ohlsson, and S. Henikoff, "The epigenetic progenitor origin of human cancer," *Nat. Rev. Genet.*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 21–33, 2006.
- [48] P. A. Jones and S. B. Baylin, "The Epigenomics of Cancer," *Cell*, vol. 128, no. 4. pp. 683–692, 2007.
- [49] M. E. Valk-Lingbeek, S. W. M. Bruggeman, and M. Van Lohuizen, "Stem cells and cancer: The polycomb connection," *Cell*, vol. 118, no. 4. pp. 409–418, 2004.
- [50] D. Grifoni, F. Froldi, and A. Pession, "Connecting epithelial polarity, proliferation and cancer in Drosophila: The many faces of lgl loss of function," *Int. J. Dev. Biol.*, vol. 57, no. 9–10, pp. 677–687, 2013.
- [51] K. L. Watson, R. W. Justice, and P. J. Bryant, "Drosophila in cancer research: the first fifty tumor suppressor genes.," *J. Cell Sci. Suppl.*, vol. 18, pp. 19–33, 1994.
- [52] D. Bilder, "Epithelial polarity and proliferation control: Links from the Drosophila neoplastictumor suppressors," *Genes and Development*, vol. 18, no. 16. pp. 1909–1925, 2004.
- [53] E. Woodhouse, E. Hersperger, and A. Shearn, "Growth, metastasis, and invasiveness of Drosophila tumors caused by mutations in specific tumor suppressor genes," *Dev. Genes Evol.*, vol. 207, no. 8, pp. 542–550, 1998.
- [54] L. E. Dow and P. O. Humbert, "Polarity Regulators and the Control of Epithelial Architecture, Cell Migration, and Tumorigenesis," *International Review of Cytology*, vol. 262. pp. 253–302, 2007.
- [55] A. Wodarz and I. Nathke, "Cell polarity in development and cancer," *Nat Cell Biol*, vol. 9, no. 9, pp. 1016–1024, 2007.
- [56] M. Lee and V. Vasioukhin, "Cell polarity and cancer--cell and tissue polarity as a non-canonical tumor suppressor.," J. Cell Sci., vol. 121, no. Pt 8, pp. 1141–1150, 2008.
- [57] D. Devenport, "Cell biology in development: The cell biology of planar cell polarity," *J. Cell Biol.*, vol. 207, no. 2, pp. 171–179, 2014.
- [58] E. Nigro, M. Castelli, and A. Boletta, "Role of the Polycystins in Cell Migration, Polarity, and Tissue Morphogenesis," *Cells*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 687–705, 2015.
- [59] P. O. Humbert, L. E. Dow, and S. M. Russell, "The Scribble and Par complexes in polarity and migration: friends or foes?," *Trends in Cell Biology*, vol. 16, no. 12. pp. 622–630, 2006.
- [60] D. Bilder, M. Li, and N. Perrimon, "Cooperative regulation of cell polarity and

growth by Drosophila tumor suppressors.," *Science*, vol. 289, no. July, pp. 113–116, 2000.

- [61] D. Grifoni, F. Garoia, C. C. Schimanski, G. Schmitz, E. Laurenti, P. R. Galle, A. Pession, S. Cavicchi, and D. Strand, "The human protein Hugl-1 substitutes for Drosophila lethal giant larvae tumour suppressor function in vivo.," *Oncogene*, vol. 23, no. 53, pp. 8688–8694, 2004.
- [62] U. Thomas, B. Phannavong, B. Müller, C. C. Garner, and E. D. Gundelfinger, "Functional expression of rat synapse-associated proteins SAP97 and SAP102 in Drosophila dlg-1 mutants: Effects on tumor suppression and synaptic bouton structure," *Mech. Dev.*, vol. 62, no. 2, pp. 161–174, 1997.
- [63] L. E. Dow, A. M. Brumby, R. Muratore, M. L. Coombe, K. a Sedelies, J. a Trapani, S. M. Russell, H. E. Richardson, and P. O. Humbert, "hScrib is a functional homologue of the Drosophila tumour suppressor Scribble.," *Oncogene*, vol. 22, no. 58, pp. 9225–9230, 2003.
- [64] J. Betschinger, F. Eisenhaber, and J. A. Knoblich, "Phosphorylation-induced autoinhibition regulates the cytoskeletal protein Lethal (2) giant larvae," *Curr. Biol.*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 276–282, 2005.
- [65] D. Grifoni, F. Garoia, P. Bellosta, F. Parisi, D. De Biase, G. Collina, D. Strand, S. Cavicchi, and a Pession, "aPKCzeta cortical loading is associated with Lgl cytoplasmic release and tumor growth in Drosophila and human epithelia.," Oncogene, vol. 26, pp. 5960–5965, 2007.
- [66] F. Froldi, M. Ziosi, G. Tomba, F. Parisi, F. Garoia, a Pession, and D. Grifoni, "Drosophila lethal giant larvae neoplastic mutant as a genetic tool for cancer modeling.," *Curr. Genomics*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 147–154, 2008.
- [67] N. Agrawal, M. Kango, a Mishra, and P. Sinha, "Neoplastic transformation and aberrant cell-cell interactions in genetic mosaics of lethal(2)giant larvae (lgl), a tumor suppressor gene of Drosophila.," *Dev. Biol.*, vol. 172, no. 1, pp. 218–229, 1995.
- [68] R. a Pagliarini and T. Xu, "A genetic screen in Drosophila for metastatic behavior.," *Science*, vol. 302, no. 5648, pp. 1227–1231, 2003.
- [69] E. Lafuente and V. A. Boussiotis, "Rap1 Regulation of RIAM and Cell Adhesion," *Methods in Enzymology*, vol. 407. pp. 345–358, 2005.
- [70] N. A. Grzeschik, L. M. Parsons, M. L. Allott, K. F. Harvey, and H. E. Richardson, "Lgl, aPKC, and Crumbs Regulate the Salvador/Warts/Hippo Pathway through Two Distinct Mechanisms," *Curr. Biol.*, vol. 20, no. 7, pp. 573–581, 2010.
- [71] L. J. Saucedo and B. A. Edgar, "Filling out the Hippo pathway," *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, vol. 8, no. 8, pp. 613–621, Aug. 2007.
- [72] A. Brumby, J. Secombe, J. Horsfield, M. Coombe, N. Amin, D. Coates, R. Saint, and H. Richardson, "A genetic screen for dominant modifiers of a cyclin E hypomorphic mutation identifies novel regulators of S-phase entry in drosophila," *Genetics*, vol. 168, no. 1, pp. 227–251, 2004.
- [73] G. Halder and R. L. Johnson, "Hippo signaling: growth control and beyond.," *Development*, vol. 138, no. 1, pp. 9–22, 2011.
- [74] D. Pan, "Hippo signaling in organ size control," *Genes and Development*, vol. 21, no. 8. pp. 886–897, 2007.
- [75] J. Parker and G. Struhl, "Scaling the Drosophila Wing: TOR-Dependent Target Gene Access by the Hippo Pathway Transducer Yorkie," *PLoS Biol.*, vol. 13, no. 10, pp. 1–28, 2015.
- [76] B. Zhao, L. Li, K. Tumaneng, C. Y. Wang, and K. L. Guan, "A coordinated phosphorylation by Lats and CK1 regulates YAP stability through SCF beta-

TRCP," Genes Dev., vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 72-85, 2010.

- [77] S. De Beco, M. Ziosi, and L. A. Johnston, "New frontiers in cell competition," *Dev. Dyn.*, vol. 241, no. 5, pp. 831–841, 2012.
- [78] G. Sun and K. D. Irvine, "Regulation of Hippo signaling by Jun kinase signaling during compensatory cell proliferation and regeneration, and in neoplastic tumors," *Dev. Biol.*, vol. 350, no. 1, pp. 139–151, 2011.
- [79] S. Kuphal, S. Wallner, C. C. Schimanski, F. Bataille, P. Hofer, S. Strand, D. Strand, and a K. Bosserhoff, "Expression of Hugl-1 is strongly reduced in malignant melanoma.," *Oncogene*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 103–110, 2006.
- [80] C. C. Schimanski, G. Schmitz, A. Kashyap, A. K. Bosserhoff, F. Bataille, S. C. Schäfer, H. a Lehr, M. R. Berger, P. R. Galle, S. Strand, and D. Strand, "Reduced expression of Hugl-1, the human homologue of Drosophila tumour suppressor gene lgl, contributes to progression of colorectal cancer.," *Oncogene*, vol. 24, pp. 3100–3109, 2005.
- [81] A. Korshunov, R. Sycheva, and A. Golanov, "Genetically distinct and clinically relevant subtypes of glioblastoma defined by array-based comparative genomic hybridization (array-CGH)," *Acta Neuropathol.*, vol. 111, no. 5, pp. 465–474, 2006.
- [82] X. Lu, X. Feng, X. Man, G. Yang, L. Tang, D. Du, F. Zhang, H. Yuan, Q. Huang, Z. Zhang, Y. Liu, D. Strand, and Z. Chen, "Aberrant splicing of Hugl-1 is associated with hepatocellular carcinoma progression," *Clin. Cancer Res.*, vol. 15, no. 10, pp. 3287–3296, 2009.
- [83] O. Klezovitch, T. E. Fernandez, S. J. Tapscott, and V. Vasioukhin, "Loss of cell polarity causes severe brain dysplasia in Lgl1 knockout mice," *Genes Dev.*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 559–571, 2004.
- [84] D. Strand, R. Jakobs, G. Merdes, B. Neumann, A. Kalmes, H. W. Heid, I. Husmann, and B. M. Mechler, "The Drosophila lethal(2)giant larvae tumor suppressor protein forms homo-oligomers and is associated with nonmuscle myosin II heavy chain," *J. Cell Biol.*, vol. 127, no. 5, pp. 1361–1373, 1994.
- [85] K. Aigner, B. Dampier, L. Descovich, M. Mikula, a Sultan, M. Schreiber, W. Mikulits, T. Brabletz, D. Strand, P. Obrist, W. Sommergruber, N. Schweifer, a Wernitznig, H. Beug, R. Foisner, and a Eger, "The transcription factor ZEB1 (deltaEF1) promotes tumour cell dedifferentiation by repressing master regulators of epithelial polarity," *Oncogene*, vol. 26, no. April, pp. 6979–6988, 2007.
- [86] G. Morata and P. Ripoll, "Minutes: Mutants of Drosophila autonomously affecting cell division rate," *Dev. Biol.*, vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 211–221, 1975.
- [87] T. Lecuit and L. Le Goff, "Orchestrating size and shape during morphogenesis," *Nature*, vol. 450, no. 7167, pp. 189–192, Nov. 2007.
- [88] E. R. Oliver, T. L. Saunders, S. a Tarlé, and T. Glaser, "Ribosomal protein L24 defect in belly spot and tail (Bst), a mouse Minute.," *Development*, vol. 131, no. 16, pp. 3907–3920, 2004.
- [89] A. Garcia-Bellido, P. Ripoll, and G. Morata, "Developmental Compartmentalisation of the Wing Disk of Drosophila," *Nat. New Biol.*, vol. 245, no. 147, pp. 251–253, 1973.
- [90] Q. Sun, T. Luo, Y. Ren, O. Florey, S. Shirasawa, T. Sasazuki, D. N. Robinson, and M. Overholtzer, "Competition between human cells by entosis," *Cell Res*, vol. 24, no. 11, pp. 1299–1310, 2014.
- [91] E. Moreno, K. Basler, and G. Morata, "Cells compete for decapentaplegic survival factor to prevent apoptosis in Drosophila wing development.," *Nature*, vol. 416, no. 6882, pp. 755–759, 2002.
- [92] R. Levayer and E. Moreno, "Mechanisms of cell competition: Themes and

variations," J. Cell Biol., vol. 200, no. 6, pp. 689-698, 2013.

- [93] E. Moreno and K. Basler, "dMyc transforms cells into super-competitors," *Cell*, vol. 117, no. 1, pp. 117–129, 2004.
- [94] M. Portela, S. Casas-Tinto, C. Rhiner, J. M. Lòpez-Gay, O. Domìnguez, D. Soldini, and E. Moreno, "Drosophila SPARC is a self-protective signal expressed by loser cells during cell competition," *Dev. Cell*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 562–573, 2010.
- [95] N. Senoo-Matsuda and L. a Johnston, "Soluble factors mediate competitive and cooperative interactions between cells expressing different levels of Drosophila Myc.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 104, no. 47, pp. 18543–18548, 2007.
- [96] C. Rhiner, J. M. Lòpez-Gay, D. Soldini, S. Casas-Tinto, F. A. Martìn, L. Lombardìa, and E. Moreno, "Flower forms an extracellular code that reveals the fitness of a cell to its neighbors in Drosophila," *Dev. Cell*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 985–998, 2010.
- [97] C. Dang, "c-Myc target genes involved in cell growth, apoptosis, and metabolism," *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, vol. 40, no. 11, pp. 66–9, 1999.
- [98] F. N. Lolo, S. Casas-Tintó, and E. Moreno, "Cell Competition Time Line: Winners Kill Losers, which Are Extruded and Engulfed by Hemocytes," *Cell Rep.*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 526–539, 2012.
- [99] W. Li and N. E. Baker, "Engulfment Is Required for Cell Competition," *Cell*, vol. 129, no. 6, pp. 1215–1225, 2007.
- [100] Y. Tamori and W. M. Deng, "Cell competition and its implications for development and cancer," *J. Genet. Genomics*, vol. 38, no. 10, pp. 483–495, 2011.
- [101] B. Mollereau, A. Perez-Garijo, A. Bergmann, M. Miura, O. Gerlitz, H. D. Ryoo, H. Steller, and G. Morata, "Compensatory proliferation and apoptosis-induced proliferation: a need for clarification," *Cell Death Differ*, vol. 20, no. 1, p. 181, Jan. 2013.
- [102] J.-P. Vincent, A. G. Fletcher, and L. A. Baena-Lopez, "Mechanisms and mechanics of cell competition in epithelia.," *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.*, vol. 14, no. 9, pp. 581– 91, 2013.
- [103] B. I. Shraiman, "Mechanical feedback as a possible regulator of tissue growth.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 102, no. 9, pp. 3318–3323, 2005.
- [104] E. M. Romain Levayer, Carole Dupont, "Tissue Crowding Induces Caspase-Dependent Competition for Space," *Curr. Biol.*, vol. 26, pp. 1–8, 2016.
- [105] J.-P. Vincent, A. G. Fletcher, and L. A. Baena-Lopez, "Mechanisms and mechanics of cell competition in epithelia.," *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.*, vol. 14, no. 9, pp. 581– 91, 2013.
- [106] G. Kroemer and J.-L. Perfettini, "Entosis, a key player in cancer cell competition.," *Cell Res.*, vol. 24, no. 11, pp. 1280–1, 2014.
- [107] B. Coste, B. Xiao, J. S. Santos, R. Syeda, J. Grandl, K. S. Spencer, S. E. Kim, M. Schmidt, J. Mathur, A. E. Dubin, M. Montal, and A. Patapoutian, "Piezo proteins are pore-forming subunits of mechanically activated channels.," *Nature*, vol. 483, no. 7388, pp. 176–81, 2012.
- [108] L. a Johnston, D. a Prober, B. a Edgar, R. N. Eisenman, and P. Gallant, "Drosophila myc regulates cellular growth during development.," *Cell*, vol. 98, no. 6, pp. 779– 90, 1999.
- [109] C. De La Cova, M. Abril, P. Bellosta, P. Gallant, and L. A. Johnston, "Drosophila myc regulates organ size by inducing cell competition," *Cell*, vol. 117, no. 1, pp. 107–116, 2004.
- [110] A. Albihn, J. I. Johnsen, and M. A. Henriksson, "MYC in oncogenesis and as a target for cancer therapies.," *Advances in cancer research*, vol. 107. pp. 163–224, 2010.

- [111] N. Meyer and L. Z. Penn, "Reflecting on 25 years with MYC.," Nat. Rev. Cancer, vol. 8, no. 12, pp. 976–990, 2008.
- [112] W. P. Tansey, "Mammalian MYC Proteins and Cancer," New J. Sci., vol. 2014, pp. 1–27, 2014.
- [113] B. G. Neel, W. S. Hayward, H. L. Robinson, J. Fang, and S. M. Astrin, "Avian leukosis virus-induced tumors have common proviral integration sites and synthesize discrete new RNAs: oncogenesis by promoter insertion," *Cell*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 323–334, 1981.
- [114] J. Erikson, D. A. Miller, O. J. Miller, P. W. Abcarian, R. M. Skurla, J. F. Mushinski, and C. M. Croce, "The c-myc oncogene is translocated to the involved chromosome 12 in mouse plasmacytoma," *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 82, no. 12, pp. 4212– 4216, 1985.
- [115] S. R. Hann and R. N. Eisenman, "Proteins encoded by the human c-myc oncogene: differential expression in neoplastic cells.," *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, vol. 4, no. 11, pp. 2486–2497, 1984.
- [116] M. Schwab, K. Alitalo, K. H. Klempnauer, H. E. Varmus, J. M. Bishop, F. Gilbert, G. Brodeur, M. Goldstein, and J. Trent, "Amplified DNA with limited homology to myc cellular oncogene is shared by human neuroblastoma cell lines and a neuroblastoma tumour.," *Nature*, vol. 305, no. 5931, pp. 245–248, 1983.
- [117] P. Donner, I. Greiser-Wilke, and K. Moelling, "Nuclear localization and DNA binding of the transforming gene product of avian myelocytomatosis virus," *Nature*, vol. 296, no. 5854, pp. 262–266, Mar. 1982.
- [118] S. R. Hann, "Role of post-translational modifications in regulating c-Myc proteolysis, transcriptional activity and biological function," *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, vol. 16, no. 4. pp. 288–302, 2006.
- [119] S. R. Hann, C. B. Thompson, and R. N. Eisenman, "c-myc oncogene protein synthesis is independent of the cell cycle in human and avian cells," *Nature*, vol. 314, no. 6009, pp. 366–369, 1985.
- [120] Z. Nie, G. Hu, G. Wei, K. Cui, A. Yamane, W. Resch, R. Wang, D. R. Green, L. Tessarollo, R. Casellas, K. Zhao, and D. Levens, "c-Myc Is a Universal Amplifier of Expressed Genes in Lymphocytes and Embryonic Stem Cells," *Cell*, vol. 151, no. 1, pp. 68–79, 2012.
- [121] D. Grifoni and P. Bellosta, "Drosophila Myc: A master regulator of cellular performance," *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Gene Regul. Mech.*, 2014.
- [122] a Trumpp, Y. Refaeli, T. Oskarsson, S. Gasser, M. Murphy, G. R. Martin, and J. M. Bishop, "c-Myc regulates mammalian body size by controlling cell number but not cell size.," *Nature*, vol. 414, no. 6865, pp. 768–773, 2001.
- [123] C. Benassayag, L. Montero, N. Colombié, P. Gallant, D. Cribbs, and D. Morello, "Human c-Myc isoforms differentially regulate cell growth and apoptosis in Drosophila melanogaster.," *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, vol. 25, no. 22, pp. 9897–909, 2005.
- [124] S. S. Grewal, L. Li, A. Orian, R. N. Eisenman, and B. a Edgar, "Myc-dependent regulation of ribosomal RNA synthesis during Drosophila development.," *Nat. Cell Biol.*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 295–302, 2005.
- [125] D. R. Wise, R. J. DeBerardinis, A. Mancuso, N. Sayed, X.-Y. Zhang, H. K. Pfeiffer, I. Nissim, E. Daikhin, M. Yudkoff, S. B. McMahon, and C. B. Thompson, "Myc regulates a transcriptional program that stimulates mitochondrial glutaminolysis and leads to glutamine addiction.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 105, pp. 18782– 18787, 2008.
- [126] L. Montero, N. Müller, and P. Gallant, "Induction of apoptosis by Drosophila myc," *Genesis*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 104–111, 2008.

- [127] J. M. Abrams, "Competition and compensation: Coupled to death in development and cancer," *Cell*, vol. 110, no. 4. pp. 403–406, 2002.
- [128] E. Moreno, "Is cell competition relevant to cancer?," *Nat. Rev. Cancer*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 141–147, 2008.
- [129] M. S. Patel, B. V Antala, and N. Shrivastava, "In silico screening of alleged miRNAs associated with cell competition: an emerging cellular event in cancer," *Mol. Cytogenet.*, vol. 7, no. Suppl 1, pp. P6–P6, Jan. 2014.
- [130] M. Ziosi, L. A. Baena-López, D. Grifoni, F. Froldi, A. Pession, F. Garoia, V. Trotta, P. Bellosta, S. Cavicchi, and A. Pession, "dMyc functions downstream of yorkie to promote the supercompetitive behavior of hippo pathway mutant Cells," *PLoS Genet.*, vol. 6, no. 9, 2010.
- [131] D. Bilder, M. Schober, and N. Perrimon, "Integrated activity of PDZ protein complexes regulates epithelial polarity.," *Nat. Cell Biol.*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 53–58, 2003.
- [132] F. Froldi, M. Ziosi, F. Garoia, A. Pession, N. a Grzeschik, P. Bellosta, D. Strand, H. E. Richardson, A. Pession, and D. Grifoni, "The lethal giant larvae tumour suppressor mutation requires dMyc oncoprotein to promote clonal malignancy.," *BMC Biol.*, vol. 8, p. 33, 2010.
- [133] A. M. Brumby and H. E. Richardson, "scribble mutants cooperate with oncogenic Ras or Notch to cause neoplastic overgrowth in Drosophila," *EMBO J.*, vol. 22, no. 21, pp. 5769–5779, 2003.
- [134] W. Xiao, J. Wang, C. Ou, Y. Zhang, L. Ma, W. Weng, Q. Pan, and F. Sun, "Mutual interaction between YAP and c-Myc is critical for carcinogenesis in liver cancer," *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, vol. 439, no. 2, pp. 167–172, 2013.
- [135] A. V. Pobbati and W. Hong, "Emerging roles of TEAD transcription factors and its coactivators in cancers," *Cancer Biology and Therapy*, vol. 14, no. 5. pp. 390–398, 2013.
- [136] C. Clavería, G. Giovinazzo, R. Sierra, and M. Torres, "Myc-driven endogenous cell competition in the early mammalian embryo.," *Nature*, vol. 500, no. 7460, pp. 39– 44, 2013.
- [137] M. Sancho, A. Di-Gregorio, N. George, S. Pozzi, J. Sànchez, B. Pernaute, and T. Rodròguez, "Competitive interactions eliminate unfit embryonic stem cells at the onset of differentiation," *Dev. Cell*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 19–30, 2013.
- [138] O. J. Sansom, V. S. Meniel, V. Muncan, T. J. Phesse, J. a Wilkins, K. R. Reed, J. K. Vass, D. Athineos, H. Clevers, and A. R. Clarke, "Myc deletion rescues Apc deficiency in the small intestine.," *Nature*, vol. 446, no. 7136, pp. 676–679, 2007.
- [139] H. Mamada, T. Sato, M. Ota, and H. Sasaki, "Cell competition in mouse NIH3T3 embryonic fibroblasts is controlled by the activity of Tead family proteins and Myc.," J. Cell Sci., vol. 128, no. 4, pp. 790–803, 2015.
- [140] N. E. Baker and W. Li, "Cell competition and its possible relation to cancer," *Cancer Research*, vol. 68, no. 14. pp. 5505–5507, 2008.
- [141] D. M. Tyler, W. Li, N. Zhuo, B. Pellock, and N. E. Baker, "Genes affecting cell competition in drosophila," *Genetics*, vol. 175, no. 2, pp. 643–657, 2007.
- [142] S. J. E. Suijkerbuijk, G. Kolahgar, I. Kucinski, and E. Piddini, "Cell Competition Drives the Growth of Intestinal Adenomas in Drosophila," *Curr. Biol.*, pp. 1–11, 2016.
- [143] T. Eichenlaub, S. M. Cohen, and H. Herranz, "Cell Competition Drives the Formation of Metastatic Tumors in a Drosophila Model of Epithelial Tumor Formation," *Curr. Biol.*, pp. 1–9, 2016.
- [144] P. V. Angadi, J. K. Savitha, S. S. Rao, and R. Y. Sivaranjini, "Oral field

cancerization: Current evidence and future perspectives," *Oral Maxillofac. Surg.*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 171–180, 2012.

- [145] L. Ballesteros-Arias, V. Saavedra, and G. Morata, "Cell competition may function either as tumour-suppressing or as tumour-stimulating factor in Drosophila.," *Oncogene*, no. August, pp. 1–8, 2013.
- [146] L. Bai and W.-G. Zhu, "p53 : Structure, Function and Therapeutic Applications," *J. Cancer Mol.*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 141–153, 2006.
- [147] D. P. Lane and L. V Crawford, "T antigen is bound to a host protein in SV40transformed cells.," *Nature*, vol. 278, pp. 261–263, 1979.
- [148] C. A. Finlay, P. W. Hinds, and A. J. Levine, "The p53 proto-oncogene can act as a suppressor of transformation," *Cell*, vol. 57, no. 7, pp. 1083–1093, 1989.
- [149] L. a Donehower, M. Harvey, B. L. Slagle, M. J. McArthur, C. a Montgomery, J. S. Butel, and a Bradley, "Mice deficient for p53 are developmentally normal but susceptible to spontaneous tumours.," *Nature*, vol. 356, no. 6366. pp. 215–221, 1992.
- [150] A. J. Levine and M. Oren, "The first 30 years of p53: growing ever more complex," *Nat. Rev. Cancer*, vol. 9, no. 10, pp. 749–758, 2009.
- [151] H. Schmale and C. Bamberger, "A novel protein with strong homology to the tumor suppressor p53.," *Oncogene*, vol. 15, no. 11, pp. 1363–1367, 1997.
- [152] V. Dötsch, F. Bernassola, D. Coutandin, E. Candi, and G. Melino, "p63 and p73, the ancestors of p53.," *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*, vol. 2, no. 9. 2010.
- [153] M. Isobe, B. S. Emanuel, D. Givol, M. Oren, and C. M. Croce, "Localization of gene for human p53 tumour antigen to band 17p13.," *Nature*, vol. 320, no. 6057, pp. 84–5, 1986.
- [154] P. Lamb and L. Crawford, "Characterization of the human p53 gene.," Mol. Cell. Biol., vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 1379–1385, 1986.
- [155] and C. P. Xinbin Chen, Linda J. Ko, Lata Jayaraman, "p53 levels, functional domains, and DNA damage determine the extent of the apoptotic response of tumor cells," *Genes Dev.*, vol. 10, no. 19, pp. 2438–51, 1996.
- [156] Y. Cho, S. Gorina, P. D. Jeffrey, and N. P. Pavletich, "Crystal structure of a p53 tumor suppressor-DNA complex: understanding tumorigenic mutations.," *Science*, vol. 265, no. 5170, pp. 346–355, 1994.
- [157] K. H. Vousden and X. Lu, "Live or let die: the cell's response to p53.," Nat. Rev. Cancer, vol. 2, no. 8, pp. 594–604, 2002.
- [158] J.-C. Marine, S. Francoz, M. Maetens, G. Wahl, F. Toledo, and G. Lozano, "Keeping p53 in check: essential and synergistic functions of Mdm2 and Mdm4," *Cell Death Differ*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 927–934, Mar. 2006.
- [159] J.-C. W. Marine, M. a Dyer, and A. G. Jochemsen, "MDMX: from bench to bedside.," *J. Cell Sci.*, vol. 120, no. Pt 3, pp. 371–378, 2007.
- [160] C. Prives and P. a Hall, "The p53 pathway.," *J. Pathol.*, vol. 187, pp. 112–126, 1999.
- [161] K. H. Vousden and C. Prives, "Blinded by the Light: The Growing Complexity of p53," *Cell*, vol. 137, no. 3. pp. 413–431, 2009.
- [162] G. Farmer, J. Bargonetti, H. Zhu, P. Friedman, R. Prywes, and C. Prives, "Wild-type p53 activates transcription in vitro," *Nature*, vol. 358, no. 6381, pp. 83–86, 1992.
- [163] Y. Deng, S. S. Chan, and S. Chang, "Telomere dysfunction and tumour suppression: the senescence connection.," *Nat. Rev. Cancer*, vol. 8, no. 6, pp. 450–458, 2008.
- [164] S. M. Lee, J. H. Kim, E. J. Cho, and H. D. Youn, "A nucleocytoplasmic malate dehydrogenase regulates p53 transcriptional activity in response to metabolic stress.," *Cell Death Differ.*, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 738–748, 2009.

- [165] C. W. Lee, L. L. Y. Wong, E. Y. T. Tse, H. F. Liu, V. Y. L. Leong, J. M. F. Lee, D. G. Hardie, I. O. L. Ng, and Y. P. Ching, "AMPK promotes p53 acetylation via phosphorylation and inactivation of SIRT1 in liver cancer cells," *Cancer Res.*, vol. 72, no. 17, pp. 4394–4404, 2012.
- [166] T.-H. Kim, P. Leslie, and Y. Zhang, "Ribosomal proteins as unrevealed caretakers for cellular stress and genomic instability.," *Oncotarget*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 860–71, 2014.
- [167] F. Kruiswijk, C. F. Labuschagne, and K. H. Vousden, "p53 in survival, death and metabolic health: a lifeguard with a licence to kill," *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, vol. 16, no. 7, pp. 393–405, 2015.
- [168] C. De La Cova, N. Senoo-Matsuda, M. Ziosi, D. C. Wu, P. Bellosta, C. M. Quinzii, and L. A. Johnston, "Supercompetitor status of drosophila Myc cells requires p53 as a Fitness sensor to reprogram metabolism and promote viability," *Cell Metab.*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 470–483, 2014.
- [169] O. Warburg, "On the Origin of Cancer Cells," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 123, no. 3191, pp. 309–314, Feb. 1956.
- [170] D. Menendez, M. Shatz, and M. a Resnick, "Interactions between the tumor suppressor p53 and immune responses.," *Curr. Opin. Oncol.*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 85– 92, 2013.
- [171] F. P. Li and J. F. Fraumeni, "Soft-tissue sarcomas, breast cancer, and other neoplasms. A familial syndrome?," *Ann. Intern. Med.*, vol. 71, no. 4, pp. 747–752, 1969.
- [172] F. P. Li and J. F. Fraumeni, "Rhabdomyosarcoma in children: epidemiologic study and identification of a familial cancer syndrome.," *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.*, vol. 43, pp. 1365–1373, 1969.
- [173] D. Malkin, F. P. Li, L. C. Strong, J. F. Fraumeni, C. E. Nelson, D. H. Kim, J. Kassel, M. A. Gryka, F. Z. Bischoff, and M. A. Tainsky, "Germ line p53 mutations in a familial syndrome of breast cancer, sarcomas, and other neoplasms.," *Science*, vol. 250, no. 4985, pp. 1233–8, 1990.
- [174] L. D. Attardi and T. Jacks, "The role of p53 in tumour suppression: Lessons from mouse models," *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, vol. 55, no. 1. pp. 48–63, 1999.
- [175] X. Lu, G. Magrane, C. Yin, D. N. Louis, J. Gray, and T. Van Dyke, "Selective inactivation of p53 facilitates mouse epithelial tumor progression without chromosomal instability," *Mol Cell Biol*, vol. 21, no. 17, pp. 6017–30., 2001.
- [176] G. B. Pierce and W. C. Speers, "Tumors as caricatures of the process of tissue renewal: Prospects for therapy by directing differentiation," *Cancer Research*, vol. 48, no. 8. pp. 1996–2004, 1988.
- [177] R. A. Weinberg, "Tumor suppressor genes," Science (80-. )., vol. 254, no. 5035, pp. 1138–1146, 1991.
- [178] W. a Freed-pastor and C. Prives, "Mutant p53 : one name , many proteins Mutant p53 : one name , many proteins," pp. 1268–1286, 2012.
- [179] A. C. Joerger and A. R. Fersht, "Structural Biology of the Tumor Suppressor p53 and Cancer-Associated Mutants," *Advances in Cancer Research*, vol. 97. pp. 1–23, 2007.
- [180] D. Esrig, C. H. Spruck, P. W. Nichols, B. Chaiwun, K. Steven, S. Groshen, S. C. Chen, D. G. Skinner, P. A. Jones, and R. J. Cote, "p53 nuclear protein accumulation correlates with mutations in the p53 gene, tumor grade, and stage in bladder cancer.," *Am. J. Pathol.*, vol. 143, no. 5, pp. 1389–97, 1993.
- [181] Y. Umekita, K. Kobayashi, T. Saheki, and H. Yoshida, "Nuclear accumulation of

p53 protein correlates with mutations in the p53 gene on archival paraffin-embedded tissues of human breast cancer.," *Jpn. J. Cancer Res.*, vol. 85, no. 8, pp. 825–830, 1994.

- [182] S. Bosari, G. Viale, M. Roncalli, D. Graziani, G. Borsani, a K. Lee, and G. Coggi, "P53 Gene Mutations, P53 Protein Accumulation and Compartmentalization in Colorectal Adenocarcinoma.," *Am. J. Pathol.*, vol. 147, no. 3, pp. 790–8, 1995.
- [183] W. M. Chan, W. Y. Siu, A. Lau, and R. Y. C. Poon, "How many mutant p53 molecules are needed to inactivate a tetramer?," *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, vol. 24, no. 8, pp. 3536–51, 2004.
- [184] J. Xu, J. Reumers, J. R. Couceiro, F. De Smet, R. Gallardo, S. Rudyak, A. Cornelis, J. Rozenski, A. Zwolinska, J.-C. Marine, D. Lambrechts, Y.-A. Suh, F. Rousseau, and J. Schymkowitz, "Gain of function of mutant p53 by coaggregation with multiple tumor suppressors.," *Nat. Chem. Biol.*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 285–295, 2011.
- [185] R. Brosh and V. Rotter, "When mutants gain new powers: news from the mutant p53 field.," *Nat. Rev. Cancer*, vol. 9, no. 10, pp. 701–713, 2009.
- [186] M. Oren and V. Rotter, "Mutant p53 gain-of-function in cancer.," *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*, vol. 2, no. 2. 2010.
- [187] A. Sigal and V. Rotter, "Oncogenic mutations of the p53 tumor suppressor: The demons of the guardian of the genome," *Cancer Research*, vol. 60, no. 24. pp. 6788–6793, 2000.
- [188] International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), "http://www.p53.iarc.fr."
- [189] D. Porcelli, M. Oliva, S. Duchi, D. Latorre, V. Cavaliere, P. Barsanti, G. Villani, G. Gargiulo, and C. Caggese, "Genetic, functional and evolutionary characterization of scox, the Drosophila melanogaster ortholog of the human SCO1 gene," *Mitochondrion*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 433–448, 2010.
- [190] Y. Tamori, C. U. Bialucha, A. G. Tian, M. Kajita, Y. C. Huang, M. Norman, N. Harrison, J. Poulton, K. Ivanovitch, L. Disch, T. Liu, W. M. Deng, and Y. Fujita, "Involvement of Lgl and mahjong/VprBP in cell competition," *PLoS Biol.*, vol. 8, no. 7, 2010.
- [191] K. F. Harvey, X. Zhang, and D. M. Thomas, "The Hippo pathway and human cancer," *Nat Rev Cancer*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 246–257, 2013.
- [192] B. D. Bunker, T. T. Nellimoottil, R. M. Boileau, A. K. Classen, and D. Bilder, "The transcriptional response to tumorigenic polarity loss in Drosophila," *Elife*, vol. 2015, no. 4, 2015.
- [193] P. Manfruelli, N. Arquier, W. P. Hanratty, and M. Sémériva, "The tumor suppressor gene, lethal(2)giant larvae (1(2)g1), is required for cell shape change of epithelial cells during Drosophila development.," *Development*, vol. 122, no. 7, pp. 2283–94, 1996.
- [194] B. M. Mechler, W. McGinnis, and W. J. Gehring, "Molecular cloning of lethal(2)giant larvae, a recessive oncogene of Drosophila melanogaster.," *EMBO J.*, vol. 4, no. 6, pp. 1551–1557, 1985.
- [195] F. Parisi, S. Riccardo, S. Zola, C. Lora, D. Grifoni, L. M. Brown, and P. Bellosta, "DMyc expression in the fat body affects DILP2 release and increases the expression of the fat desaturase Desat1 resulting in organismal growth," *Dev. Biol.*, vol. 379, no. 1, pp. 64–75, 2013.
- [196] S. B. McMahon, "MYC and the Control of Apoptosis," Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med., vol. 4, no. 7, Jul. 2014.
- [197] D. Vasudevan and H. Don Ryoo, "Regulation of Cell Death by IAPs and Their Antagonists," in *Current Topics in Developmental Biology*, vol. 114, 2015, pp. 185–208.

- [198] A. Dekanty, L. Barrio, M. Muzzopappa, H. Auer, and M. Milán, "Aneuploidyinduced delaminating cells drive tumorigenesis in Drosophila epithelia.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 109, no. 50, pp. 20549–54, 2012.
- [199] C. Sievers, F. Comoglio, M. Seimiya, G. Merdes, and R. Paro, "A deterministic analysis of genome integrity during neoplastic growth in drosophila," *PLoS One*, vol. 9, no. 2, 2014.
- [200] F. Bunz, C. Fauth, M. R. Speicher, A. Dutriaux, J. M. Sedivy, K. W. Kinzler, B. Vogelstein, and C. Lengauer, "Targeted inactivation of p53 in human cells does not result in aneuploidy," *Cancer Res.*, vol. 62, no. 4, pp. 1129–1133, 2002.
- [201] L. Barrio, A. Dekanty, and M. Milán, "MicroRNA-Mediated Regulation of Dp53 in the Drosophila Fat Body Contributes to Metabolic Adaptation to Nutrient Deprivation," *Cell Rep.*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 528–541, Jul. 2014.
- [202] D. W. Meek, "Tumour suppression by p53: a role for the DNA damage response?," *Nature reviews. Cancer*, vol. 9, no. 10. pp. 714–723, 2009.
- [203] F. Bunz, C. Fauth, M. R. Speicher, A. Dutriaux, J. M. Sedivy, K. W. Kinzler, B. Vogelstein, and C. Lengauer, "Targeted Inactivation of p53 in Human Cells Does Not Result in Aneuploidy Targeted Inactivation of p53 in Human Cells Does Not Result in Aneuploidy 1," pp. 1129–1133, 2002.
- [204] M. J. Huang, Y. chih Cheng, C. R. Liu, S. Lin, and H. E. Liu, "A small-molecule c-Myc inhibitor, 10058-F4, induces cell-cycle arrest, apoptosis, and myeloid differentiation of human acute myeloid leukemia," *Exp. Hematol.*, vol. 34, no. 11, pp. 1480–1489, 2006.
- [205] D. Grifoni and P. Bellosta, "Drosophila Myc: A master regulator of cellular performance," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Gene Regulatory Mechanisms*, 2014.
- [206] A. I. Penzo-Mèndez, Y. J. Chen, J. Li, E. S. Witze, and B. Z. Stanger, "Spontaneous cell competition in immortalized mammalian cell lines," *PLoS One*, vol. 10, no. 7, pp. 1–18, 2015.
- [207] Bate M. and Martinez Arias, *The Development of Drosophila melanogaster*. Laboratory press, 1993.
- [208] A. Garcia-Bellido and J. R. Merriam, "Parameters of the wing imaginal disc development ofDrosophila melanogaster," *Dev. Biol.*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 61–87, 1971.
- [209] G. Struhl and K. Basler, "Organizing activity of wingless protein in Drosophila," *Cell*, vol. 72, no. 4, pp. 527–540, 1993.